Identification of pathogenicity genes in *Phytophthora cinnamomi*

By

Anandi Reitmann

Submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements of the degree

Magister Scientiae

Faculty of Natural and Agricultural Sciences Department of Genetics University of Pretoria Pretoria

Under the supervision of

Dr. N van den Berg

Prof. DK Berger



Declaration

I, Anandi Reitmann, hereby declare that this dissertation, submitted to the University of Pretoria for the degree MSc Genetics, contains my own work, and that the content contained within this thesis has not been submitted to any other university or institution.

Anandi Reitmann November 2013

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my sincere gratitude and appreciation to the following people and organizations that enabled the completion of this project.

- My supervisors, Dr. Noelani van den Berg and Prof. Dave Berger for advising, guiding and mentoring me over the past three years.
- To the Hans Merensky Foundation, Westfalia and NRF THRIP Grant TP 2011060300010 for providing funding for this project. The Forestry and Agricultural Biotechnology Institute (FABI) and the University of Pretoria for the use of their facilities, equipment and offering a friendly work environment.
- Prof. Paul Birch for taking time to meet with me and discuss my project when he visited SA.
- Prof. Paul Birch, Remco Stam and Nannette Christie for their help with bioinformatic analysis.
- The National Research Foundation for providing the NRF Scarce Skill Development Fund bursary for the duration of this degree.
- Tuan Duong, René Sutherland, Juanita Engelbrecht and Elrea Appelgryn for trouble shooting with me, offering constant advice and friendship.
- My friends and family for lending a helping hand and always providing emotional support when needed.
- My parents for taking interest in my work, offering emotional support and financial assistance.
- My fellow students in the Fruit Tree Biotechnology Programme for help and assistance.

PREFACE

Phytophthora cinnamomi Rands is a pathogenic oomycete that causes devastation in many economically important crop- and forest industries. It is the causal agent of both root rot and stem cankers depending on the specific host interaction. As a soil born pathogen it is impossible to eradicate from invested areas and the application of phosphate is the only control strategy that proves helpful against *Phytophthora* disease. Farmers are experiencing increased pressure to decrease the application of pesticides and to move to organic farming practises. In the light of this, molecular knowledge of plant pathogen interactions will become increasingly valuable in the development of more durable control strategies. To enable successful manipulation of a plant-pathogen interaction, a deep understanding of both genes involved in pathogen infection and the host defence system is required.

Chapter 1 of this thesis is entitled 'Biology of the oomycete pathogen *Phytophthora cinnamomi* Rands'. This chapter provides background on the life cycle of *P. cinnamomi* and describes the host range, disease development as well as current control strategies used to combat this pathogen. A typical interaction between a biotrophic pathogen and its host is described to illustrate the evolutionary arms race between pathogen infection molecules and host defence receptors. Lastly, specific groups of genes that play critical roles during the infection process are discussed in more detail.

Chapter 2 reports on the identification of pathogenicity related genes from the first RNA-seq library of *P. cinnamomi*. An RNA-seq library was produced from cysts and germinating cysts of a high sporulating isolate of *P. cinnamomi* using the Illumina sequencing platform. Paired end reads were *de novo* assembled and unigenes annotated to the protein sequences in the NCBI non-redundant protein database, the Swiss protein database and the protein models in the genomes of *Phytophthora infestans* and *P. cinnamomi*. The dataset was searched for proteins previously implicated in pathogenicity in the literature and for the presence of conserved motifs defining the secretome and RXLR-motif containing proteins in the dataset. Each pathogenicity gene group and their role during infection are discussed in the light of current literature.

Chapter 3 evaluated the expression patterns of seven pathogenicity genes across the *in vitro* developmental phases of *P. cinnamomi*. The expression pattern of each gene across the mycelial, sporulating mycelial, zoospores and cyst and germinating cyst stages is discussed, with potential functional implications it has with regard to its role during infection.

Chapter 4 comments on the success of this project and includes recommendations and aspects that may be interesting for future investigation.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS:

ATP	Adenine triphosphate
α	Alpha
аа	Amino acid
RXLR	Amino acid sequence Arginine-any amino acid-Leucine-Arginine
LFLAK	Amino acid sequence Leucine-Phenylalanine-Leucine-Alanine-Lysine
N-terminal	Amino terminal
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
Та	Annealing temperature
ABC transporter	ATP-binding cassette transporter
avr	Avirulence
bp	Base pairs
BGI	Beijing Genomics Institute
В	Beta
CaCO ₃	Calcium carbonate
СВ	Carbohydrate binding
C-terminal	Carboxyl terminal
CWDE	Cell wall degrading enzyme
CBEL	Cellulose binding elicitor lectin
cm	Centimeter
COG	Clusters of orthologous groups
CDS	Coding DNA sequence
R²	Coefficient of determination
cDNA	Complementary DNA
С	Contig
СМА	Cornmeal agar
CRN	Crinkling and necrosis-inducing
Ct	Cycle threshold
С°	Degree Celcius
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
dNTPs	Deoxyribonucleotide triphosphate
ETS	Effector triggered susceptibility
ETI	Effector-triggered immunity
ELI	Elicitin
ELL	Elicitin-like
et al.	Et alia meaning 'and others'
etc.	Et cetera meaning 'and so forth'
e.g.	Example
E-value	Expect value
EST	Expressed sequence tags
CBM1	Family 1 carbohydrate binding molecules
FU	Fluorescent units
GO	Gene ontology
M-Value	Gene stability value

GMO	Genetically modified organisms			
G	Gigabyte			
GAPDH	Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase			
g	Gram			
G-proteins	Guanosine nucleotide-binding proteins			
СТАВ	Hexadecyltrimethylammonium bromide			
HMM	Hidden Markov Models			
hpi	Hours post inoculation			
HR	Hypersensitive response			
ID	Identity			
ITS	Internal transcribed spacer			
JGI	Joint Genome Institute			
KEGG	Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes			
LPV3	Large peripheral vesicle 3 gene			
<	Less than			
L	Litre			
MgCl ₂	Magnesium chloride			
mRNA	Messenger RNA			
Μ	Methione			
miRNA	Micro RNA			
μg	Microgram			
μΙ	Microlitre			
μm	Micrometer			
μM	Micromolar			
mg	Milligram			
ml	Millilitre			
mm	Millimeter			
mM	Millimolar			
min	Minute			
MAP kinase	mitogen-activated protein kinase			
mRFP	Monomeric red fluorescent protein			
>	More than			
ng	Nanogram			
NCBI	National Centre for Biotechnology Information			
Nr	NCBI non-redundant protein database			
NPP1	Necrosis-inducing Phytophthora protein 1			
NIP	Necrosis-inducing protein			
nt	Nucleotide			
ORF	Open reading frame			
OD	Optical density or absorbance			
PTI	PAMP-triggered immunity			
PAMP	Pathogen-associated molecular patterns			
%	Percentage			
GC content	Percentage guanine and cytocine nucleotides in a sequence			
Pc	Phytophthora cinnamomi			
Pi	Phytophthora infestans			

PsAvh	Phytophthora sojae avirulence homologue
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction
PDA	Potato dextrose agar
dT-primers	Primer sequence consisting of deoxythymine nucleotides
RT-qPCR	Quantitative reverse transcriptase PCR
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RFU	Relative fluorescence units
R-protein	Resistance protein
rpm	Revolutions per minute
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
rRNA	Ribosomal RNA
RIN	RNA integrity number
RNA-seq	RNA sequencing
sec	Second
SP	Signal peptide
SNE	Suppressor of necrosis
SNEL	Suppressor of necrosis 1-like
Swiss	Swiss protein database
THRIP	Technology and Human Rescources for Industry Programme
i.e.	That is
3D	Three dimensional
EF-1α	Translation elongation factor 1 alpha
Ubc	Ubiquitin- conjugated enzyme
N	Unassigned nucleotide
U	Unigene
V8	Vegetable juice

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Declaration	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
PREFACE	iv
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS:	vi
TABLE OF CONTENTS	ix
CHAPTER 1. Biology of the oomycete pathogen Phytophthora cinnamomi Ranc	ls 1
INTRODUCTION	2
BIOLOGY OF PHYTOPHTHORA CINNAMOMI	3
Phylogeny and identification	3
Culture morphology	4
Life cycle of <i>P. cinnamomi</i>	4
Trophic lifestyle	5
PHYTOPHTHORA CINNAMOMI DISEASE DEVELOPMENT AND CONTROL	5
Host range and distribution of <i>P. cinnamomi</i>	5
Population structure of <i>P. cinnamomi</i> within South Africa	6
Disease symptoms	6
Spread of P. cinnamomi	7
Control of <i>P. cinnamomi</i>	7
Biological control	8
Chemical control	8
Other control strategies	9
OOMYCETE GENOMIC- AND TRANSCRIPTOMIC RESOURCES	9
PLANT - BIOTROPH INTERACTION: PTI AND ETI	11
OOMYCETE PATHOGENICITY FACTORS	12
Cell wall degrading enzymes	12
Proteins involved in transport, detoxification and protection against ROS	13

Proteins involved in signal transduction and communication	13
Effector molecules	14
Apoplastic effector molecules	14
Cytoplasmic effector molecules	16
CONCLUSION	18
TABLES	19
FIGURES	
References	30
CHAPTER 2. RNA-seq analysis of cysts and germinating cysts of <i>Ph</i> cinnamomi.	ytophthora
ABSTRACT	
INTRODUCTION	
MATERIALS AND METHODS	51
Identification and culturing of <i>P. cinnamomi</i> isolates	51
Screening of the sporulation ability of <i>P. cinnamomi</i> isolates	52
Evaluation of the growth of isolate CNVDB1 and CNVDB29 on different media temperatures	a at different
Statistical analysis	53
Enrichment for germinating cysts	53
RNA extraction and quality assessment	53
Sequencing and cDNA library assembly	54
Functional annotation	54
RESULTS	55
Screening of the sporulation ability of <i>P. cinnamomi</i> isolates	55
Characterization of isolate CNVDB1 and CNVDB29 in terms of growth	56
RNA extractions and quality assessment	56
Sequencing and assembly of the cyst and germinating cyst cDNA library of <i>P</i> .	. cinnamomi 57
Cyst and germinating cyst cDNA library annotation	57
Functional annotation based on protein sequence homology	57

Clusters of orthologous groups (COG) functional classification	59
Putative secreted proteins	59
Potential RXLR effector genes	60
Pathogenicity related genes identified from the cyst and germinating cyst cDNA <i>P. cinnamomi</i>	library of 60
Specific pathogenicity candidate genes	60
RXLR effector gene homology	61
DISCUSSION	62
CONCLUSION	
Acknowledgements	
TABLES	
FIGURES	
References	90
CHAPTER 3. Expression analysis of selected pathogenicity genes across the	e in vitro
life stages of Phytophthora cinnamomi	98
ABSTRACT	
ABSTRACT	99 100
ABSTRACT INTRODUCTION MATERIALS AND METHODS	99 100 102
ABSTRACT INTRODUCTION MATERIALS AND METHODS In vitro developmental stages of <i>P. cinnamomi</i>	99 100 102 102
ABSTRACT INTRODUCTION MATERIALS AND METHODS <i>In vitro</i> developmental stages of <i>P. cinnamomi</i> RNA extraction and cDNA synthesis	99 100 102 102 103
ABSTRACT INTRODUCTION MATERIALS AND METHODS <i>In vitro</i> developmental stages of <i>P. cinnamomi</i> RNA extraction and cDNA synthesis Selection of genes, primer design and evaluation	99 100 102 102 103 104
ABSTRACT INTRODUCTION MATERIALS AND METHODS <i>In vitro</i> developmental stages of <i>P. cinnamomi</i> RNA extraction and cDNA synthesis Selection of genes, primer design and evaluation Gene expression profiling using RT-qPCR	99 100 102 102 103 104 105
ABSTRACT INTRODUCTION MATERIALS AND METHODS <i>In vitro</i> developmental stages of <i>P. cinnamomi</i> RNA extraction and cDNA synthesis Selection of genes, primer design and evaluation Gene expression profiling using RT-qPCR Statistical analysis	99 100 102 102 103 104 105 106
ABSTRACT INTRODUCTION MATERIALS AND METHODS <i>In vitro</i> developmental stages of <i>P. cinnamomi</i> RNA extraction and cDNA synthesis Selection of genes, primer design and evaluation Gene expression profiling using RT-qPCR Statistical analysis RESULTS	99 100 102 102 103 104 105 106 106
ABSTRACT INTRODUCTION MATERIALS AND METHODS <i>In vitro</i> developmental stages of <i>P. cinnamomi</i> RNA extraction and cDNA synthesis Selection of genes, primer design and evaluation Gene expression profiling using RT-qPCR Statistical analysis RESULTS RNA extraction and cDNA synthesis	99 100 102 102 103 104 105 106 106 106
ABSTRACT INTRODUCTION MATERIALS AND METHODS In vitro developmental stages of <i>P. cinnamomi</i> RNA extraction and cDNA synthesis Selection of genes, primer design and evaluation Gene expression profiling using RT-qPCR Statistical analysis RESULTS RNA extraction and cDNA synthesis. RNA extraction and cDNA synthesis. Real-time RT-qPCR primer efficiency and specificity	99 100 102 102 103 103 106 106 106 106
ABSTRACT INTRODUCTION MATERIALS AND METHODS <i>In vitro</i> developmental stages of <i>P. cinnamomi</i> RNA extraction and cDNA synthesis Selection of genes, primer design and evaluation Gene expression profiling using RT-qPCR Statistical analysis RESULTS RNA extraction and cDNA synthesis RNA extraction and cDNA synthesis Real-time RT-qPCR primer efficiency and specificity Selection of candidate pathogenicity genes	99 100 102 102 103 103 106 106 106 106 106
ABSTRACT INTRODUCTION MATERIALS AND METHODS In vitro developmental stages of <i>P. cinnamomi</i> RNA extraction and cDNA synthesis Selection of genes, primer design and evaluation Gene expression profiling using RT-qPCR Statistical analysis RESULTS RNA extraction and cDNA synthesis Real-time RT-qPCR primer efficiency and specificity Selection of candidate pathogenicity genes Primer efficiency and specificity	99 100 102 102 103 103 105 106 106 106 106 107

Assessing the expression stability of candidate endogenous control genes	107
Gene expression profiling of target pathogenicity genes	108
Putative alternative splicing	109
DISCUSSION	109
CONCLUSION	115
Acknowledgements	115
TABLES	116
FIGURES	122
References	138
CHAPTER 4. General discussion	.143
DISCUSSION	.144
References	.148

CHAPTER 1

Biology of the oomycete pathogen *Phytophthora cinnamomi* Rands

INTRODUCTION

The class oomycota contains many devastating pathogens affecting crops, forest trees, native vegetation and ornamental plant species, as well as various animal species. The most renown is *Phytophthora infestans* (Mont.) de Bary which was responsible for the great potato famine in Scotland in 1846. *Phytophthora ramorum* Werres, De Cock & Man in't Veld caused the sudden oak death epidemic in California and Europe (Rizzo et al. 2005) and *Saprolegnia parasitica* Coker is the main pathogen on fresh water fish (salmon and trout) (van West 2006; Phillips et al. 2008). *Phytophthora cinnamomi* Rands is part of this group of destructive pathogens and is able to infect more than 3 000 plant species (Hardham 2005).

Phytophthora cinnamomi was first described by RD Rands in 1922 when it was isolated from cinnamon trees in Sumatra (Rands 1922). Since then it attracted much attention due to the devastating effects is has on natural ecosystems, biodiversity, forestry and agriculture by causing root rot disease and stem cankers. *Phytophthora cinnamomi* is thought to originate from Papua New Guinea (Zentmyer 1988; Hardham 2005), but now has a worldwide distribution affecting the Southern part of Australia, Europe, South Africa, Mexico, Hawaii and the USA (Cahill et al. 2008).

The natural host range of *P. cinnamomi* includes many economically important crops and forest trees such as avocado, pineapple, peach, chestnut, macadamia, oak, pine and eucalyptus (Zentmyer 1980). The economic impact due to *Phytophthora* disease not only includes losses in crop yield and decrease in product quality and value, but large amounts of money are spent annually on control measures (Hardham 2005). Except for the use of phosphite injections (Darvas et al. 1984; Shearer and Fairman 2007; Akinsanmi and Drenth 2013), few other control strategies prove effective against this soil-borne pathogen. A better understanding of the molecular basis that is responsible for a susceptible or resistant host interaction is required to develop more targeted control strategies.

Genome and transcriptome analysis of various pathogenic oomycete species lead to the identification of several gene groups that function in pathogenesis. Functional characterization of pathogenicity proteins is shedding light on the mechanisms employed by the pathogen to manipulate host systems during infection. This review provides background on *P. cinnamomi* biology and disease development and describes pathogenicity gene groups that make *Phytophthora* species successful pathogens.

BIOLOGY OF PHYTOPHTHORA CINNAMOMI

Phylogeny and identification

Oomycetes were originally classified as fungi by taxonomists, based mainly on morphological characteristics (sporangium type, antheridium type etc.) and culture characteristics (optimal growth temperature, culture morphology, host range etc.) (Kroon et al. 2012). DNA sequence analysis of the small subunit rRNA showed that oomycetes form a single monophyletic group, more closely related to chrysophytes and diatoms than to fungi (Förster et al. 1990). Today oomycetes are known to differ from fungi in various physical and biochemical ways (Latijnhouwers et al. 2003; Hardham 2005). This includes differences in cell wall composition (cellulose instead of chitin), the presence of non-septate hyphae, the production of wall-less, motile zoospores, the composition of the flagellar apparatus and the structure of the mitochondrial cristae. Further, oomycetes lack the ability to synthesize sterols, only completes meioses directly prior to gametogenesis and differ from fungi in the lysine biosynthesis pathway.

The *Phytophthora* genus is classified under the kingdom Chromista (phylum: oomycota) within the family Peronosporaceae (Hardham 2005). *Phytophthora* is divided into eight clades based on DNA sequence analysis of seven gene regions (Blair et al. 2008) (Figure 1). *Phytophthora cinnamomi* forms part of clade seven (containing 13 species) together with *Phytophthora sojae* Kaufm. & Gerd. All members of clade seven produce non-papillate sporangia and are mostly root pathogens (Kroon et al. 2012). *Phytophthora infestans* belongs to clade one.

Besides identification of *P. cinnamomi* through DNA sequence analysis of the *ITS* gene region, Kong et al. (2003) developed a PCR based method to rapidly detect and identify *P. cinnamomi*. This approach employs primers directed to the large peripheral vesicle 3 (*LPV3*) gene that encodes a putative storage protein in zoospores. The primer pair amplified the *LPV3* gene region (450 bp in size) with insignificant cross-amplification in 102 isolates from 30 other *Phytophthora* species, 17 isolates from nine *Pythium* spp. and 43 isolates from other water moulds, bacteria and true fungi. In cases where cross-amplification was observed, the primers either produced a different size PCR product or the species had a host range unlikely to overlap with that of *P. cinnamomi*.

Culture morphology

Phytophthora cinnamomi can be cultured on a vast range of nutritional media in the laboratory. Media routinely used to culture *P. cinnamomi* include vegetable juice agar, pea agar, potato dextrose agar and cornmeal agar (Chen and Zentmyer 1970; Zentmyer et al. 1976). On ½ potato dextrose agar, *P. cinnamomi* grows in a rosette pattern (Figure 2A), white to slight yellowish-brown in colour, while it may have an indefinite, radial or coralloid pattern on other nutritional media (Gerrettson-Cornell 1989). Isolates of different mating types show differences in growth rate and cardinal temperatures, with A1 mating type having a higher optimum temperature than mating type A2, though A2 isolates grow faster than A1 isolates on minimal media (Shepherd et al. 1974; Zentmyer et al. 1976). In general, however, cardinal temperatures of *P. cinnamomi* are a minimum of 4-16 °C, optimal 20-32.5 °C and a maximum of 30-36 °C (Zentmyer et al. 1976; Gerrettson-Cornell 1989).

Mycelia have aseptate hypae (Latijnhouwers et al. 2003; Hardham 2005), with frequent irregular shaped hyphal swellings, giving it a coral appearance (Figure 2B). Chlamydospores are present in clumps or as single spores and when mycelia is flooded, almost spherical sporangia (on average 48-75 x 31-46 μ m) are produced (Gerrettson-Cornell 1989).

Life cycle of *P. cinnamomi*

Phytophthora cinnamomi is a heterothallic, diploid organism that produces zoospores either through sexual reproduction (through oogonium and antheridium) or through asexual reproduction (by clonal propagation) (Hardham 2005). It is interesting that *P. cinnamomi* mostly reproduces asexually even in the presence of both A1 and A2 mating types (Hardham 2005).

Phytophthora cinnamomi persists in soil or infected plant material for extended periods of time (Zentmyer and Mircetich 1966) until conditions are favourable for growth. In moist and cold conditions chlamydospores, hyphae (asexual) or oogonia (sexual structures) develop sporangia that, through cytoplasmic cleavage, produces 20 to 30 uninucleate, wall-less, biflagellate zoospores (Hardham 2005) (Figure 3). Motile zoospores are most often the agent of infection as they can locate living host tissue by following chemotactic and electrotactic signals (Zentmyer 1961). Recognition of host cell wall carbohydrate molecules initiates the transformation from a zoospore to a walled cyst (Irving and Grant 1984; Hardham and Suzaki 1986). Cysts stably adhere to the plant cell surface, germinate and penetrate host tissue through appresorium formation. In a susceptible host, sporangia are

produced from somatic hyphae on the root surface after two to three days (Hardham 2005). The asexual reproduction cycle repeats several times to rapidly increase the inoculum. Alternatively, sporangia formation is omitted during asexual reproduction and chlamydospores directly germinate to produce hyphae (Hardham 2005).

Host tissue colonization occurs through the spread of somatic hyphae that grow along the plant epidermal anticlinal cell walls with frequent intracellular penetration (Hardham 2001). A biotrophic structure (haustorium) develops, bringing the pathogen plasma membrane in close contact with the plant plasma membrane. This allows the exchange of molecules and nutrients between plant and pathogen (Figure 4).

Trophic lifestyle

Pathogens are divided into three trophic classes based on their manner of acquiring nutrients (troph = nutrition). Biotrophic pathogens infect and feed off living plant material, while necrotrophic pathogens have a saprophytic lifestyle (living off dead material). Pathogens that have sequential biotrophic- and a necrotrophic phases are classified as hemi-biotrophic organisms (Oliver and Ipcho 2004). As *P. cinnamomi* infects symptomless host tissue in front of the lesion margin, it is classified as a hemi-biotroph (Davison et al. 1994; Hüberli et al. 2000; Cahill et al. 2008). Infection of symptomless hosts, however suggest that it does not act as a necrotroph as no necrotic tissue is evident during colonization (Crone et al. 2012). Contrary to this, Shearer and Crane (2012) argues that *P. cinnamomi* have alternating biotrophic and necrotrophic phases (dependent on environmental conditions) and is not accurately described by either of the existing trophic classes. For the purposes of this review, *P. cinnamomi* is regarded as a hemi-biotroph.

PHYTOPHTHORA CINNAMOMI DISEASE DEVELOPMENT AND CONTROL

Host range and distribution of *P. cinnamomi*

Some pathogenic oomycetes are host-specific, marked by signs of co-evolution between host and pathogen, while others are able to infect thousands of species. *Phytophthora cinnamomi* is postulated to have a host range of more than 3 000 plant species (Hardham 2005). This includes various economic important species affecting forest trees and various

crop species worldwide (Table 1). *Phytophthora cinnamomi* infestation not only impacts on plant species of economic value, but also causes disease of indigenous flora in South Africa and Australia (Von Broembsen 1985; Crone et al. 2012). In South Africa, *P. cinnamomi* was reported on 130 different host species including grapevine, pine, eucalyptus, avocado, ornamental plants, fynbos and cultivated protea (the national flower of South Africa) (von Broembsen 1984). *Phytophthora cinnamomi* is regarded to have a nearly worldwide distribution (OEPP/EPPO 2004) reported in the southern part of the Australia, Europe, South Africa, Mexico, Hawaii, North-America, South-East Asia and New-Zealand (Cahill et al. 2008). The large host range of *P. cinnamomi* poses a serious threat to biodiversity as it has been reported in at least 15 of the 25 global biodiversity hotspots worldwide (Myers et al. 2000).

Population structure of P. cinnamomi within South Africa

The population structure of a pathogen within a confined area directly impacts on its potential to cause disease. A large, genetically diverse population is more versatile and in the presence of sexual reproduction, allows for high gene flow and high mutation rates, resulting in new variants that may overcome host immunity (McDonald and Linde 2002). The most recent population study of *P. cinnamomi* in South Africa, using isozymes, suggested a clonal population structure (Linde et al. 1997). This classifies *P. cinnamomi* as a low risk pathogen within South Africa according to the criteria stipulated in McDonald and Linde (2002). As this study was completed in 1997 it may not represent the current population diversity of *P. cinnamomi* within South Africa as new variants may have been introduced over the past 30 years.

Disease symptoms

Phytophthora cinnamomi is a versatile pathogen that is able to infect various plant organs resulting in root rot, stem cankers and dieback of young shoots on various hosts (OEPP/EPPO 2004; Hardham 2005) (Figure 5). As a root pathogen, *P. cinnamomi* infection causes progressive brown lesions starting at the tips of feeder roots of susceptible hosts. Excessive root loss leads to leaf yellowing, wilting and eventually tree death (OEPP/EPPO 2004). Stem cankers and root rot symptoms are visible on infected peach trees, marked by wood discolouration, stem lesions and tree gumming that subsequently results in wilting and tree death (Mircetich and Keil 1970).

Above ground disease symptoms only become apparent, once the infection progresses past the stage where control strategies will be effective. Host species that rapidly decline upon *P. cinnamomi* infection are used as indicator species to mark the presence of *P. cinnamomi* in infested areas, before above ground symptoms are visible in host species with slower disease progression. *Stylidium diuroides* (a native herbaceous perennial in Australia) serves as a good indicator for *P. cinnamomi*, as sudden wilting of this perennial, while surrounded by healthy plants, is observed at the end of winter in infested areas (Crone et al. 2012).

Phytophthora cinnamomi was isolated from annual and herbaceous perennial Australian plant species and native plants in South Africa without visible disease symptoms (Von Broembsen 1985; Crone et al. 2012). It is interesting that haustoria were observed during this symptomless colonization (Crone et al. 2012). Symptomless hosts can serve as a reservoir of *Phytophthora* inoculum enabling *Phytophthora* to infinitely persist in invested areas (Crone et al. 2012).

Spread of P. cinnamomi

Phytophthora cinnamomi chlamydospores are preserved in soil during dry periods between rainfall events (Zentmyer and Mircetich 1966; Jung et al. 2013). For extended dry periods, it persists in the form of selfed oospores, hyphal aggregations and encased hyphae in host and non-host tissue (Jung et al. 2013). As a soil-borne pathogen it is mainly spread through soil movement (e.g. stuck to the tires of vehicles), rain splash (Podger et al. 1965) and recirculation of invested irrigation water (Hong and Moorman 2005). *Phytophthora cinnamomi* zoospores are transported by flowing surface water up to 75 cm deep into soil just above lateritic soil types (Shea et al. 1983) and by root to root transmission of susceptible plant species (Hill et al. 1994). Feral pigs vector *P. cinnamomi* by ingesting infected plant material (a portion of *P. cinnamomi* remains viable in the digestive tract) or by transporting infested soil collected by their rooting activities (Krull et al. 2013; Li et al. 2013).

Control of P. cinnamomi

To date there is no means to eradicate this soil-borne pathogen from invested areas. Many pathogens are controlled by frequent crop rotation on infested land (Curl 1963), but the large host range associated with *P. cinnamomi* and its ability to persist in soil for years (Zentmyer and Mircetich 1966) does not make this a viable option (Mbaka 2011). Fires may decrease *P. cinnamomi* inoculum by decreasing available susceptible host species, but does not seem

to have an effect on pathogen survival (Podger 1990; Moore et al. 2007). Despite this, there are some biological and chemical control measures available to manage *P. cinnamomi*.

Biological control

Biological control refers to the deliberate, controlled establishment or enhancement of organism populations within diseased and invested areas that have an antagonistic effect on a target pathogen, without having adverse effects on the specified ecosystem. In the case of a soil-borne pathogen, such as *P. cinnamomi*, farmers commonly make use of mulches (a combination of compost and soil) (Richter et al. 2011) that enhance natural endophyte populations within soil. Endophytes are endosymbionts that live inside plant tissue without having an apparent adverse effect on the host. Endophytes act as biological control agents by priming the host immune system, leading to a more rapid defence reaction in the case of pathogen attack (Van Wees et al. 2008). The secretion of extracellular hydrolytic enzymes (such as cellulase) into the rhizosphere by endophytes have an antagonistic effect on pathogens by targeting, for example, the Phytophthora cell wall (Downer et al. 2002). Various microorganisms have been evaluated for their ability to act as bio-control agents against P. cinnamomi. Trichoderma showed potential as a bio-control agent as it inhibited the growth of various Phytophthora species (P. cinnamomi, Phytophthora cactorum (Lebert and Cohn) J. Schröt., Phytophthora palmivora (E.J. Butler) E.J. Butler and Phytophthora capsici Leonian) in culture and decreased root rot symptoms resulting from Phytophthora infection (Smith et al. 1990; McLeod et al. 1995; Sid Ahmed et al. 1999; Mpika et al. 2009). Other potential bio-control agents enhanced host growth, while suppressing the growth of P. cinnamomi. This included Penicillium funiculosum, Gliocladium spp. and Chaetomium globosu (Drenth and Guest 2004). Despite the identification of parasitic endophytes on Phytophthora species, the use of bio-control for a soil pathogen is complicated by the difficulty to establish and maintain endophyte populations.

Chemical control

Many crop and forest pathogens are controlled by the application of fungicides. Differences in the biological nature of oomycetes and fungi, make *Phytophthora* species insensitive to many conventional fungicides (Latijnhouwers et al. 2003). Chitinase synthase inhibitors (e.g. fungicides Nikkomycin and Polyoxin D) are effective against fungi as chitin is the main component of fungal cell walls. The cell walls of oomycetes are primarily constituted of cellulose and are not affected by these fungicides. The chemical metalaxyl targets RNA polymerases (Latijnhouwers et al. 2003) and have been shown to be effective against some

Phytophthora species on crops (Erwin and Ribeiro 1996). A study by Dustan et al. (2010), however, found these fungicides ineffective against *P. cinnamomi* in a field trial.

Phosphite injections seem to be the only effective chemical control strategy against *P. cinnamomi* to date, proving to be effective in *Persea americana* (Darvas et al. 1984), *Eucalyptus marginata, Banksia* species (Shearer and Fairman 2007) and *Macadamia* species (Eshraghi et al. 2011; Akinsanmi and Drenth 2013). Phosphite reduces zoospore production (Wilkinson et al. 2001) and leads to deformed hyphae by inhibiting cell wall synthesis and influencing the cytoskeletal sytem of *P. cinnamomi* (King et al. 2010). Phosphite simultaneously primes the host (as seen in *Arabidopsis thaliana*), leading to a quicker, more intense defence response (Eshraghi et al. 2011; Massoud et al. 2012). As the threshold phosphite concentration needed to contain *P. cinnamomi*, while avoiding adverse effects on host species, varies between plant species (Tynan et al. 2001), the application of phosphite to areas containing various natural plant species is not feasible (Dunstan et al. 2010). Research into alternative control agents continues. Farmers, however, experience increased pressure from the global market to move away from chemical pest control and employ organic farming practices.

Other control strategies

An integrated approach proved successful in preventing and even eradicating *P. cinnamomi* from three tested plots, containing native plant species in Australia (Dunstan et al. 2010). This approach involved susceptible host species destruction, application of fungicides and fumigants and the construction of physical root barriers (Dunstan et al. 2010). Other control strategies focus on spread prevention rather than pathogen eradication. Heat treatment of recirculating irrigation water (Hao et al. 2012), vehicle washing and road side sanitation decreases the probability of spreading *P. cinnamomi* to uninvested areas (Goheen et al. 2012). Some industries, such as avocado production, strongly rely on tolerant rootstocks, allowing sufficient fruit production in the presence of *P. cinnamomi* (Smith et al. 2010). In the future, the commercial crop and forest industries will likely move to clonal, genetically modified organisms (GMO) that offer faster development of controlled, more durable resistance to selected pathogens.

OOMYCETE GENOMIC- AND TRANSCRIPTOMIC RESOURCES

In theory, to conserve energy genes are only transcribed into mRNA when their functional products are required by the organism. Therefore, identification of transcripts present in a specific tissue, developmental stage or in response to a specific treatment provides insight into the molecular functioning of the organism under these controlled conditions. In a similar way the transcriptome of specialized developmental structures (with specific biological functions) are expected to be enriched in transcripts enabling that function. Genes associated with pathogenicity, for example, are enriched in pathogen infection structures (germinating cysts) (Ye et al. 2011).

For the past 25 years sequence technology has been applied to transcriptome analysis of various organisms (Gill and Sanseau 2000). Labour intensive procedures (involving cloning and sequencing of cDNA transcripts) allowed the investigation of a few thousand expressed sequence tags (ESTs) in the past (Qutob et al. 2000; Skalamera et al. 2004; Panabières et al. 2005; Krajaejun et al. 2011). Microarray analysis (used since the late 1990s) was the first tool enabling the study of gene expression on a large scale (Leroy and Raoult 2010). One of the disadvantages of this technology is that gene specific probe design is dependent on the availability of genomic sequence data (Wang et al. 2009), which is still lacking for many nonmodel organisms. Today, RNA-seg analysis is steadily replacing microarray technology in many application (Strickler et al. 2012). As opposed to a hybridization based approach (e.g. microarray), RNA-seq provides researchers with the actual sequence of transcripts, not limiting analysis to known genomic sequence, and allowing detection of novel transcripts, alternative spliced variants and single nucleotide polymorphisms (Wang et al. 2009; Strickler et al. 2012). RNA-seq is far superior to microarray technology with respect to its ability to quantify transcript abundance, allowing the identification of almost all transcripts present in a biological sample (Strickler et al. 2012). The increasing availability of genomic data, for both model and non-model organisms, aids in the correct assembly and annotation of transcripts.

Genomic and transcriptomic data have been generated for various oomycete species (Table 2). Previously, pathogenicity related transcripts were identified by transcriptional analysis of the *in vitro* pre-infection structure (germinating cysts) (Shan et al. 2004a; Grenville-Briggs et al. 2005; Guo et al. 2006; Chen et al. 2011). This approach eliminated the problem of low recovery of pathogen derived transcripts previously reported within cDNA libraries of infected plant material (Beyer et al. 2001; Chen et al. 2011). The increased depth provided by RNA-seq technology, as well as the availability of the genomes of various oomycete- and host species, now enable *in planta* transcriptional analysis of both pathogen and host as sequences can be separated using bioinformatic tools (Ye et al. 2011; Gyetvai et al. 2012).

PLANT - BIOTROPH INTERACTION: PTI AND ETI

Pathogens with an initial biotrophic phase, such as *P. cinnamomi*, need to successfully infect living, reactive hosts. This requires the pathogen to effectively surpass several lines of host defence. The plant defence system includes physical barriers, PAMP-triggered immunity (PTI) and effector-triggered immunity (ETI). The current accepted model for plant-pathogen interaction is the four phased zig-zag hypothesis proposed by Jones and Dangl (2006) that illustrates the continuous interaction between pathogen molecules and the host immune system (Figure 6).

Pathogen- or microbe associated molecular patterns (PAMP or MAMPs) are pathogen derived molecules that are recognised by host pathogen recognition receptors (PRRs) during a plant-pathogen (or microbe) interaction (Tsuda and Katagiri 2010). PAMPs are typically proteins exposed on the surface of pathogens and are usually conserved between microbes (Boller and Felix 2009) (e.g. flagellin proteins in bacterial flagella (Gómez-Gómez and Boller 2002)). PAMP recognition leads to the activation of a basal defence response, termed PTI (Jones and Dangl 2006; Tsuda and Katagiri 2010). The basal defence response aims to restrict pathogen invasion by strengthening physical barriers (tylose and lignin deposition) (Rookes et al. 2008) and creating a non-favourable environment for the pathogen. This involves the activation of many defence related genes via the mitogenactivated protein (MAP) kinase cascade, the secretion of toxic reactive oxygen species (ROS) and activation of hormonal defence pathways (e.g. salicylic acid, jasmonic acid and ethylene) (Tsuda and Katagiri 2010). Programmed localized cell death is often observed in the area of infection aiming to confine biotrophic pathogens that require living tissue to colonize (Jones and Dangl 2006). This is termed the hypersensitive response (HR).

A successful pathogen protects itself from host defence molecules and actively attacks host defence responses by suppressing PTI (Jones and Dangl 2006). This is mediated by secreted cytoplasmic effector molecules and lead to effector-triggered susceptibility (ETS) (Jones and Dangl 2006; Tsuda and Katagiri 2010). Effector molecules are target specific and contribute to host susceptibility by manipulating host targets within (or outside) plant cells to increase pathogen virulence (Jones and Dangl 2006). Effector molecules are recognized by the corresponding host resistance protein (R protein) (Van Der Biezen and Jones 1998) and activates a second line of defence, called ETI. Effector-triggered immunity can also be activated indirectly by resistance proteins that detect changes in host defence-associated proteins due to the action of pathogen effectors. This indirect recognition was

coined the 'guard hypothesis" (Van Der Biezen and Jones 1998; Dangl and Jones 2001). Effector-triggered immunity involves a more intense, more prolonged and robust defence response than that of PTI (Tsuda and Katagiri 2010). Effectors that evade host detection can suppress ETI, resulting again in ETS. This constant battle between plant and pathogen drives the evolution of both pathogen effector proteins and host resistance proteins (Birch et al. 2006).

OOMYCETE PATHOGENICITY FACTORS

The process of plant infection requires pathogens to accomplish various tasks to successfully colonize hosts. A good pathogen can 1) locate a suitable host, 2) effectively penetrate and colonize the host tissue, 3) protect itself by suppressing host defence responses and counteracting the effect of host hydrolases and toxic compounds and 4) manipulate host physiology to its own benefit, while remaining undetected by the host surveillance system. The above processes are mediated by pathogenicity proteins that function at numerous locations and at different times during infection. Here, various pathogenicity gene groups will be discussed in the light of their role in pathogenicity (Figure 7).

Cell wall degrading enzymes

Pathogen entry is restricted by the plant cell wall, with additional callose, tylose- and lignin deposition in the area of pathogen detection in an attempt to restrict pathogen invasion (Cahill and McComb 1992; Benhamou and Nicole 1999; Rookes et al. 2008). The plant cell wall is primarily composed of cellulose, hemi-cellulose and pectin (Carpita and Gibeaut 1993), with the aerial plant organs covered by the plant cuticle. Plant pathogens possess a large repertoire of cell wall degrading enzymes (CWDEs) that break down the physical barriers (Have et al. 2002) and aid in tissue penetration and colonization. Polygalactorunase, which hydrolyses pectin, is one of the first enzymes secreted by plant pathogens during infection (Jones et al. 1972) and exposes other cell wall components to different CWDEs. Other CWDEs include cellulases (hydrolyzing the 1,4- β -D-glycosidic linkages in cellulose), glucanases and glucosidases (targeting glucose polymers, glucans and glycol-conjugates) and cutinase enzymes (that target cutin) (Have et al. 2002). It is interesting that both the cell walls of plants and *Phytophthora* species are rich in cellulose and β -1,6 glucans (Bartnicki-garcia and Wang 1987). It is therefore difficult to

attribute the presence of some CWDE to the breakdown of the host's physical barriers or to the biogenesis of the pathogen cell wall (Judelson et al. 2008).

Proteins involved in transport, detoxification and protection against ROS

The oxidative burst is a defence strategy employed by the host that creates a toxic environment for the pathogen. This rapid response involves the generation of ROS (especially superoxide, hydrogen peroxide and nitric oxide) that has a direct toxic effect on the pathogen, but also plays a role in defence signalling and activation of defence related gene expression (O'Brien et al. 2012). Pathogens (including oomycetes) possess several enzymes, involved in counteracting the effect of the oxidative burst by catalyzing the oxidation of free radicals to neutral compounds. Superoxide dismutase, for example, functions as an antioxidant by catalyzing the neutralization of superoxide to oxygen and hydrogen peroxide. Harmful xenobiotic substrates are neutralized by conjunction to the reduced form of glutathione, mediated by the enzyme glutathione s-transferase (Nebert and Vasiliou 2004) or by oxidation by cytochrome P450 enzymes (Črešnar and Petrič 2011).

Besides neutralizing harmful compounds, pathogens actively export toxins (produced by the host or externally introduced) as a survival strategy. The main group of proteins that export toxic compounds are ATP binding cassette (ABC) transporters (Dassa and Bouige 2001). ABC transporters are conserved in plants, fungi, bacteria and oomycetes (Bauer et al. 1999; Dassa and Bouige 2001; van den Brûle and Smart 2002; Torto-Alalibo et al. 2007) and function in pathogen protection and fungicide resistance (Del Sorbo et al. 2000).

Proteins involved in signal transduction and communication

Cell surface guanosine nucleotide-binding proteins (G-proteins) function in various cellular processes including growth, nutrient sensing, conidia formation, fertility, invasive growth, appresorium development and pathogenesis (Latijnhouwers et al. 2003; Li et al. 2007). G-proteins are plasma membrane bound receptors that perceive various extracellular signals and transmit them to intracellular signalling systems (Li et al. 2007; Xue et al. 2008). MAP kinases act downstream of G-proteins and play a fundamental role in the transduction of various intra- and extracellular signals. They are conserved in eukaryotes and function in numerous cellular processes including growth, differentiation and plant defence (Xu 2000; Meng and Zhang 2013). MAP kinases have previously been implicated in pathogenesis, hyphal colonization and appresoria formation in fungal pathogens (Xu 2000).

Effector molecules

The role of effector molecules in infection and virulence is well established (Kamoun 2006). Effector molecules were comprehensively defined by Hogenhout et al. (2009) as "pathogen proteins and small molecules that alter host-cell structure and function. These alterations either facilitate infection (virulence factors and toxins), or trigger defence responses (avirulence factors and elicitors) or both". Apoplastic effectors are secreted into intercellular spaces (the extra haustorial matrix), while cytoplasmic effectors are translocated into host cells where they act in the host cytoplasm or nucleus (Kamoun 2006).

Effector genes of *P. infestans* are predicted to reside in gene sparse, repeat rich regions of the genome, in contrast to housekeeping genes that are found in gene dense and repeat poor regions (Haas et al. 2009). In a similar way *P. sojae* effector genes are flanked by retrotransposons much more frequently than the average gene (R.H.Y.J. and Zody 2008). The repetitive nature of these regions makes them dynamic and more prone to events such as non-homologous recombination and tandem gene duplication and is proposed to drive avirulence gene evolution (Haas et al. 2009). The presence of avirulence gene duplication provides the opportunity for development, through single mutations, of new versions of the specific gene, capable of evading the host surveillance system. This is supported by the large amount of amino acid polymorphisms reported in effector genes that result from high rates of non-synonymous nucleotide substitution (Rehmany et al. 2005; Win et al. 2007).

Apoplastic effector molecules

Host degrading enzyme inhibitors

In the same way that *Phytophthora* secretes CWDE directed at the plant cell wall, the host plant releases enzymes that target invading pathogens. The effect of these enzymes is countered by enzyme inhibitors (Misas-Villamil and van der Hoorn 2008) that target specific host proteases and glucanases. Host degrading enzyme inhibitors reported in *Phytophthora* EST data include Kazal-like proteinase inhibitors (Panabières et al. 2005; Raffaele et al. 2010; Reena et al. 2010), Kazal-like serine protease inhibitors (Le Berre et al. 2008) and other protease inhibitors (Torto-Alalibo et al. 2007). EPIC1 and EPIC2 of *P. infestans* target the Rcr3 protease from tomato (Song et al. 2009), while the protease inhibitor EPI10, inhibit the Kazal-like serine protease of tomato (Tian et al. 2005).

Elicitins

Elicitin proteins are small extracellular proteins that are associated with infection because they induce a HR in certain plant species (Kamoun et al. 1993a; Kamoun et al. 1993b; Bonnet et al. 1996). Their exact role in infection remains unclear, but their ability to bind sterols and fatty acids (Vauthrin et al. 1999; Yousef et al. 2011) suggests that they are lipid-binding proteins. As *Phytophthora* species lack the ability to synthesize sterols (Latijnhouwers et al. 2003), elicitins may aid in acquiring sterols needed for physiological functions (Jiang et al. 2006). Based on the spacing of cysteine residues in the elicitin domain, this family of proteins is divided into 17 clades (Jiang et al. 2006). Elicitins from the same clade show similar expression patterns during infection. *Phytophthora infestans* elicitin INF1 is one of the first and best characterized elicitins and is used to define elicitin-like (ELLs) genes (genes that share the 98 amino acid elicitin domain of the INF1 elicitin). As INF1 is known to induce a HR in tobacco (Kamoun et al. 1998), it is regularly used to evaluate the ability of other proteins to suppress plant immunity (Bos et al. 2006; Gilroy et al. 2011; Yaeno et al. 2011; Cheng et al. 2012).

Pathogen adhesion

In order to establish host colonization, zoospores need to stably adhere to the host surface to germinate. Genes implicated in this process include cellulose binding and elicitor lectin (CBEL) proteins (Gaulin et al. 2002), mucin-like proteins (Torto-Alalibo et al. 2007) and adhesins (Robold and Hardham 2005). CBEL is part of the family 1 carbohydrate binding (CBM1) proteins, with the carbohydrate binding (CB) domain coupled to PAN/Apple modules (Larroque et al. 2012) facilitating binding to carbohydrate substrates and to other proteins (Tordai et al. 1999). The CB domain is recognized by the host surveillance system and leads to the activation of the HR (Séjalon-Delmas et al. 1997; Gaulin et al. 2006). Accordingly, CBEL is classified as a PAMP. Other molecules that aid in pathogen adhesion are adhesins (Robold and Hardham 2005) and mucins, present in an adhesive substance that is secreted by cysts (Gubler et al. 1989; Hardham and Gubler 1990). In this way CBEL, mucin- and adhesin- genes act as virulence factors, as they facilitate infection.

Necrosis-inducing proteins

Oomycetes, fungi and bacteria possess genes that encode necrosis-inducing proteins (NIP) (Fellbrich et al. 2002). NIPs induce host cell death as part of the infection strategy (Bae et al. 2006) in pathogens with a necrotrophic phase. In hemi-biotrophic pathogens, NIPs are thought to facilitate the switch between biotrophy and necrotrophy, as it is expressed during late infection in the *P. sojae*-soya bean interaction (Qutob et al. 2002; Ye et al. 2011). The

expression pattern of NIPs can therefore serve as a marker for the switch between biotrophy and necrotrophy (Kelley et al. 2010).

Cytoplasmic effector molecules

While apoplastic effector molecules act extracellularly, the target molecules of cytoplasmic effectors are inside host cells. Two main groups of cytoplasmic effectors are proposed namely the RXLR effector family and the Crinkling and necrosis-inducing (CRN) protein family.

RXLR effectors

RXLR effector genes have been identified in the genomes of all plant pathogenic oomycete species with a biotrophic phase (Table 3). This protein family is characterized by the presence of a conserved amino acid sequence RXLR (Arg-any amino acid-Leu-Arg) in its N-terminal, preceded by a signal peptide allowing its secretion, and a variable C-terminal domain (Stassen and Van den Ackerveken 2011) (Figure 8). The RXLR motif shows striking similarity to the host-targeting signal present in proteins of the malaria parasite *Plasmodium* (Rehmany et al. 2005) and was originally thought to be crucial for effector translocation into the host cytoplasm (Whisson et al. 2007). The role of the RXLR motif in effector translocation is currently under debate (Ellis and Dodds 2011). Another less conserved amino acid sequence of importance is the EER region (Glu-Glu-Arg) that sometimes follows the RXLR motif by about 30 amino acids towards the C-terminal (Grouffaud et al. 2010).

The variable C-terminal region of RXLR proteins show little sequence conservation between RXLR gene homologues (Win et al. 2007). This is believed to contain the effector domain (Win et al. 2007; Jiang et al. 2008), responsible for the vast range of functions performed by RXLR effectors. *Phytophthora infestans* effector AVRblb2 acts in the haustorial space and increases virulence by preventing the secretion of the host papain-like cysteine protease C14 into the apoplast (Bozkurt et al. 2011). Avr3a from *P. infestans* stabilizes host ubiquitin E3-ligase CMPG1 (Bos et al. 2010), thereby suppressing INF1-induced cell death (Bos et al. 2006).

RXLR proteins are recognized by the host surveillance system either directly (via interaction with plant resistance proteins) or indirectly (by detection of changes in host defence-associated proteins). *Phytophthora sojae* Avr1b is recognized by soya bean resistance protein Rps1b (Dou et al. 2008) and *P. infestans* Avr3a and Avr4 are recognized by potato resistance proteins R3a (Bos et al. 2006) and R4 (Van Poppel et al. 2009) respectively.

Adaptive effector evolution to avoid recognition by host resistance proteins is evident in differential recognition of proteins produced from different RXLR gene alleles. Two alleles of *Avr3a* of *P. infestans* exist, where one variant is recognized by potato resistance protein R3a, while the other is not (Armstrong et al. 2005). *Phytophthora sojae* RXLR effector Avr3a and Avr5 are allelic variants recognized by resistance proteins Rps3a and Rps5 in soya bean (Dong et al. 2011). As RXLR proteins directly interact with host resistance proteins, they can be utilized to identify novel plant resistance genes. Vleeshouwers et al. (2008) rapidly identified and cloned the resistance genes *Rpi-sto1* and *Rpi-pta1* of *Solanum stoloniferum* and *Solanum papita* respectively by using a candidate gene approach starting with computational prediction of *Avr* genes in the *P. infestans* genome (Vleeshouwers et al. 2008).

Comparison of the three dimensional (3D) structures of four oomycete effector proteins revealed the presence of a conserved structural fold formed by α -helical structures with loops of variable regions between helixes (Win et al. 2012). This conservation was significant as similarity was not evident at amino acid sequence level. Boutemy et al. (2011) suggest that the W-Y domains, previously discovered by Jiang et al. (2008) in the in the C-terminal of RXLR proteins, are critical for the formation of the helical structures constituting the conserved fold. Approximately 44 % of predicted RXLR genes in *Phytophthora* contain a W-Y motif in their C-terminals, with up to 11 W-Y domain repeats (Boutemy et al. 2011). The variable loop regions between α -helixes allow evolution and diversification of effector proteins without influencing this conserved 3D structure (Boutemy et al. 2011).

Crinkling and necrosis-inducing proteins

Crinkling and necrosis-inducing (CRN) proteins have been reported in many oomycete species including *P. infestans* (Haas et al. 2009), *Pythium ultimum* Trow (Lévesque et al. 2010), *P. sojae* and *P. ramorum* (Tyler et al. 2006). While the presence of RXLR effector genes is restricted to pathogens with a biotrophic phase, the CRN effector gene family is expanded in pathogens with a necrotrophic phase (Stam et al. 2013). CRN effectors harbour an N-terminal signal peptide followed by the characteristic LFLAK motif (Leu-Phe-Leu-Ala-Lys) (Win et al. 2007; Haas et al. 2009). CRN family members of *P. sojae* and *P. capsici* have been implicated in suppression of host defences (Liu et al. 2010; Chen et al. 2013). Analysis of *P. capsici* CRN effectors showed that few induce necrosis in plants (Stam et al. 2013). The localization of CRN effectors in the host nucleus and their regulated expression patterns suggest that they function during infection, even if not directly in pathogenesis (Stam et al. 2013).

CONCLUSION

Phytophthora cinnamomi is a destructive, wide host range, plant pathogen resulting in economic losses in crop and forest industries worldwide. Effective control of *P. cinnamomi* is yet to be achieved and until then *P. cinnamomi* will remain a threat to biodiversity and agriculture. The molecular basis for *P. cinnamomi*'s ability to successfully colonize such a large range of plant species is not known. Studies, employing genomic and transcriptomic tools to investigate disease development have proved valuable in other oomycete pathosystems and will be equally useful to investigate *P. cinnamomi* (with the first draft of the *P. cinnamomi* genome recently released). Various gene groups have been implicated in oomycete pathogenesis with most current pathogenesis related research focussing on effector proteins (especially RXLR cytoplasmic effectors). Ultimately, extensive knowledge of pathogen and host is required to start comprehending disease phenotypes and to exploit this knowledge for the development of better control strategies.

TABLES

Table 1. Economically important crops and forest trees affected by *Phytophthora cinnamomi*.

Host	Disease	Disease name	Reference
Forrest trees			
Pinus sylvestris	Root rot	-	(Chavarriaga et al. 2007)
Pinus echinata	Root rot	Little leaf disease	(Tainter 1997)
Pinus radiata	Wilting, root rot	-	(Butcher et al. 1984; von Broembsen 1984)
Pinus occidentalis	Root rot	Little leaf disease	(Jung and Dobler 2002)
Pinus (Other)		-	(von Broembsen 1984)
Eucalyptus marginata	Root rot	Phytophthora dieback	(Podger et al. 1965; Shea et al. 1983)
Eucalyptus grandis	Root rot	-	(von Broembsen 1984)
<i>Eucalyptus</i> (Other)		-	(von Broembsen 1984)
Quercus suber (Cork Oak)	Root rot	Sudden Oak death	(de Sampaio e Paiva Camilo-Alves et al. 2013)
Quercus rotundifolia (Holm Oak)	Root rot	Sudden Oak death	(de Sampaio e Paiva Camilo-Alves et al. 2013)
Crops			
<i>Vaccinium corymbosum</i> (Blueberry)	Root rot, crown rot	Phytophthora root rot	(Larach et al. 2009)
Castanea sativa (Chestnut)	Stem canker	Ink disease	Vannini and Vettraino 2001; Akilli et al. 2012)
Juglans regia (Walnut)	Root rot, crown rot	-	(Mircetich and Matheron 1983; Kurbetli 2013)
Prunus persica (Peach)	Root rot, stem canker	-	(Mircetich and Keil 1970)
Ananas comosus (Pine apple)	Heart rot	Heart rot	(Rohrbach 1985)
Persea americana (Avocado)	Root rot	Phytophthora root rot	(Wager 1942; Aveling and Rijkenberg 1986; Sepúlveda-Chavera
		-	et al. 2013)
Macadamia	Root rot, stem canker	Phytophthora trunk	(Mbaka 2011; Serfontein and Fourie 2011)
		canker	

Species	Clade*	Data type	Reference
Phytophthora cinnamomi	7	genome	Available, not published
Phytophthora infestans	1	EST, genome	(Kamoun et al. 1999; Grenville-Briggs et al. 2005; Randall et al. 2005; Guo et al. 2006; Judelson
			et al. 2008; Haas et al. 2009; Judelson et al. 2009; Henriquez and Daayf 2010; Gyetvai et al.
			2012)
Phytophthora sojae	7	EST, RNA-seq, genome	(Qutob et al. 2000; Tyler et al. 2006; Chen et al. 2007; Torto-Alalibo et al. 2007; Ye et al. 2011)
Phytophthora ramorum	8	genome	(Tyler et al. 2006)
Phytophthora parasitica	1	EST	(Shan et al. 2004b; Škalamera et al. 2004; Panabières et al. 2005; Natividade Targon et al.
(=Phytophthora nicotianae)			2007; Rosa et al. 2007; Le Berre et al. 2008)
Phytophthora capsici	2	EST, RNA-seq, genome	(Reena et al. 2010; Lamour et al. 2012; Chen et al. 2013)
Phytophthora cactorum	1	EST	(Chen et al. 2011)
Phytophthora colocasiae	-	EST	(Sharma et al. 2009)
Pseudoperonospora cubensis	NA	RNA-seq	(Savory et al. 2012)
Hyaloperonospora	NA	EST, genome	(Baxter et al. 2010; Cabral et al. 2011)
arabidopsidis			
Pythium ultimum	NA	EST, genome	(Cheung et al. 2008; Lévesque et al. 2010)
Pythium insidiosum	NA	EST	(Krajaejun et al. 2011)
Saprolegnia parasitica	NA	EST, genome	(Torto-Alalibo et al. 2005; Jiang et al. 2013)

 Table 2. Sequence data available for oomycete pathogens with a focus on infection related studies.

* Clades currently distinguished within the genus *Phytophthora* (Blair et al. 2008).

EST – Expressed sequence tags

Organism Number of predicted RXLR genes		Reference	Main Hosts	Trophic life style	
Hyaloperonaspora arabidopsidis	134	(Baxter et al. 2010)	Arabidopsis thaliana	Biotroph	
Phytophthora infestans	563	(Haas et al. 2009)	Potato	Hemi-biotroph	
Phytophthora sojae	396	(Jiang et al. 2008)	Soya bean	Hemi-biotroph	
Phytophthra ramorum	374	(Jiang et al. 2008)	Oak, multiple	Hemi-biotroph	
Phytophthora capsici	357	(Lamour et al. 2012)	Pepper and cucurbits	Hemi-biotroph	
Saprolegnia parasitica	0	(Jiang et al. 2013)	Amphibians,	NA	
			crustaceans, fish and insects		
Pithium ultimum	0	(Lévesque et al. 2010)	Multiple	Necrotroph	

FIGURES



Figure 1. Illustration of the clades currently distinguished within the genus *Phytophthora*. The relationship is depicted as reported in Blair et al. (2008). Sporangia: papillate (\bullet), semi-papillate (\circ), nonpapillate (\blacksquare), non- to semipapillate (\triangleright), a mixture of nonpapillate and semipapillate (\triangleright). Heterothallic species are marked as)(, homothallic species as (), and sterile species (i.e., oogonia unknown or rarely produced) as ‡. n.i. = nomen invalidum; n.n. = nomen nudum. Image obtained from Kroon et al. (2012).



Figure 2. *Phytophthora cinnamomi* culture morphology. A) The typical rosette pattern of *P. cinnamomi* on potato dextrose agar (PDA) B) *Phytophthora cinnamomi* mycelia with the presence of hyphal swellings.



Figure 3. The life cycle of *Phytophthora cinnamomi*. Sexual or asexual reproduction leads to the formation of sporangia from which uninucleate, biflagellate zoospores are release. Zoospores encyst once in contact with the plant surface and germinate in order to locate a suitable point of entry into the plant tissue. Host colonization occurs by the spread of somatic hyphae and increases the inoculum by frequent asexual reproduction. Image obtained from Hardham (2005).


Figure 4. Haustorium structure present in plant-biotrophic interactions. Haustoria are biotrophic feeding structures that forms by intracellular penetration of hyphae. A) Host colonization occurs through the spread of intercellular and intracellular hyphae (purple). Nutrients and effector molecules (purple squares) are secreted into the extra-haustorial space (between the haustorial membrane and the plant derived extra-haustorial membrane) and translocates into the host cell. B) Confocal microscopic image of transformed *Phytophthora infestans*, expressing green fluorescent protein (GFP) to mark the cytoplasm of hypae (green filter) during colonization of *Nicotiana benthamiana* leafs. Pihmp1 (P. *infestans* haustorial membrane protein 1) fused to monomeric red fluorescent protein (mRFP) is visible (red filter) in the haustorial plasma membrane. The arrow indicates a haustorium, while the arrow head shows an attempted point of entry, where a haustorium failed to develop. Images were obtained from Haldar et al. (2006) (A) and Avrova et al. (2008) (B). Scale bar 50 μm.

CHAPTER 1: Biology of the oomycete pathogen Phytophthora cinnamomi Rands



Figure 5. *Phytophthora cinnamomi* disease symptoms on various host species. A) *Eucalyptus marginata* dieback in the Jarrah forest in Australia B) A diseased macadamia tree with pale to yellow leafs and signs of stress C) Lesion in the trunk of an oak tree in France D) Phytophthora root rot on a susceptible *Persea americana* rootstock R0.12 E) Wood discolouration of the stem of Fraser fir (*Abies fraseri*) F) Dieback of Protea (*Proteaceae*) in California, US. Images were obtained from Akinsanmi and Drenth (2013) (B) and Engelbrecht et al. (2013) (D).

CHAPTER 1: Biology of the oomycete pathogen *Phytophthora cinnamomi* Rands



Figure 6. A plant-biotroph interaction illustrating the four phased zig-zag model for the interaction between the plant immune system and pathogen virulence/avirulence factors. This model was proposed by Jones and Dangl (2006). Recognition of pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) by pathogen recognition receptors (PRR) leads to the activation of a basal defence response termed PAMP-triggered immunity (PTI). Pathogens posses effector molecules that are able to interfere with the plant immune system and suppress PTI, resulting in effector-triggered susceptibility (ETS). Effector proteins are recognized by plant resistance proteins (R), resulting in a second defence response, effector-triggered immunity (ETI). Development of novel effector proteins overcomes ETI, again resulting in ETS. This continuous plant-pathogen interaction drives the development of novel effector variants able to evade host recognition and suppress ETI, in turn driving the evolution of plant resistance genes. Image obtained from Jones and Dangl (2006).

CHAPTER 1: Biology of the oomycete pathogen Phytophthora cinnamomi Rands



Figure 7. Catogories of pathogenicity genes involved in the molecular events of a plant-pathogen interaction. 1) Invasion: Proteins that aid in pathogen adhesion and cell wall degrading enzymes (CWDE) are critical to ensure host tissue penetration and colonization. 2) Attack: Effector molecules manipulate host physiology and suppress plant defence responses. Some effectors elicit host defence responses if recognized by the host surveillance system. 3) Defence: Mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinases aid in signal transduction and communication to enable a rapid response to the host defence strategies. Proteins involved in metabolite transport, detoxification, protection against reactive oxygen species (ROS) and protease inhibitors help to protect the pathogen from host attack. PAMP-triggered immunity (PTI) is a basal defence response resulting from host recognition of pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) by pathogen recognition receptors (PRRs), while effector-triggered immunity (ETI) is activated when effector proteins are detected by host resistance proteins (R proteins). NIP – necrosis-inducing protein, CRN – Crinkling- and necrosis-inducing protein.



Figure 8. Structure of cytoplasmic RXLR effector family proteins present in biotrophic oomycete pathogens. RXLR effector proteins are named after the four amino acid motif (Arg-any amino acid-Leu-Arg) that follows a signal peptide (SP) in the N-terminal of the protein. The C-terminal, containing the less conserved effector domain, may contain none to numerous repetitions of W-, Y- and /or L-motifs (Jiang et al. 2008) underpinning a conserved structural fold in the mature protein (Boutemy et al. 2011). Image obtained from Jiang et al. (2008).

References

- Akilli S, Serçe ÇU, Kati rcioğlu YZ & Maden S (2012) Involvement of *Phytophthora* spp. in chestnut decline in the Black Sea region of Turkey. *Forest Pathology* **42:**377-386.
- Akinsanmi OA & Drenth A (2013) Phosphite and metalaxyl rejuvenate macadamia trees in decline caused by *Phytophthora cinnamomi*. *Crop Protection* **53**:29-36.
- Armstrong MR, Whisson SC, Pritchard L, Bos JIB, Venter E, Avrova AO, Rehmany AP, Böhme U, Brooks K, Cherevach I, Hamlin N, White B, Fraser A, Lord A, Quail MA, Churcher C, Hall N, Berriman M, Huang S, Kamoun S, Beynon JL & Birch PRJ (2005) An ancestral oomycete locus contains late blight avirulence gene *Avr3a*, encoding a protein that is recognized in the host cytoplasm. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 102:7766-7771.
- Aveling TAS & Rijkenberg FHJ (1986) Infection of susceptible avocado by *Phytophthora cinnamomi. South African Avocado Growers' Association Yearbook* **9:**55-56.
- Avrova AO, Boevink PC, Young V, Grenville-Briggs LJ, Van West P, Birch PRJ & Whisson SC (2008) A novel *Phytophthora infestans* haustorium-specific membrane protein is required for infection of potato. *Cellular Microbiology* **10**:2271-2284.
- Bae H, Kim MS, Sicher RC, Bae HJ & Bailey BA (2006) Necrosis- and ethylene-inducing peptide from *Fusarium oxysporum* induces a complex cascade of transcripts associated with signal transduction and cell death in *Arabidopsis*. *Plant Physiology* **141**:1056-1067.
- Bartnicki-garcia S & Wang MC. (1983) Biochemical aspects of morphogenesis in *Phytophthora*. In: Erwin DC, Bartnicki-garcia S & Tsao PH. (eds) *Phytophthora*: its biology, toxonomy, ecology and pathology. St Paul, MN, USA, American Phytopathological Society, pp 121-137.
- Bauer BE, Wolfger H & Kuchler K (1999) Inventory and function of yeast ABC proteins: about sex, stress, pleiotropic drug and heavy metal resistance. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta -Biomembranes* 1461:217-236.
- Baxter L, Tripathy S, Ishaque N, Boot N, Cabral A, Kemen E, Thines M, Ah-Fong A, Anderson R, Badejoko W, Bittner-Eddy P, Boore JL, Chibucos MC, Coates M, Dehal P, Delehaunty K, Dong S, Downton P, Dumas B, Fabro G, Fronick C, Fuerstenberg SI, Fulton L, Gaulin E, Govers F, Hughes L, Humphray S, Jiang RHY, Judelson H, Kamoun S, Kyung K, Meijer H, Minx P, Morris P, Nelson J, Phuntumart V, Qutob D, Rehmany A, Rougon-Cardoso A, Ryden P, Torto-Alalibo T, Studholme D, Wang Y, Win J, Wood J, Clifton SW, Rogers J, Van Den Ackerveken G, Jones JDG, McDowell JM, Beynon J & Tyler BM (2010)

Signatures of adaptation to obligate biotrophy in the *Hyaloperonospora arabidopsidis* genome. *Science* **330**:1549-1551.

- Benhamou N & Nicole M (1999) Cell biology of plant immunization against microbial infection: The potential of induced resistance in controlling plant diseases. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry* **37**:703-719.
- Beyer K, Binder A, Boller T & Collinge M (2001) Identification of potato genes induced during colonization by *Phytophthora infestans*. *Molecular Plant Pathology* **2**:125-134.
- Birch PRJ, Rehmany AP, Pritchard L, Kamoun S & Beynon JL (2006) Trafficking arms: Oomycete effectors enter host plant cells. *Trends in Microbiology* **14**:8-11.
- Blair JE, Coffey MD, Park S-Y, Geiser DM & Kang S (2008) A multi-locus phylogeny for *Phytophthora* utilizing markers derived from complete genome sequences. *Fungal Genetics and Biology* **45**:266-277.
- Boller T & Felix G (2009) A renaissance of elicitors: perception of microbe-associated molecular patterns and danger signals by pattern-recognition receptors. *Annual review of plant biology* **60**:379-406.
- Bonnet P, Bourdon E, Ponchet M, Blein J & Ricci P (1996) Acquired resistance triggered by elicitins in tobacco and other plants. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* **102**:181-192.
- Bos JIB, Armstrong MR, Gilroy EM, Boevink PC, Hein I, Taylor RM, Zhendong T, Engelhardt S, Vetukuri RR, Harrower B, Dixelius C, Bryan G, Sadanandom A, Whisson SC, Kamoun S & Birch PRJ (2010) *Phytophthora infestans* effector AVR3a is essential for virulence and manipulates plant immunity by stabilizing host E3 ligase CMPG1. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 107:9909-9914.
- Bos JIB, Kanneganti TD, Young C, Cakir C, Huitema E, Win J, Armstrong MR, Birch PRJ & Kamoun S (2006) The C-terminal half of *Phytophthora infestans* RXLR effector AVR3a is sufficient to trigger R3a-mediated hypersensitivity and suppress INF1-induced cell death in *Nicotiana benthamiana. Plant Journal* **48**:165-176.
- Boutemy LS, King SRF, Win J, Hughes RK, Clarke TA, Blumenschein TMA, Kamoun S & Banfield
 MJ (2011) Structures of *Phytophthora* RXLR effector proteins: A conserved but adaptable
 fold underpins functional diversity. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 286:35834-35842.
- Bozkurt TO, Schornack S, Win J, Shindo T, Ilyas M, Oliva R, Cano LM, Jones AME, Huitema E, Van Der Hoorn RAL & Kamoun S (2011) *Phytophthora infestans* effector AVRblb2 prevents secretion of a plant immune protease at the haustorial interface. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 108:20832-20837.

- Butcher TB, Stukely MJC & Chester GW (1984) Genetic variation in resistance of *Pinus radiata* to *Phytophthora cinnamomi. Forest Ecology and Management* **8**:197-220.
- Cabral A, Stassen JHM, Seidl MF, Bautor J, Parker JE & Van den Ackerveken G (2011) Identification of *Hyaloperonospora arabidopsidis* transcript sequences expressed during infection reveals isolate-specific effectors. *PLoS ONE* **6**:e19328.
- Cahill DM & McComb JA (1992) A comparison of changes in phenylaline ammonialyase activity, lignin and phenolic synthesis in the roots of *Eucalyptus calophylla* (field resistant) and *E. marginata* (susceptible) when infected with *Phytophthora cinnamomi. Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology* **40**:315-332.
- Cahill DM, Rookes JE, Wilson BA, Gibson L & McDougall KL (2008) *Phytophthora cinnamomi* and Australia's biodiversity: Impacts, predictions and progress towards control. *Australian Journal of Botany* **56**:279-310.
- Carpita NC & Gibeaut DM (1993) Structural models of primary cell walls in flowering plants: consistency of molecular structure with the physical properties of the walls during growth. *The Plant Journal* **3:**1-30.
- Chavarriaga D, Bodles WJA, Leifert C, Belbahri L & Woodward S (2007) *Phytophthora cinnamomi* and other fine root pathogens in north temperate pine forests. *FEMS Microbiology Letters* **276:**67-74.
- Chen D & Zentmyer GA (1970) Production of sporangia by *Phytophthora cinnamomi* in axenic culture. *Mycologia* **62:**397-402.
- Chen X, Klemsdal SS & Brurberg MB (2011) Identification and analysis of *Phytophthora cactorum* genes up-regulated during cyst germination and strawberry infection. *Current Genetics* **57**: 297-315.
- Chen X, Shen G, Wang Y, Zheng X & Wang Y (2007) Identification of *Phytophthora sojae* genes upregulated during the early stage of soybean infection. *Federation of European Microbiological Societies Microbiology Letters* **269**:280-288.
- Chen XR, Xing YP, Li YP, Tong YH & Xu JY (2013) RNA-Seq reveals infection-related gene expression changes in *Phytophthora capsici*. *PLoS ONE* **8**:e74588.
- Cheng B, Yu X, Ma Z, Dong S, Dou D, Wang Y & Zheng X (2012) *Phytophthora sojae* effector Avh331 suppresses the plant defence response by disturbing the MAPK signalling pathway. *Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology* **77**:1-9.
- Cheung F, Win J, Lang JM, Hamilton J, Vuong H, Leach JE, Kamoun S, Lévesque CA, Tisserat N
 & Buell CR (2008) Analysis of the *Pythium ultimum* transcriptome using Sanger and pyrosequencing approaches. *BMC Genomics* **9**:542.

- Črešnar B & Petrič Š (2011) Cytochrome P450 enzymes in the fungal kingdom. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta Proteins and Proteomics* **1814:**29-35.
- Crone M, McComb JA, O'Brien PA & Hardy GESJ (2012) Annual and herbaceous perennial native Australian plant species are symptomless hosts of *Phytophthora cinnamomi* in the *Eucalyptus marginata* (jarrah) forest of Western Australia. *Plant Pathology* **62**:1057-1062.
- Curl EA (1963) Control of plant diseases by crop rotation. The Botanical Review 29:413-479.
- Dangl JL & Jones JDG (2001) Plant pathogens and integrated defence responses to infection. *Nature* **411**:826-833.
- Darvas J, Toerien J & Milne D (1984) Control of avocado root rot by trunk injection with fosetyl-Al. *Plant Disease* **68:**691-693.
- Dassa E & Bouige P (2001) The ABC of ABCs: a phylogenetic and functional classification of ABC systems in living organisms. *Research in Microbiology* **152**:211-229.
- Davison EM, Stukely MJC, Crane CE & Tay FCS (1994) Invasion of phloem and xylem of woody stems and roots of *Eucalpytus marginata* and *Pinus radiata* by *Phytophthora cinnamomi*. *Phytopathology* **84:**335-340.
- de Sampaio e Paiva Camilo-Alves C, da Clara MIE & de Almeida Ribeiro NMC (2013) Decline of Mediterranean oak trees and its association with *Phytophthora cinnamomi*: A review. *European Journal of Forest Research* **132**:411-432.
- Del Sorbo G, Schoonbeek H & De Waard MA (2000) Fungal transporters involved in efflux of natural toxic compounds and fungicides. *Fungal Genetics and Biology* **30**:1-15.
- Dong S, Yu D, Cui L, Qutob D, Tedman-Jones J, Kale SD, Tyler BM, Wang Y & Gijzen M (2011) Sequence variants of the *Phytophthora sojae* RXLR effector Avr3a/5 are differentially recognized by Rps3a and Rps5 in soybean. *PLoS ONE* **6**:e20172.
- Dou D, Kale SD, Wang X, Jiang RHY, Bruce NA, Arredondo FD, Zhang X & Tyler BM (2008) RXLR-mediated entry of *Phytophthora sojae* effector Avr1b into soybean cells does not require pathogen-encoded machinery. *The Plant Cell* **20**:1930-1947.
- Downer J, Faber B & Menge J (2002) Factors affecting root rot control in mulched avocado orchards. *HortTechnology* **12:**601-605.
- Drenth A & Guest DI. (2004) Managing *Phytophthora* diseases. In: Drenth A & Guest DI. (eds) Diversity and management of *Phytophthora* in Southeast Asia. Melbourne, Australia, BPA Print Group Pty Ltd, pp 154-238.
- Dunstan WA, Rudman T, Shearer BL, Moore NA, Paap T, Calver MC, Dell B & Hardy GESJ (2010) Containment and spot eradication of a highly destructive, invasive plant pathogen (*Phytophthora cinnamomi*) in natural ecosystems. *Biological Invasions* **12**:913-925.

- Ellis JG & Dodds PN (2011) Showdown at the RXLR motif: Serious differences of opinion in how effector proteins from filamentous eukaryotic pathogens enter plant cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **108**:14381-14382.
- Engelbrecht J, Duong TA & van den Berg N (2013) Development of a nested quantitative real-time PCR for detecting *Phytophthora cinnamomi* in *Persea americana* rootstocks. *Plant Disease* **97**:1012-1017.
- Erwin DC, Ribeiro OK. (1996) Phytophthora Diseases Worldwide. St Paul, MN, USA, APS Press.
- Eshraghi L, Anderson J, Aryamanesh N, Shearer B, McComb J, Hardy GES & O'Brien PA (2011) Phosphite primed defence responses and enhanced expression of defence genes in *Arabidopsis thaliana* infected with *Phytophthora cinnamomi*. *Plant Pathology* **60**:1086-1095.
- Fellbrich G, Romanski A, Varet A, Blume B, Brunner F, Engelhardt S, Felix G, Kemmerling B, Krzymowska M & Nürnberger T (2002) NPP1, a *Phytophthora*-associated trigger of plant defense in parsley and *Arabidopsis*. *Plant Journal* **32**:375-390.
- Förster H, Coffey MD, Elwood H & Sogin ML (1990) Sequence analysis of the small subunit ribosomal RNAs of three zoosporic fungi and implications for fungal evolution. *Mycologia* 82:306-312.
- Gaulin E, Dramé N, Lafitte C, Torto-Alalibo T, Martinez Y, Ameline-Torregrosa C, Khatib M, Mazarguil H, Villalba-Mateos F, Kamoun S, Mazars C, Dumas B, Bottin A, Esquerré-Tugayé MT & Rickauer M (2006) Cellulose binding domains of a *Phytophthora* cell wall protein are novel pathogen-associated molecular patterns. *Plant Cell* **18**:1766-1777.
- Gaulin E, Jauneau A, Villalba F, Rickauer M, Esquerré-Tugayé M-T & Bottin A (2002) The CBEL glycoprotein of *Phytophthora parasitica* var. *nicotianae* is involved in cell wall deposition and adhesion to cellulosic substrates. *Journal of Cell Science* **115**:4565-4575.
- Gerrettson-Cornell L. (1989) A compendium and classification of the species of the genus *Phytophthora* de Bary by the canons of the traditional taxonomy. Sydney, Australia, Research Division, State Forests of New South Wales.
- Gill RW & Sanseau P (2000) Rapid in silico cloning of genes using expressed sequence tags (ESTs). *Biotechnology Annual Review* **5**:25-44.
- Gilroy EM, Taylor RM, Hein I, Boevink P, Sadanandom A & Birch PRJ (2011) CMPG1-dependent cell death follows perception of diverse pathogen elicitors at the host plasma membrane and is suppressed by *Phytophthora infestans* RXLR effector AVR3a. *New Phytologist* **190:**653-666.

- Goheen DJ, Mallams K, Betlejewski F & Hansen E (2012) Effectiveness of vehicle washing and roadside sanitation in decreasing spread potential of Port-Orford-Cedar root disease. Western Journal of Applied Forestry 27:170-175.
- Gómez-Gómez L & Boller T (2002) Flagellin perception: a paradigm for innate immunity. *Trends in Plant Science* **7**:251-256.
- Grenville-Briggs LJ, Avrova AO, Bruce CR, Williams A, Whisson SC, Birch PRJ & Van West P (2005) Elevated amino acid biosynthesis in *Phytophthora infestans* during appressorium formation and potato infection. *Fungal Genetics and Biology* **42:**244-256.
- Grouffaud S, Whisson SC, Birch PRJ & van West P (2010) Towards an understanding on how RxLR-effector proteins are translocated from oomycetes into host cells. *Fungal Biology Reviews* **24**:27-36.
- Gubler F, Hardham AR & Duniec J (1989) Characterising adhesiveness of *Phytophthora cinnamomi* zoospores during encystment. *Protoplasma* **149**:24-30.
- Guo J, Jiang RHY, Kamphuis LG & Govers F (2006) A cDNA-AFLP based strategy to identify transcripts associated with avirulence in *Phytophthora infestans*. *Fungal Genetics and Biology* **43**:111-123.
- Gyetvai G, Sønderkær M, Göbel U, Basekow R, Ballvora A, Imhoff M, Kersten B, Nielsen KL & Gebhardt C (2012) The transcriptome of compatible and incompatible interactions of potato (*Solanum tuberosum*) with *Phytophthora infestans* revealed by DeepSAGE analysis. *PLoS ONE* **7**:e31526.
- Haas BJ, Kamoun S, Zody MC, Jiang RHY, Handsaker RE, Cano LM, Grabherr M, Kodira CD, Raffaele S, Torto-Alalibo T, Bozkurt TO, Ah-Fong AMV, Alvarado L, Anderson VL, Armstrong MR, Avrova A, Baxter L, Beynon J, Boevink PC, Bollmann SR, Bos JIB, Bulone V, Cai G, Cakir C, Carrington JC, Chawner M, Conti L, Costanzo S, Ewan R, Fahlgren N, Fischbach MA, Fugelstad J, Gilroy EM, Gnerre S, Green PJ, Grenville-Briggs LJ, Griffith J, Grünwald NJ, Horn K, Horner NR, Hu C-H, Huitema E, Jeong D-H, Jones AME, Jones JDG, Jones RW, Karlsson EK, Kunjeti SG, Lamour K, Liu Z, Ma L, MacLean D, Chibucos MC, McDonald H, McWalters J, Meijer HJG, Morgan W, Morris PF, Munro CA, O'Neill K, Ospina-Giraldo M, Pinzón A, Pritchard L, Ramsahoye B, Ren Q, Restrepo S, Roy S, Sadanandom A, Savidor A, Schornack S, Schwartz DC, Schumann UD, Schwessinger B, Seyer L, Sharpe T, Silvar C, Song J, Studholme DJ, Sykes S, Thines M, van de Vondervoort PJI, Phuntumart V, Wawra S, Weide R, Win J, Young C, Zhou S, Fry W, Meyers BC, van West P, Ristaino J, Govers F, Birch PRJ, Whisson SC, Judelson HS & Nusbaum C (2009) Genome sequence and analysis of the Irish potato famine pathogen *Phytophthora infestans. Nature* 461:393-398.

- Haldar K, Kamoun S, Hiller NL, Bhattacharje S & van Ooij C (2006) Common infection strategies of pathogenic eukaryotes. *Nature Reviews Microbiology* **4**:922-931.
- Hao W, Ahonsi MO, Vinatzer BA & Hong C (2012) Inactivation of *Phytophthora* and bacterial species in water by a potential energy-saving heat treatment. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* **134**:357-365.
- Hardham A & Gubler F (1990) Polarity of attachment of zoospores of a root pathogen and prealignment of the emerging germ tube. *Cell Biology International Reports* **14**:947-956.
- Hardham AR (2001) The cell biology behind *Phytophthora* pathogenicity. *Australasian Plant Pathology* **30**:91-98.
- Hardham AR (2005) Phytophthora cinnamomi. Molecular Plant Pathology 6:589-604.
- Hardham AR & Suzaki E (1986) Encystment of zoospores of the fungus, *Phytophthora cinnamomi*, is induced by specific lectin and monoclonal antibody binding to the cell surface. *Protoplasma* **133**:165-173.
- Have A, Tenberge K, Benen JE, Tudzynski P, Visser J & Kan JL. (2002) The contribution of cell wall degrading enzymes to pathogenesis of fungal plant pathogens. In: Kempken, F. (ed) Agricultural Applications. Berlin Heidelberg, Germany, Springer-verlag, pp 341-358.
- Henriquez MA & Daayf F (2010) Identification and cloning of differentially expressed genes involved in the interaction between potato and *Phytophthora infestans* using a subtractive hybridization and cDNA-AFLP combinational approach. *Journal of Integrative Plant Biology* 52:453-467.
- Hill T, Tippett J & Shearer B (1994) Invasion of Bassendean dune *Banksia* woodland by *Phytophthora cinnamomi. Australian Journal of Botany* **42:**725-738.
- Hogenhout SA, Van der Hoorn RAL, Terauchi R & Kamoun S (2009) Emerging concepts in effector biology of plant-associated organisms. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* **22**:115-122.
- Hong CX & Moorman GW (2005) Plant pathogens in irrigation water: Challenges and opportunities. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences* **24**:189-208.
- Hüberli D, Tommerup IC & Hardy GESJ (2000) False-negative isolations or absence of lesions may cause mis-diagnosis of diseased plants infected with *Phytophthora cinnamomi*. *Australasian Plant Pathology* **29:**164-169.
- Irving HR & Grant BR (1984) The effects of pectin and plant root surface carbohydrates on encystment and development of *Phytophthora cinnamomi* zoospores. *Journal of General Microbiology* **130**:1015-1018.
- Jiang RHY, de Bruijn I, Haas BJ, Belmonte R, Löbach L, Christie J, van den Ackerveken G, Bottin A, Bulone V, Díaz-Moreno SM, Dumas B, Fan L, Gaulin E, Govers F, Grenville-Briggs LJ,

Horner NR, Levin JZ, Mammella M, Meijer HJG, Morris P, Nusbaum C, Oome S, Phillips AJ, van Rooyen D, Rzeszutek E, Saraiva M, Secombes CJ, Seidl MF, Snel B, Stassen JHM, Sykes S, Tripathy S, van den Berg H, Vega-Arreguin JC, Wawra S, Young SK, Zeng Q, Dieguez-Uribeondo J, Russ C, Tyler BM & van West P (2013) Distinctive expansion of potential virulence genes in the genome of the oomycete fish pathogen *Saprolegnia parasitica*. *PLoS Genetics* **9**:e1003272.

- Jiang RHY, Tripathy S, Govers F & Tyler BM (2008) RXLR effector reservoir in two *Phytophthora* species is dominated by a single rapidly evolving superfamily with more than 700 members. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **105**:4874-4879.
- Jiang RHY, Tyler BM, Whisson SC, Hardham AR & Govers F (2006) Ancient origin of elicitin gene clusters in *Phytophthora* genomes. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* **23:**338-351.
- Jones JDG & Dangl JL (2006) The plant immune system. Nature 444:323-329.
- Jones TM, Anderson AJ & Albersheim P (1972) Host-pathogen interactions IV. Studies on the polysaccharide-degrading enzymes secreted by *Fusarium oxysporum* f. sp. *lycopersici*. *Physiological Plant Pathology* **2**:153-166.
- Judelson HS, Ah-Fong AMV, Aux G, Avrova AO, Bruce C, Cakir C, Da Cunha L, Grenville-Briggs L, Latijnhouwers M, Ligterink W, Meijer HJG, Roberts S, Thurber CS, Whisson SC, Birch PRJ, Govers F, Kamoun S, Van West P & Windass J (2008) Gene expression profiling during asexual development of the late blight pathogen *Phytophthora infestans* reveals a highly dynamic transcriptome. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* 21:433-447.
- Judelson HS, Narayan RD, Ah-Fong AMV & Kim KS (2009) Gene expression changes during asexual sporulation by the late blight agent *Phytophthora infestans* occur in discrete temporal stages. *Molecular Genetics and Genomics* **281**:193-206.
- Jung T, Colquhoun IJ & Hardy GEJ (2013) New insights into the survival strategy of the invasive soilborne pathogen *Phytophthora cinnamomi* in different natural ecosystems in Western Australia. *Forest Pathology* **43:**266-288.
- Jung T & Dobler G (2002) First report of littleleaf disease caused by *Phytophthora cinnamomi* on *Pinus occidentalis* in the Dominican Republic. *Plant Disease* **86**:1275-1275.
- Kamoun S (2006) A catalogue of the effector secretome of plant pathogenic oomycetes. *Annual Review of Phytopathology* **44**:41-60.
- Kamoun S, Hraber P, Sobral B, Nuss D & Govers F (1999) Initial assessment of gene diversity for the oomycete pathogen *Phytophthora infestans* based on expressed sequences. *Fungal Genetics and Biology* 28:94-106.

- Kamoun S, Klucher KM, Coffey MD & Tyler BM (1993a) A gene encoding a host-specific elicitor protein of *Phytophthora parasitica*. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* **6**:573-581.
- Kamoun S, Van West P, Vleeshouwers VGAA, De Groot KE & Govers F (1998) Resistance of Nicotiana benthamiana to Phytophthora infestans is mediated by the recognition of the elicitor protein INF1. Plant Cell 10:1413-1425.
- Kamoun S, Young M, Glascock C & Tyler BM (1993b) Extracellular protein elicitors from *Phytophthora*: Host-specificity and induction of resistance to fungal and bacterial phytopathogens. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* **6**:15-25.
- Kelley BS, Lee SJ, Damasceno CMB, Chakravarthy S, Kim BD, Martin GB & Rose JKC (2010) A secreted effector protein (SNE1) from *Phytophthora infestans* is a broadly acting suppressor of programmed cell death. *Plant Journal* **62**:357-366.
- King M, Reeve W, Van der Hoek MB, Williams N, McComb J, O'Brien PA & Hardy GESJ (2010) Defining the phosphite-regulated transcriptome of the plant pathogen *Phytophthora cinnamomi. Molecular Genetics and Genomics* **284**:425-435.
- Kong P, Hong CX & Richardson PA (2003) Rapid detection of *Phytophthora cinnamomi* using PCR with primers derived from the *Lpv* putative storage protein genes. *Plant Pathology* **52**:681.
- Krajaejun T, Khositnithikul R, Lerksuthirat T, Lowhnoo T, Rujirawat T, Petchthong T, Yingyong W, Suriyaphol P, Smittipat N, Juthayothin T, Phuntumart V & Sullivan TD (2011) Expressed sequence tags reveal genetic diversity and putative virulence factors of the pathogenic oomycete *Pythium insidiosum. Fungal Biology* **115**:683-696.
- Kroon LPNM, Brouwer H, de Cock AWAM & Govers F (2012) The Genus *Phytophthora* Anno 2012. *Phytopathology* **102**:348-364.
- Krull CR, Waipara NW, Choquenot D, Burns BR, Gormley AM & Stanley MC (2013) Absence of evidence is not evidence of absence: Feral pigs as vectors of soil-borne pathogens. *Austral Ecology* 38:534-542.
- Kurbetli I (2013) *Phytophthora cinnamomi* associated with root and crown rot of walnut in Turkey. *Journal of Phytopathology* **161:**287-289.
- Lamour KH, Mudge J, Gobena D, Hurtado-Gonzales OP, Schmutz J, Kuo A, Miller NA, Rice BJ, Raffaele S, Cano LM, Bharti AK, Donahoo RS, Finley S, Huitema E, Hulvey J, Platt D, Salamov A, Savidor A, Sharma R, Stam R, Storey D, Thines M, Win J, Haas BJ, Dinwiddie DL, Jenkins J, Knight JR, Affourtit JP, Han CS, Chertkov O, Lindquist EA, Detter C, Grigoriev IV, Kamoun S & Kingsmore SF (2012) Genome sequencing and mapping reveal loss of heterozygosity as a mechanism for rapid adaptation in the vegetable pathogen *Phytophthora capsici. Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* 25:1350-1360.

- Larach A, Besoain X & Salgado E (2009) Crown and root rot of highbush blueberry caused by *Phytophthora cinnamomi* and *P. citrophthora* and cultivar sensitivity. *Ciencia e Investigación Agraria* **36**:433-442.
- Larroque M, Barriot R, Bottin A, Barre A, Rouge P, Dumas B & Gaulin E (2012) The unique architecture and function of cellulose-interacting proteins in oomycetes revealed by genomic and structural analyses. *BMC Genomics* **13**:605.
- Latijnhouwers M, de Wit PJGM & Govers F (2003) Oomycetes and fungi: similar weaponry to attack plants. *Trends in Microbiology* **11**:462-469.
- Le Berre JY, Engler G & Panabières F (2008) Exploration of the late stages of the tomato-*Phytophthora parasitica* interactions through histological analysis and generation of expressed sequence tags. *New Phytologist* **177**:480-492.
- Leroy Q & Raoult D (2010) Review of microarray studies for host–intracellular pathogen interactions. *Journal of Microbiological Methods* **81**:81-95.
- Lévesque CA, Brouwer H, Cano L, Hamilton JP, Holt C, Huitema E, Raffaele S, Robideau GP, Thines M, Win J, Zerillo MM, Beakes GW, Boore JL, Busam D, Dumas B, Ferriera S, Fuerstenberg SI, Gachon CMM, Gaulin E, Govers F, Grenville-Briggs L, Horner N, Hostetler J, Jiang RHY, Johnson J, Krajaejun T, Lin H, Meijer HJG, Moore B, Morris P, Phuntmart V, Puiu D, Shetty J, Stajich JE, Tripathy S, Wawra S, van West P, Whitty BR, Coutinho PM, Henrissat B, Martin F, Thomas PD, Tyler BM, De Vries RP, Kamoun S, Yandell M, Tisserat N & Buell CR (2010) Genome sequence of the necrotrophic plant pathogen *Pythium ultimum* reveals original pathogenicity mechanisms and effector repertoire. *Genome Biology* 11:R37.
- Li AY, Williams N, Fenwick SG, Hardy GESJ & Adams PJ (2013) Potential for dissemination of *Phytophthora cinnamomi* by feral pigs via ingestion of infected plant material. *Biological Invasions*. Published online: DOI: 10.1007/s10530-013-0535-7.
- Li L, Wright SJ, Krystofova S, Park G & Borkovich KA (2007) Heterotrimeric G protein signaling in filamentous fungi. *Annual Review of Microbiology* **61**:423-452.
- Linde C, Drenth A, Kemp GHJ, Wingfield MJ & von Broembsen SL (1997) Population Structure of *Phytophthora cinnamomi* in South Africa. *Phytopathology* **87**:822-827.
- Liu T, Ye W, Ru Y, Yang X, Gu B, Tao K, Lu S, Dong S, Zheng X, Shan W, Wang Y & Dou D (2010) Two host cytoplasmic effectors are required for pathogenesis of *Phytophthora sojae* by suppression of host defenses. *Plant Physiology* **155**:490-501.
- Massoud K, Barchietto T, Le Rudulier T, Pallandre L, Didierlaurent L, Garmier M, Ambard-Bretteville F, Seng J-M & Saindrenan P (2012) Dissecting the phosphite-induced priming in Arabidopsis infected with *Hyaloperonospora arabidopsidis*. *Plant Physiology* **159**:286-298.

- Mbaka JN. (2011) The ecology, distribution and population structure of *Phytophthora cinnamomi* associated with root rots and trunk cankers of macadamia in Kenya. Juja, Kenya, Jomo Kenyatta University of Agriculture and Technology, PhD Thesis.
- McDonald BA & Linde C (2002) Pathogen population genetics, evolutionary potential, and durable resistance. *Annual Review of Phytopathology* **40**:349-379.
- McLeod A, Labuschagne N & Kotzé JM (1995) Evaluation of *Trichoderma* for biological control of avocado root rot in bark medium artificially infested with *Phytophthora cinnamomi*. South *African Avocado Growers' Association Yearbook* **18**:32-37.
- Meng X & Zhang S (2013) MAPK Cascades in Plant Disease Resistance Signaling. *Annual Review* of Phytopathology **51**:245-266.
- Mircetich S & Matheron M (1983) Phytophthora root and crown rot of walnut trees. *Phytopathology* **73**:1481-1488.
- Mircetich SM & Keil HL (1970) Phytophthora cinnamomi root rot and stem canker of peach trees. *Phytopathology* **60**:1376-1382.
- Misas-Villamil JC & van der Hoorn RAL (2008) Enzyme–inhibitor interactions at the plant– pathogen interface. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* **11:**380-388.
- Moore N, Barrett S, Bowen B, Shearer B & Hard G. (2007) The role of fire on *Phytophthora* dieback caused by the root pathogen *Phytophthora cinnamomi* in the Stirling Range National Park, Western Australia. In: Proceedings of the MEDECOS XI Conference. Perth, Western Australia, pp 165-166.
- Mpika J, Kébé I, Issali A, N'Guessan F, Druzhinina S, Komon-Zélazowska M, Kubicek C & Aké S (2009) Antagonist potential of *Trichoderma* indigenous isolates for biological control of *Phytophthora palmivora* the causative agent of black pod disease on cocoa (*Theobroma cacao* L.) in Côte'Ivoire. *African Journal of Biotechnology* **8**:5280-5293.
- Myers N, Mittermeier RA, Mittermeier CG, da Fonseca GAB & Kent J (2000) Biodiversity hotspots for conservation priorities. *Nature* **403**:853-858.
- Natividade Targon MLP, Takita MA, do Amaral AM, de Souza AA, Locali-Fabris EC, de Oliveira
 Dorta S, Borges KM, de Souza JM, Rodrigues CM, Lucheta AR, Freitas-Astúa J &
 Machado MA (2007) CitEST libraries. *Genetics and Molecular Biology* **30**:1019-1023.
- Nebert DW & Vasiliou V (2004) Analysis of the glutathione S-transferase (GST) gene family. *Human genomics* **1**:460-464.
- O'Brien J, Daudi A, Butt V & Paul Bolwell G (2012) Reactive oxygen species and their role in plant defence and cell wall metabolism. *Planta* **236**:765-779.

- OEPP/EPPO (2004) Diagnostic protocols for regulated pests, *Phytophthora cinnamomi*. *Bulletin OEPP/EPPO Bulletin* **34:**155-157.
- Oliver RP & Ipcho SVS (2004) *Arabidopsis* pathology breathes new life into the necrotrophs-vs.biotrophs classification of fungal pathogens. *Molecular Plant Pathology* **5**:347-352.
- Panabières F, Amselem J, Galiana E & Le Berre JY (2005) Gene identification in the oomycete pathogen *Phytophthora parasitica* during *in vitro* vegetative growth through expressed sequence tags. *Fungal Genetics and Biology* **42**:611-623.
- Phillips AJ, Anderson VL, Robertson EJ, Secombes CJ & van West P (2008) New insights into animal pathogenic oomycetes. *Trends in Microbiology* **16**:13-19.
- Podger FD (1990) Phytophthora, fire and change in vegetation. Tasforest 2:125-128.
- Podger FD, Doepel RF & Zentmyer GA (1965) Association of *Phytophthora cinnamomi* with a disease of *Eucalyptus* marginata forest in Western Australia. *Plant Disease Report* **49**:943-947.
- Qutob D, Hraber PT, Sobral BWS & Gijzen M (2000) Comparative analysis of expressed sequences in *Phytophthora sojae*. *Plant Physiology* **123**:243-253.
- Qutob D, Kamoun S & Gijzen M (2002) Expression of a *Phytophthora sojae* necrosis-inducing protein occurs during transition from biotrophy to necrotrophy. *The Plant Journal* **32**:361-373.
- Raffaele S, Win J, Cano LM & Kamoun S (2010) Analyses of genome architecture and gene expression reveal novel candidate virulence factors in the secretome of *Phytophthora infestans*. *BMC Genomics* **11**:637.
- Randall TA, Dwyer RA, Huitema E, Beyer K, Cvitanich C, Kelkar H, Ah Fong AMV, Gates K, Roberts S, Yatzkan E, Gaffney T, Law M, Testa A, Torto-Alalibo T, Zhang M, Zheng L, Mueller E, Windass J, Binder A, Birch PRJ, Gisi U, Govers F, Gow NA, Mauch F, Van West P, Waugh ME, Yu J, Boller T, Kamoun S, Lam ST & Judelson HS (2005) Large-scale gene discovery in the oomycete *Phytophthora infestans* reveals likely components of phytopathogenicity shared with true fungi. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* 18:229-243.
- Rands RD (1922) Stripe canker on cinnamon, caused by *Phytophthora cinnamomi* n. sp. *Announcements of the Institute of Plant Diseases* **54:**1-51.
- Reena N, Chandrasekar A, Riju A, Nima PL, Eapen SJ & Anandaraj M. (2010) Gene identification in *Phytophthora capsici* through expressed sequence tags. In: Proceedings of the International Symposium on Biocomputing. New York, NY, USA, pp 1-5.

- Rehmany AP, Gordon A, Rose LE, Allen RL, Armstrong MR, Whisson SC, Kamoun S, Tyler BM, Birch PRJ & Beynon JL (2005) Differential recognition of highly divergent downy mildew avirulence gene alleles by *RPP1* resistance genes from two Arabidopsis lines. *Plant Cell* **17:**1839-1850.
- R.H.Y.J. & Zody MC. (2008) Unpublished data.
- Richter BS, Benson DM & Ivors KL (2011) Microbial profiling of cultural systems for suppression of Phytophthora root rot in Fraser fir. *Plant Disease* **95**:537-546.
- Rizzo DM, Garbelotto M & Hansen EM (2005) *Phytophthora ramorum*: Integrative research and management of an emerging pathogen in California and Oregon forests. *Annual Review of Phytopathology* **43**:309-335.
- Robold A & Hardham A (2005) During attachment *Phytophthora* spores secrete proteins containing thrombospondin type 1 repeats. *Current Genetics* **47**:307-315.
- Rohrbach KG (1985) Control of Pineapple heart rot, caused by *Phytophthora parasitica* and *P. cinnamomi*, with metalaxyl, fosetyl Al, and phosphorous acid. *Plant Disease* **69**:320-323.
- Rookes JE, Wright ML & Cahill DM (2008) Elucidation of defence responses and signalling pathways induced in *Arabidopsis thaliana* following challenge with *Phytophthora cinnamomi*. *Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology* **72**:151-161.
- Rosa DD, Campos MA, Targon MLPN & Souza AA (2007) *Phytophthora parasitica* transcriptome, a new concept in the understanding of the citrus gummosis. *Genetics and Molecular Biology* **30**:997-1008.
- Savory EA, Adhikari BN, Hamilton JP, Vaillancourt B, Buell CR & Day B (2012) mRNA-Seq Analysis of the *Pseudoperonospora cubensis* transcriptome during cucumber (*Cucumis sativus* L.) infection. *PLoS ONE* **7**:e35796.
- Séjalon-Delmas N, Villalba Mateos F, Bottin A, Rickauer M, Dargent R & Esquerré-Tugayé MT (1997) Purification, elicitor activity, and cell wall localization of a glycoprotein from *Phytophthora parasitica* var. *nicotianae*, a fungal pathogen of tobacco. *Phytopathology* 87:899-909.
- Sepúlveda-Chavera G, Salvatierra-Martínez R, Bilbao-Apata C, Sepúlveda-Ramírez P, Allende-Castro M & Alache-González J (2013) Presence of *Phytophthora cinnamomi* Rands in avocado orchards in Azapa and Codpa valleys, Chile. *Pakistan Journal of Biological Sciences* 31:41-47.
- Serfontein J & Fourie A (2011) Control of Phytophthora cankers on macadamia trees in the orchard. Southern African macadamia growers' association yearbook **19:**19-21.

- Shan W, Cao M, Leung D & Tyler BM (2004a) The Avr1b locus of Phytophthora sojae encodes an elicitor and a regulator required for avirulence on soybean plants carrying resistance gene Rps1b. Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions 17:394-403.
- Shan W, Marshall JS & Hardham AR (2004b) Gene expression in germinated cysts of *Phytophthora nicotianae. Molecular Plant Pathology* **5**:317-330.
- Sharma K, Mishra AK & Misra RS (2009) Identification and characterization of differentially expressed genes in the resistance reaction in taro infected with *Phytophthora colocasiae*. *Molecular Biology Reports* **36**:1291-1297.
- Shea S, Shearer B, Tippett J & Deegan P (1983) Distribution, reproduction and movement of *Phytophthora cinnamomi* on sites highly conducive to jarrah dieback in south western Australia. *Plant Disease Report* 67:970-973.
- Shearer BL & Crane CE (2012) *Phytophthora cinnamomi* visible necrotic lesion-colonisation relationships in native flora. *Australasian Plant Pathology* **41**:633-644.
- Shearer BL & Fairman RG (2007) A stem injection of phosphite protects *Banksia* species and *Eucalyptus marginata* from *Phytophthora cinnamomi* for at least four years. *Australasian Plant Pathology* **36**:78–86.
- Shepherd CJ, Pratt BH & Taylor PA (1974) Comparative morphology and behaviour of A1 and A2 isolates of *Phytophthora cinnamomi*. *Australian Journal of Botany* **22**:461-470.
- Sid Ahmed A, Pérez-Sánchez C, Egea C & Candela ME (1999) Evaluation of *Trichoderma harzianum* for controlling root rot caused by *Phytophthora capsici* in pepper plants. *Plant Pathology* **48:**58-65.
- Škalamera D, Wasson AP & Hardham AR (2004) Genes expressed in zoospores of *Phytophthora nicotianae*. *Molecular Genetics and Genomics* **270**:549-557.
- Smith LA, Dann EK, Pegg KG, Whiley AW, Giblin FR, Doogan V & Kopittke R (2010) Field assessment of avocado rootstock selections for resistance to Phytophthora root rot. *Australasian Plant Pathology* **40**:39-47.
- Smith V, Wilcox W & Harman G (1990) Potential of biological control of *Phytophthora* root and crown rots of apple by *Trichoderma* and *Gliocladium* spp. *The American Phytopathological Society* **80**:880-885.
- Song J, Win J, Tian M, Schornack S, Kaschani F, Ilyas M, Van Der Hoorn RAL & Kamoun S (2009) Apoplastic effectors secreted by two unrelated eukaryotic plant pathogens target the tomato defense protease Rcr3. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **106**:1654-1659.

- Stam R, Jupe J, Howden AJM, Morris JA, Boevink PC, Hedley PE & Huitema E (2013) Identification and characterisation CRN effectors in *Phytophthora capsici* shows modularity and functional diversity. *PLoS ONE* **8**:e59517.
- Stassen JHM & Van den Ackerveken G (2011) How do oomycete effectors interfere with plant life? *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* **14:**407-414.
- Strickler SR, Bombarely A & Mueller LA (2012) Designing a transcriptome next-generation sequencing project for a nonmodel plant species. *American Journal of Botany* **99:**257-266.
- Tainter F. (1997) Littleleaf disease. In: EM, H. & Lewis KJ. (eds) Compendium of Conifer Diseases. St Paul, MN, USA, APS Press, pp 4-6.
- Tian M, Benedetti B & Kamoun S (2005) A second Kazal-like protease inhibitor from *Phytophthora infestans* inhibits and interacts with the apoplastic pathogenesis-related protease P69B of tomato. *Plant Physiology* **138**:1785-1793.
- Tordai H, Bányai L & Patthy L (1999) The PAN module: the N-terminal domains of plasminogen and hepatocyte growth factor are homologous with the apple domains of the prekallikrein family and with a novel domain found in numerous nematode proteins. *FEBS Letters* **461:**63-67.
- Torto-Alalibo T, Tian M, Gajendran K, Waugh ME, Van West P & Kamoun S (2005) Expressed sequence tags from the oomycete fish pathogen *Saprolegnia parasitica* reveal putative virulence factors. *BMC Microbiology* **5**:46.
- Torto-Alalibo TA, Tripathy S, Smith BM, Arredondo FD, Zhou L, Li H, Chibucos MC, Qutob D, Gijzen M, Mao C, Sobral BWS, Waugh ME, Mitchell TK, Dean RA & Tyler BM (2007) Expressed sequence tags from *Phytophthora sojae* reveal genes specific to development and infection. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* **20**:781-793.
- Tsuda K & Katagiri F (2010) Comparing signaling mechanisms engaged in pattern-triggered and effector-triggered immunity. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* **13**:459-465.
- Tyler BM, Tripathy S, Zhang X, Dehal P, Jiang RHY, Aerts A, Arredondo FD, Baxter L, Bensasson D, Beynon JL, Chapman J, Damasceno CMB, Dorrance AE, Dou D, Dickerman AW, Dubchak IL, Garbelotto M, Gijzen M, Gordon SG, Govers F, Grunwald NJ, Huang W, Ivors KL, Jones RW, Kamoun S, Krampis K, Lamour KH, Lee M, McDonald WH, Medina M, Meijer HJG, Nordberg EK, Maclean DJ, Ospina-Giraldo MD, Morris PF, Phuntumart V, Putnam NH, Rash S, Rose JKC, Sakihama Y, Salamov AA, Savidor A, Scheuring CF, Smith BM, Sobral BWS, Terry A, Torto-Alalibo TA, Win J, Xu Z, Zhang H, Grigoriev IV, Rokhsar DS & Boore JL (2006) *Phytophthora* genome sequences uncover evolutionary origins and mechanisms of pathogenesis. *Science* **313**:1261-1266.

- Tynan KM, Wilkinson CJ, Holmes JM, Dell B, Colquhoun IJ, McComb JA & Hardy GESJ (2001) The long-term ability of phosphite to control *Phytophthora cinnamomi* in two native plant communities of Western Australia. *Australian Journal of Botany* **49**:761-770.
- van den Brûle S & Smart C (2002) The plant PDR family of ABC transporters. Planta 216:95-106.
- Van Der Biezen EA & Jones JDG (1998) Plant disease-resistance proteins and the gene-for-gene concept. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences* **23**:454-456.
- Van Poppel PMJA, Jiang RHY, Åšliwka J & Govers F (2009) Recognition of *Phytophthora infestans* Avr4 by potato R4 is triggered by C-terminal domains comprising W motifs. *Molecular Plant Pathology* **10**:611-620.
- Van Wees SCM, Van der Ent S & Pieterse CMJ (2008) Plant immune responses triggered by beneficial microbes. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* **11**:443-448.
- van West P (2006) *Saprolegnia parasitica*, an oomycete pathogen with a fishy appetite: new challenges for an old problem. *Mycologist* **20**:99-104.
- Vannini A & Vettraino AM (2001) Ink disease in chestnuts: impact on the European chestnut. Forest Snow and Landscape Research **76**:345-350.
- Vauthrin S, Mikes V, Milat ML, Ponchet M, Maume B, Osman H & Blein JP (1999) Elicitins trap and transfer sterols from micelles, liposomes and plant plasma membranes. *Biochimica et biophysica acta Biomembranes* **1419**:335-342.
- Vleeshouwers VGAA, Rietman H, Krenek P, Champouret N, Young C, Oh SK, Wang M, Bouwmeester K, Vosman B, Visser RGF, Jacobsen E, Govers F, Kamoun S & Van der Vossen EAG (2008) Effector genomics accelerates discovery and functional profiling of potato disease resistance and *Phytophthora Infestans* avirulence genes. *PLoS ONE* 3:e2875.
- von Broembsen SL (1984) Occurrence of *Phytophthora cinnamomi* on indigenous and exotic hosts in South Africa, with special reference to the south-western Cape Province. *Phytophylactica* **16**:221-225.
- Von Broembsen SL (1985) *Phytophthora cinnamomi* associated with mortality of native vegetation in South Africa. *Plant Disease* **69:**715-717.
- Wager VA (1942) *Phytophthora cinnamomi* and wet soil in relation to the dying-back of avocado trees. *Hilgardia* **14:**517-532.
- Wang Z, Gerstein M & Snyder M (2009) RNA-Seq: a revolutionary tool for transcriptomics. *Nature Reviews Genetics* **10**:57-63.
- Whisson SC, Boevink PC, Moleleki L, Avrova AO, Morales JG, Gilroy EM, Armstrong MR, Grouffaud S, Van West P, Chapman S, Hein I, Toth IK, Pritchard L & Birch PRJ (2007) A

translocation signal for delivery of oomycete effector proteins into host plant cells. *Nature* **450**:115-118.

- Wilkinson CJ, Holmes JM, Dell B, Tynan KM, McComb JA, Shearer BL, Colquhoun IJ & Hardy GESJ (2001) Effect of phosphite on *in planta* zoospore production of *Phytophthora cinnamomi. Plant Pathology* **50**:587-593.
- Win J, Krasileva KV, Kamoun S, Shirasu K, Staskawicz BJ & Banfield MJ (2012) Sequence divergent RXLR effectors share a structural fold conserved across plant pathogenic oomycete species. *PLoS Pathogens* 8:e1002400.
- Win J, Morgan W, Bos J, Krasileva KV, Cano LM, Chaparro-Garcia A, Ammar R, Staskawicz BJ & Kamoun S (2007) Adaptive evolution has targeted the C-terminal domain of the RXLR effectors of plant pathogenic oomycetes. *Plant Signaling & Behavior* **3**:251-253.
- Xu J-R (2000) MAP kinases in fungal pathogens. Fungal Genetics and Biology 31:137-152.
- Xue C, Hsueh Y-P & Heitman J (2008) Magnificent seven: roles of G protein-coupled receptors in extracellular sensing in fungi. *FEMS Microbiology Reviews* **32**:1010-1032.
- Yaeno T, Li H, Chaparro-Garcia A, Schornack S, Koshiba S, Watanabe S, Kigawa T, Kamoun S & Shirasu K (2011) Phosphatidylinositol monophosphate-binding interface in the oomycete RXLR effector AVR3a is required for its stability in host cells to modulate plant immunity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **108**:14682-14687.
- Ye W, Wang X, Tao K, Lu Y, Dai T, Dong S, Dou D, Gijzen M & Wang Y (2011) Digital gene expression profiling of the *Phytophthora sojae* transcriptome. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* **24:**1530-1539.
- Yousef LF, Dick WA & Dick RP (2011) Use of a ¹⁵N-tracer method as a tool to indicate the assimilation of elicitin-sterol complexes by *Phytophthora sojae*. *International Journal of Biology* **3**:119-027.
- Zentmyer GA (1961) Chemotaxis of zoospores for root exudates. *Science* **133**:1595-1596.
- Zentmyer GA. (1980) *Phytophthora cinnamomi* and the diseases it causes. St Paul, MN, USA, American Phytopathological Society.
- Zentmyer GA (1988) Origin and distribution of four species of *Phytophthora*. *Transactions of the British Mycological Society* **91:**367-378.
- Zentmyer GA, Leary JV, Klure LJ & Grantham GL (1976) Variability in growth of *Phytophthora cinnamomi* in relation to temperature. *Phytopathology* **66**:982-986.
- Zentmyer GA & Mircetich SM (1966) Saprophytism and persistence in soil by *Phytophthora cinnamomi. Phytopathology* **56**:710-712.

CHAPTER 2

RNA-seq analysis of cysts and germinating cysts of *Phytophthora cinnamomi*

ABSTRACT

Phytophthora cinnamomi is an economically important pathogen that is able to successfully infect more than 3 000 plant species. As a hemi-biotrophic pathogen, it requires an arsenal of proteins that enables it to surpass the host defence system and facilitate infection of living hosts. We aimed to identify the repertoire of pathogenicity related genes to this oomycete. An RNA-seq library of the cyst and germinating cyst developmental stage of *P. cinnamomi* was produced using the Illumina sequencing platform. Over 70 000 unigenes were identified from 225 049 contigs that were assembled from 13 million paired end reads. Contaminant sequences were eliminated using bioinformatic tools, resulting in 37 534 unigenes showing homology to *Phytophthora* gene models which were used in further analysis. More than 2 000 unigenes had a putative role in pathogenesis. Cell wall degrading enzymes and genes involved in the protection against oxidative stress were most abundant among them. This included polygalacturonase, glucanase, glucosidase and reductase enzymes. Many transcripts that aid in detoxification and metabolite transport (cytochrome P450 and ABC transporters) were present. A preliminary search revealed 46 putative RXLR effector genes, together with elicitin-like and necrosis-inducing protein transcripts. This work is the first step towards understanding the molecular basis that is responsible for P. cinnamomi's success as a wide host-range pathogen.

INTRODUCTION

Phytohthora cinnamomi Rands is a hemi-biotrophic oomycete that belongs to the kingdom of the Chromista (Hardham 2005). This pathogen causes rot of feeder roots of woody plants, eventually leading to chlorosis on leafs, wilting and dieback of trees (OEPP/EPPO 2004). In some species, stem cankers and dieback of young shoots are also observed (Hardham 2005). As a broad host range pathogen, with a nearly worldwide distribution (OEPP/EPPO 2004), it is a threat to natural ecosystems, biodiversity, forestry and agriculture. The economic impact due to *P. cinnamomi* infestation is evident in the food industry (avocado, pineapple, peach, chestnut and macadamia) and the forest industry, affecting eucalyptus, pine and oak trees (Zentmyer 1980; Zentmyer 1985). Losses due to *Phytophthora* infestation not only include decreases in crop yield and product value, but also large amounts of money spent annually on control measures.

As a soil-borne pathogen there are no means to eradicate *P. cinnamomi* from invested areas as it can survive in moist soil or dead plant material as chlamydospores for up to six years (Zentmyer and Mircetich 1966). The main effective control strategy to date is the use of phosphite injections (chemical), which has proved helpful in combating *P. cinnamomi* in *Persea americana* (Darvas et al. 1984), *Eucalyptus marginata* and *Banksia* species (Shearer and Fairman 2007). Mulches (a combination of compost and soil) are also widely used to control *Phytophthora* diseases (Richter et al. 2011), as it enhances natural microbial activity and increases exogenous cellulose enzymes that target *Phytophthora* cell walls (Downer et al. 2002). Other control measures focus on spread prevention, including road side sanitation, vehicle washing (Goheen et al. 2012) and treatment of circulating irrigation water (Hao et al. 2012). In some industries, such as avocado production, farmers strongly rely on tolerant rootstocks to produce sufficient fruit in the presence of *P. cinnamomi* (Smith et al. 2010).

Phytophthora cinnamomi is heterothallic but preferably reproduces asexually, even with the presence of both the A1 and A2 mating types (Hardham 2005). The main agent of infection in both cases is uninucleate, biflagellate, motile zoospores that are released from sporangia (Hardham 2005). They are spread to suitable hosts through rain splash and soil movement (soil attached to vehicle wheels etc.) (Podger et al. 1965) and locate living plant material by responding to chemo- and electrotactic signals (Zentmyer 1961). Contact with plant cell wall carbohydrate molecules induces zoospore encystment (Irving and Grant 1984; Hardham and Suzaki 1986), followed by tissue penetration that occurs through specialized structures

called appressoria. Within two to three days, sporangia appear on the plant surface (Hardham 2005) and the asexual reproduction cycle may repeat several times, rapidly increasing the inoculum at a single site.

Disease results from a compatible plant-pathogen interaction, where the pathogen successfully evades host detection and invades and colonizes host tissue. In an incompatible plant-pathogen interaction a strong phenotypic response is observed at the site of infection, involving localized cell death (hypersensitive response) (Jones and Dangl 2006) and callose deposition (Benhamou and Nicole 1999) which effectively restricts pathogen growth. This is the result of recognition of pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMP) by pathogen recognition receptors (PRR) (so called PAMP-triggered immunity) and detection of avirulence factors by host resistance proteins (effector-triggered immunity) (Jones and Dangl 2006; Tsuda and Katagiri 2010). To understand this system, insight into both plant defence pathways as well as knowledge of pathogenicity genes (especially the pathogen effector repertoire) is critical.

Pathogenicity genes are defined as pathogen derived proteins or molecules that enable infection of a suitable host. They may act at different times (early or late infection) and at various locations (apoplast, cytoplasm, nucleus). RXLR effector Avrblb2 from *Phytophthora infestans* (Mont.) de Bary acts at the haustorial interface, preventing the secretion of host papain-like cysteine protease C14 into the apoplast, thereby enhancing potato susceptibility to *P. infestans* (Bozkurt et al. 2011). Necrosis- and ethylene inducing peptide (NEP1) (characterized from *Fusarium oxysporum*) on the other hand, is targeted to the host cell wall and cytosol, assisting plant cell death as part of disease development in necrotrophic pathogens (Bae et al. 2006). Expression analysis of NEP1-like proteins in *Phytophthora sojae* Kaufm. & Gerd. indicated two main induction points namely germinating cysts and during late infection of soya bean (Ye et al. 2011). Identification and functional characterization of pathogenicity genes gives insight into the mechanisms employed by pathogens to establish infection.

Little is known about the molecular events that govern a successful *P. cinnamomi* infection. Transciptomic analysis proved a useful tool in identifying infection related transcripts in other oomycete species (Panabières et al. 2005; Randall et al. 2005; Chen et al. 2007). This approach involved sequencing of cDNA clones and expressed sequence tags (ESTs) from various developmental structures, yielding a few thousand ESTs for analysis (Qutob et al. 2000; Škalamera et al. 2004; Panabières et al. 2005; Krajaejun et al. 2011). The expansion of available genomic data and the application of next generation sequencing technology to

transcriptome analysis now enable the identification of almost all transcripts present in a sample, including low abundant transcripts that remained elusive in previous approaches (Strickler et al. 2012). Not only does this approach allow identification of novel transcripts, alternative spliced variants and single nucleotide polymorphisms, it also allows transcript quantification (Wang et al. 2009; Strickler et al. 2012).

RNA-seq has emerged as the preferred technology for gene expression analysis as it by far exceeds the sensitivity and depth provided by microarray analysis (Wang et al. 2009). Ye et al. (2011) successfully profiled the expression of 30 pathogenicity gene families from *P. sojae*, during *in vito* growth as well as *in planta* infection. Currently the genomes of seven oomycete species have been published (Tyler et al. 2006; Haas et al. 2009; Baxter et al. 2010; Lévesque et al. 2010; Lamour KH et al. 2012; Jiang et al. 2013) and can be used to aid sequence assembly and transcript annotation. RNA-seq technology can also be applied to organisms lacking a reference genome through *de novo* assembly (Strickler et al. 2012; Ward et al. 2012).

In this chapter, we generated the first RNA-seq library of the cyst and germinating cyst stages of *P. cinnamomi* from a high sporulating isolate. Paired end reads were *de novo* assembled and annotated based on homology to *P. infestans* protein models. More than 2 000 pathogenicity transcripts were identified that will serve as candidates for further investigation.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Identification and culturing of *P. cinnamomi* isolates

All *P. cinnamomi* isolates used in this study were obtained from the *P. cinnamomi* collection maintained by the Fruit Tree Biotechnology Programme at the University of Pretoria, South Africa. This included isolates originating from avocado trees in the Tzaneen area in South Africa (Table 1). Cultures were purified from long term storage stock by isolating a single hyphal tip from water agar onto ½ potato dextrose agar (PDA) (19.5 g/L PDA (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany), 7.5 g/L agar and distilled water). Isolates were maintained on 5 % V8 (vegetable juice) agar (cleared V8 juice (Campbell Soup Company, USA), 0.1 g/L CaCO₃, 20 mg/L *B*-sitosterol, 17 g/L agar and distilled water).

Isolate identities were confirmed by a species specific PCR, using primers directed against the *LPV3* gene (Kong et al. 2003). DNA was extracted from *P. cinnamomi* mycelia using the PrepMan[™] Ultra Reagent according to the manufacturer's instructions (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, California, USA). The PCR was performed on the 2720 Thermal Cycler (Applied Biosystems) under the following cycling conditions: 95 °C for 5 min, followed by 35 cycles at 94 °C for 30 sec, 55 °C for 30 sec and 72 °C for 1 min, finishing with an 8 min incubation at 72 °C. Each PCR reaction of 25 µl contained 2.5 µl 10X PCR reaction buffer (Roche Diagnostics, Mannheim, Germany), 200 mM dNTPs (Bioline, London, UK), 3 mM MgCl₂, 0.2 µM of each *LPV3* primer, 2 units Fast Start Taq polymerase (Roche Diagnostics), Sabax water and 25 ng purified DNA. PCR products were analysed with gel electrophoresis (2 % agarose gel, 80 V) yielding a product of 450 bp in size.

Screening of the sporulation ability of *P. cinnamomi* isolates

Phytophthora cinnamomi is known to produce variable amounts of zoospores. This study required a high sporulating isolate to enable the collection of a large amount of zoospores. To identify a high sporulating isolate, 12 *P. cinnamomi* isolates were screened for their ability to produce sporangia. Agar blocks (5 % V8 agar), 2 x 2 mm in size, containing a 3-day-old *P. cinnamomi* culture, were placed in 90 mm petri dishes filled with 20 ml distilled water. The water was replaced after 4 hours incubation at 23 °C under florescent light and left overnight. Sporangia production was scored by counting the amount of sporangia produced per agar plug under a confocal microscope. A value of 0 to 3 was assigned per block, where a score of 0 represented no sporangia, 1 represented 1-7 sporangia, 2 represented 7-15 sporangia and a score of 3 was assigned to blocks containing 16 sporangia or more. Sporangia that had already released zoospores were also considered when assigning scores. This process was repeated three times, analyzing three agar plugs per isolate.

Evaluation of the growth of isolate CNVDB1 and CNVDB29 on different media at different temperatures

The growth rate and morphology of a high sporulating isolate (CNVDB29) and a low sporulating isolate (CNVDB1) was compared on three types of culture media across six temperatures. A mycelium agar plug (6 mm in diameter) was placed in the centre of each 90 mm petri dish (containing 20 ml of agar) with the mycelia facing downwards. This was done for each isolate on ½ PDA, cornmeal agar (CMA) (17 g/L CMA and distilled water) and 5 % V8 agar. The cultures were incubated at 10, 15, 20, 25, 30 and 35 °C. Each unique condition

(isolate, media and temperature) contained five biological replicates. The diameter of each culture was measured on the horizontal and vertical axis, after four days of growth.

Statistical analysis

Data generated from growth analysis of isolate CNVDB1 and CNVDB29 was statistically analyzed using analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by a Least Square Means Differences Student's t-test using the JMP '9 software (p>0.05) (SAS Institute, Cary, North Carolina).

Enrichment for germinating cysts

Zoospores of isolate CNVDB29 were produced using an adjusted protocol of Chen and Zentmeyer (1970). Sporangia were produced by incubating multiple small 10 % V8 agar blocks (approximately 2 x 2 mm in size) containing a 3-day-old P. cinnamomi culture, in 5 % V8 broth (cleared V8 juice, 0.1 g/L CaCO₃, 20 mg/L B-sitosterol, distilled water). V8 agar plates contained 17 g/L agar in addition to the reagents present in V8 broth. After two days incubation under fluorescent light at 23 °C, the mycelia plugs were washed with three changes of distilled water and incubated under the same conditions in filtered river water until sporangia developed $(1\frac{1}{2} \text{ days})$. The river water was filtered twice through chromatography paper (MN260 Macherey-Nagel, Düren, Germany). Zoospore release was induced by washing the sporulating mycelia with two changes of distilled water at 4 °C. followed by incubation at 4 °C for 12 min. Zoospore release started approximately 1 hour later, while being incubated at 23 °C. The spores were harvested through a nylon sieve and counted with the Superior haemocytometer (Marienfeld Laboratory Glassware, Lauda-Königshofen, Germany). On average zoospore concentrations of 4x10⁴ spores/ml were obtained. To enrich for germinating cysts, zoospores were vigorously shaken for 2 min to induce encystment and incubated in the dark at 19 °C for approximately 90 min. Cysts and germinating cysts were harvested via centrifugation (10000 rpm at 4 °C for 5 min) in the Centrifuge 5810 R (Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany). Pellets were immediately frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -70 °C. Cysts and germinating cysts were photographed with the AxioCam MRc (Zeiss, Göttingen, Germany) coupled to the Axioskop microscope (Zeiss).

RNA extraction and quality assessment

Tri-Reagent (Ambion, Life technologies, Carlsbad, CA, USA) was used, according to the manufacturer's instructions, to obtain total RNA from cysts and germinating cysts. All RNA

samples were treated with DNase I enzyme (Fermentas, Life Sciences, Hanover, USA) and purified using the Qiagen RNeasy cleanup kit according to the manufacturer's instructions (Qiagen, Valencia, California, USA). RNA concentrations and OD 260/280 and 260/230 ratios were determined with the NanoDrop 2000 Spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific, Wilmington, USA). The final RNA quality, of the sample to be sequenced, was assessed using the Agilent 2100 Bioanalyzer (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, CA, USA).

Sequencing and cDNA library assembly

A cDNA library of cysts and germinating cysts of *P. cinnamomi* was prepared by the Beijing Genomics Institute (BGI) through fragmentation of mRNA enriched RNA (oligo dT-primers) and random hexamer primed cDNA synthesis. The paired end cDNA library was sequenced on the HiSeq2000 Illumina platform. BGI assembled reads into contigs using Trinity (Grabherr et al. 2011). Gaps between contigs from the same transcript were filled with the remaining reads and residual gaps then filled with N's to obtain unigenes. This was achieved by aligning unigene sequences with @blastdb via blastx (E-value $>1x10^5$). Accordingly, unigenes are sequences that contain minimal unassigned nucleotides and could not be extended on either side. The orientation and coding regions of unigenes were determined according to the best blast hit in the National Centre for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) non-redundant protein database, the Swiss protein database, Clusters of orthologous groups (COG) database and KEGG classes (in that order). ESTScan (Iseli et al. 1999) (http://estscan.sourceforge.net/) was used to predict the coding region and direction of unigenes in cases where the unigenes did not significantly align to any protein sequences in the mentioned databases. The depth of each unique was calculated by dividing the base number of mapped reads by the unigene sequence length. Unigene coverage was determined by the ratio of the base number on unigene covered by reads and the unigene sequence length.

Functional annotation

Unigenes were annotated using the blastx algorithm (E-value >1x10⁵) against the NCBI nonredundant protein database, the Swiss protein database, Clusters of orthologous groups database as well as the protein models predicted in the genomes of *P. infestans* (*Phytophthora infestans* Sequencing Project, Broad Institute of Harvard and MIT (http://www.broadinstitute.org/ downloaded February, 2013) and *P. cinnamomi* v1.0 (http://genome.jgi.doe.gov/Phyci1/Phyci1.home.html, downloaded March, 2013). Signal peptides were predicted in unigene amino acid sequences starting with methionine, using neural networks and Hidden Markov Models (HMM) (Nielsen and Krogh 1998) in SignalP v3.0 (Nielsen and Krogh 1998; Bendtsen et al. 2004; Emanuelsson et al. 2007) employing a Sprob cut-off: 0.7 (Kebdani et al. 2010). Sequences containing predicted transmembrane helices downstream of the signal peptide as predicted by TMHMM v2.0 default parameters (Krogh et al. 2001) were discarded.

The method described in Whisson et al. (2007) was used to identify putative RXLR sequences using Hidden Markov Models (HMM). The longest coding DNA sequence (CDS) was identified in each contig, allowing open ends, but not open starts to a CDS. Reg-ex was used to analyse the candidate sequences for the physical presence of an RXLR sequence (Arg-any amino acid-Leu-Arg). Putative RXLR proteins were compared to predicted RXLR effector genes from *P. infestans* (http://www.broadinstitute.org/ downloaded February, 2013), *P. sojae* (Wang et al. 2011) and *Hyaloperonospora arabidopsidis* (Cabral et al. 2011) via blastx analysis using cut-off values as in Tyler et al. (2006) and Jiang et al. (2008) (E- value >1x10⁸). Protein sequences were aligned with Mafft Version 7 (Katoh and Standley 2013), trimmed in MEGA 4 (Tamura et al. 2007) and visual outputs created with GeneDoc Version 2.7.000 (Nicholas et al. 1997).

RESULTS

Screening of the sporulation ability of P. cinnamomi isolates

Zoospore production in *P. cinnamomi* is known to be inconsistent. Numerous isolates (as listed in Table 1) were screened for their ability to produce high amounts of sporangia (resulting in higher amounts of zoospores) constantly. A species specific PCR, targeting the *LPV3* gene of *P. cinnamomi* (Kong et al. 2003), confirmed the identity of all twelve isolates that were assessed for sporulation ability (Figure 1). Isolate CNVDB29 produced the most sporangia (>16 sporangia per agar block) consistently across three independent experiments (Figure 2). Isolate CNVDB1 scored the lowest in the sporangia production screening, with a mean score of 0.25 and a standard deviation of 0.433. Isolate CNVDB29 was therefore selected to generate material for RNA-seq analysis.

Characterization of isolate CNVDB1 and CNVDB29 in terms of growth

The optimal temperature (as a measure of most growth after four days) was determined for isolate CNVDB1 and CNVDB29 at temperatures 10 to 35 °C. Isolate CNVDB1 was regularly used in laboratory experiments, requiring prolonged maintenance in culture. In contrast to this isolate CNVDB29 was freshly isolated from the field, six months prior to this study. Both isolate CNVDB1 and CNVDB29 grew the slowest at 10 °C and 35 °C on all culture media (Table 2). Isolate CNVDB1 grew the most at 25 or 30 °C after four days on all three nutritional media. The optimal temperature for isolate CNVDB29 was similar to that of isolate CNVDB1 on ½ PDA and CMA, but was lower (20 or 25 °C) on V8 agar. The optimal growth temperature differs between isolates when compared on the same nutritional media.

The effect of media constitution on the growth of both isolates was evaluated at 25 °C. Isolate CNVDB1 grew significantly slower on CMA than on ½ PDA at 25 °C, but did not differ significantly between culture media ½ PDA and V8 agar (Table 2). The growth rates of isolate CNVDB29 differed significantly between each type of nutritional media. The growth rate of isolate CNVDB1 was compared to isolate CNVDB29 on ½ PDA, CMA and V8 agar at 25 °C. Isolate CNVDB29 grew significantly slower than isolate CNVDB1 on ½ PDA at 25 °C, while CNVDB29 grew more rapidly than CNVDB1 on CMA agar. The growth rate did not differ significantly between the two isolates on V8 agar.

Morphological differences were observed between isolates CNVDB1 and CNVDB29 when compared on the same culture media. This difference in appearance between isolates was most prominent on ½ PDA and V8 agar (Figure 3). Isolate CNVDB1 presented with the expected rosette pattern, characteristic of *P. cinnamomi* on ½ PDA (Gerrettson-Cornell 1989), while isolate CNVDB29, grew in a white, dense, radial shape. Isolates CNVDB1 and CNVDB29 looked morphologically more similar on CMA, both growing in rosette patterns, but isolate CNVDB29 appeared whiter and more vigorous than isolate CNVDB1. On V8 agar, isolate CNVDB29 again seemed to grow more vigorous than isolate CNVDB1, forming bumps on the surface of the agar, while isolate CNVDB1 grew uniform in the bottom zone and on top of the agar. The hyphae of isolate CNVDB1 seemed slightly thinner and appeared more transparent than those of isolate CNVDB29 on V8 agar.

RNA extractions and quality assessment

High quality total RNA was extracted from cysts and germinating cysts of isolate CNVDB29 of *P. cinnamomi* (Figure 4). To meet the requirement of 40 μ g of total RNA required by BGI to allow for cDNA library construction, RNA from multiple experiments were pooled (Table 3).

The final concentrations of the subsets of pure RNA, as determined with the Nanodrop, ranged from 260 to 1500 ng/ μ l. The wavelength emission ratio's (both OD 260/280 and OD 260/230) of all subsamples were higher than 1.95. The final RNA library did not contain equal amounts of RNA from each biological replicate. An RNA integrity number (RIN) of 8.6 (>8) was assigned to the final RNA library that was used for cDNA library construction and sequencing (Table 4).

Sequencing and assembly of the cyst and germinating cyst cDNA library of *P. cinnamomi*

A cDNA library of the cyst and germinating cyst phase of *P. cinnamomi*, isolate CNVDB29, was sequenced on the Illumina HiSeq 2000 platform, generating 13 032 666 paired end reads (1 G data). From the 1 billion nucleotides sequenced, 0.01 % could not be assigned unambiguously (N percentage) with a Q20 value of 95.3 % (Table 5). This indicates that 95.3 % of the nucleotides sequenced have 99 % accuracy, with an error rate of 1 in a 100. Overlapping reads were *de novo* assembled into 225 049 contigs (Table 6). The majority of the contigs (67.21 %) were 100-200 nt in length (mean contig length = 213 nt, N50 = 257 nt) (Table 6 and Figure 5), which is consistent with the mean read length currently obtained with this sequencing technology (2 x 100 nt for a paired end library). Almost 10 % of the contigs were 400 nt or longer in length. In total 72 220 unigenes were identified in the dataset by combining contigs originating from the same transcript. Over 80 % of the unigenes were 100-500 nt in length (mean length = 386 nt, N50 = 391 nt) (Figure 6). Unigene coverage ranged from 4.86 % to 99.97 %, with 66 % of the unigenes having coverage of 90 % or more. Unigene depth ranged from 0.0549 to 6066.

Cyst and germinating cyst cDNA library annotation

Functional annotation based on protein sequence homology

Unigenes were annotated based on homology (E-value >1x10⁵) to protein sequences in publicly available databases (NCBI non-redundant protein database [Nr], Swiss protein database [Swiss]) and to protein models predicted in the genomes of *P. infestans* and *P. cinnamomi* (Figure 7). It is standard to use the Nr and Swiss databases to annotate sequence data of organisms lacking genomic data (as was the case when this project was initiated). The genome of *P. infestans* was utilized, as it represents a species closely related to *P. cinnamomi* and has been revised frequently since its release in 2009 (Haas et al.

2009). Of the 72 220 unigenes, 16.47 % could not be assigned a putative function as it did not share significant sequence homology with any proteins in the four databases (Table 7). The remaining unigenes showed homology to proteins in at least one database (68.5 % with Nr and Swiss proteins, 47.47 % with *P. infestans* proteins and 50.54 % with *P. cinnamomi* proteins) with some unigenes showing homology to unigenes from various databases (Figure 8). Approximately 22 745 unigenes showed homology to proteins in all three datasets (Nr and Swiss, *Pi* and *Pc* annotated datasets).

The unigenes showing homology to proteins in the non redundant protein database included only one unigene that showed homology to a gene originating from a *Phytophthora* species and one from *Pythium* (data not shown). Further investigation into the species highly represented in the Nr annotated unigene dataset revealed that approximately 42 % of the genera belonged to the domain bacteria and 8.7 % to the domain fungi (Figure 9). These unigenes (that do not show homology to *Phytophthora* proteins) were regarded as contaminant sequences (likely originating from other organisms present in the river water used to induce sporulation) and were not included in further analysis.

The remainder of the study focused on unigene sequences that showed homology to either *P. infestans* or *P. cinnamomi* protein sequences (37 534 unigenes) (Figure 8). A total of 8.7 % of these unigenes (3 254 unigenes) only showed homology to *P. cinnamomi* protein models and were not present in the *Pi* annotated dataset. The *Pc* annotated dataset provides confidence that transcripts originate from *P. cinnamomi*. The functional annotations indicated in the *Pi* annotated unigene dataset (representing 53 % of the unigenes), however was used to infer unigene function. This is because the *P. infestans* genome annotations are likely more reliable (revised multiple times) than those of the *P. cinnamomi* genome (which is only in its first version, has not been published and is based on homology to other *Phytophthora* proteins).

Each unigene does not represent a single gene of *P. cinnamomi*. Unigenes are only fragments of transcripts, as total RNA is fragmentized prior to cDNA synthesis to enable sequencing. Accordingly, many unigenes may originate from the same mRNA transcript, with multiple copies of identical mRNA transcripts in a sample (depending on gene expression levels). To estimate the amount of unique genes that were expressed in the cyst and germinating cysts sample, only a single representative of each unique protein identity (from the *Pi* annotated unigene dataset) was retained. A unique gene, in this study was defined as a unique protein identity, where numerous unigenes could correspond to a single protein ID based on protein homology. A total of 10 209 unigenes with unique annotations

(unique *Pi* protein identity numbers) remained. This included 80.42 % (7 707 unigenes) of the 9 583 core *Phytophthora* orthologous genes, predicted by Haas et al. (2009). Within the *Pi* annotated unigene dataset, only 6.3 % represented ribosomal subunit RNA and 36 % were hypothetical proteins.

Clusters of orthologous groups (COG) functional classification

The clusters of orthologous groups of proteins (COG) database provided functional annotations for 48.37 % of the 37 534 unigenes in the Pi and Pc annotated unigene datasets. Enrichment analysis divided the unigenes into 26 functional categories (Figure 10). The function of approximately 4.25 % of unigenes with homology to proteins in the COG database (771 unigenes) was unknown. Highly represented classes (excluding general function prediction only) included those involved in translation (21.73 %), post translational modification (10.24 %) and amino acid transport and metabolism (9.66 %). A total of 30.78 % of transcripts were dedicated to transport and metabolizing compounds (including amino acids, carbohydrates, lipids, nucleotides, coenzymes and inorganic ions). Unigenes involved in energy production and conversion were also abundant (7.4 %). Unigenes that play a role in replication and cell wall biogenesis (total of 1 871 unigenes) support the process that is associated with cysts germination. Functional categories that could potentially contribute to pathogenesis (1 457 unigenes) include signal transduction mechanisms (4.25 %), secretion (1.99 %) and defence mechanisms (1.25 %). The defence mechanism category mainly comprised of proteins involved in transport (215 unigenes). A single vancomycin resistance protein formed part of this category supporting Phytophthora resistance to vancomycin reported previously (Eckert and Tsao 1962).

Putative secreted proteins

Secreted proteins can be identified by the presence of a signal peptide in the N-terminal of a protein (SignalP v3.0 Sprob >0.7). The start codon (methione) could be identified in the predicted open reading frame of 2 245 of the 37 534 unigenes in the *Pi* and *Pc* annotated unigene datasets (Figure 7). Unigenes lacking a start codon were excluded from this analysis as we could not be confident that the unigene sequence represented the first 40 amino acids of proteins. A total of 113 unigenes contained a predicted signal peptide. Three of the unigenes containing predicted signal peptides were eliminated due to the presence of predicted transmembrane helices (TMH), suggesting that they will not be secreted but retained in cell membranes. Ninety eight unigenes had a function assigned based on homology to the *P. infestans* protein models and included nine conserved

hypothetical proteins and 16 unigenes that were identified as pathogenicity genes later in this study (as listed in Table 9). Some unigenes were only present in the *Pc* annotated unigene dataset (11 unigenes) and may be *P. cinnamomi* specific (includes Unigene12323, Unigene15167, Unigene19168, Unigene24069, Unigene32988, Unigene37984, Unigene40431, Unigene5155, Unigene54017, Unigene55798 and Unigene58247). Another 25 unigenes with a predicted signal peptide (lacking TMH) did not show homology to proteins in any of the databases (part of the 16.47 % unannotated unigenes in Table 7).

Potential RXLR effector genes

Computational methods were employed to identify putative RXLR-motif (Arg-any amino acid-Leu-Arg) containing transcripts from the longest CDS (containing a start codon) identified in each contig using HMM (Figure 7) (Whisson et al. 2007). The CDS used in this analysis depended on computational predictions considering nucleotide sequence, while the CDS used to define unigenes depended on sequence homology to existing predicted CDS in protein databases (identified by blastx analysis). As RXLR effector genes are expected to be under high selective pressure (frequently evolving), considering all potential CDS (regardless of homology to known proteins) is important. Therefore the longest CDS in each contig was considered for identification of putative RXLR proteins and not the identified unigene sequences. A total of 46 putative RXLR effector transcripts were identified, with 21 sequences harbouring a predicted signal peptide (Table 8). Five of the 46 sequences, although predicted by the HMM, did not contain an actual RXLR sequence. Four of the predicted RXLR transcripts did not show significant homology to proteins predicted in the *P. cinnamomi* genome (blastx E-value >1x10⁵).

Pathogenicity related genes identified from the cyst and germinating cyst cDNA library of *P. cinnamomi*

Specific pathogenicity candidate genes

The *Pi* annotated unigene dataset was manually screened for specific pathogenicity candidate genes as reported in the literature. To do this, the putative pathogenicity gene categories used in Torto-Alalibo et al. (2007) was adjusted (Table 9). The number of unigenes with annotations that fall within each category is indicated in column 2. As various unigenes (e.g. unigene 5 and 17) in some cases correspond to a single *Pi* protein identity number (e.g. PITG2648), we eliminated functional redundancy by removing unigenes with
identical annotations. Column 3 indicates the putative number of unique transcripts (without redundancy) that fall within a pathogenicity gene category.

The selection of pathogenicity unigenes depended on matching specific search terms (e.g. glucanase), to gene names in the *Pi* annotated unigene dataset. To ensure that all potential pathogenicity candidate unigenes were included, alternative names for some proteins were considered. In all instances proteins described as '–like' were included (e.g. Adhesin-like protein) together with the actual gene name (e.g. adhesin). Flocculation protein was incorporated under the category mucins and enolase under the category lyases. Cathepsin *Z* was included in the category cysteine proteases. The group representing protease inhibitors also contained ecotin and proteins with a Kazal-domain.

The most represented gene catagories were hydrolases, followed by genes involved in the protection against oxidative stress and detoxification (Table 9). Effector genes were also highly abundant, representing 85 unigenes. It is interesting that no cellulase enzymes were present in the *Pi* annotated unigene dataset. Closer investigation indicated that unigenes showing homology to cellulase enzymes in the Nr and Swiss databases were annotated as hydrolase-, glucanase- or glucosidase enzymes (that also have the ability to digest cellulose) in the *Pi* annotated dataset. Unigenes annotated as glutathione synthase, ubiquitin proteases and cell surface glycoproteins were absent. A total of 2 392 pathogenicity related unigenes were identified from the *P. infestans* annotated unigene dataset.

RXLR effector gene homology

Analysis using the blastx algorithm (E-value >1x10⁸) revealed four sequences with significant protein sequence homology to known RXLR proteins of *P. sojae* and *P. infestans* (Table 10). There was no significant homology to any of the 17 predicted RXLR proteins of *Hyaloperonospora arabidopsidis* (Gäum.) (Cabral et al. 2011). Closer analysis of the aligned protein sequences (Figure 11) and the alignment statistics (amino acid similarity >70 %) provides a better indication of protein similarity. Transcript C14063 and C15073 represented the full length of the corresponding best protein hit (with amino acid similarity < 70 %). The sequence C31843 covered 50 % of PsSNEL2 (83 % similarity) and C83210 covered 71 % of PsAvh448 (60 % similarity) and thus do not represent the full length transcript. C31843 (only 95 amino acids in length) shared 100 % identical amino acids with Phyci1-16230 that is 158 amino acids in length (predicted protein from the *P. cinnamomi* genome) and may represent the full length transcript of C31843. Phyci1-16230 and SNEL2 shared 66 % identical- and 71 % similar amino acids (with 16 % gaps).

The percentages gaps present in the alignments are in some cases accounted for by stretches of amino acids present in one sequence but absent in the other. For example, in the alignment of C31843 to SNEL2 from *P. sojae* (an ortholog of PsSNEL1), a stretch of 20 consecutive amino acids, present in SNEL2 and absent in C31843, accounts for the 22 % non-identical amino acids (Figure11 C). In a similar way, C83210 had two stretches of 8 and 10 amino acids respectively, that is present in the *P. cinnamomi* contig, but absent from PsAvh448 (the best blast hit in *P. sojae*) (Figure 11 D). This could result from insertions, deletions or alternative splicing events within the different species.

The protein models predicted in the *P. cinnamomi* genome were not always the same as the open reading frame (ORF) identified from the transcriptomic data. For example, Phyci1-172110 (predicted from the *P. cinnamomi* genome), does not contain the first 58 amino acids present in the reading frame of C15073 and accordingly the RXRL-motif is not present in Phyci1-172110 either (Figure 11 B).

DISCUSSION

In this study more than 2 000 pathogenicity genes were identified from the *in vitro* preinfection structures of the hemi-biotrophic pathogen, *P. cinnamomi*. The cyst and germinating cyst dataset was filtered to eliminate contaminant sequences by selecting genes with homology to *Phytophthora* species (*P. infestans* and *P. cinnamomi*). The resulting 37 534 unigenes were used in further analysis (from which 8.7 % were only present in *P. cinnamomi* and not in *P. infestans*). Pathogenicity unigenes identified in *P. cinnamomi* included unigenes with homology to gene families implicated in pathogenesis in the literature (>2 000 unigenes), 110 putative secreted unigenes (containing a signal peptide and lacking a TMH) and 46 unigenes with homology to protease inhibitors, nine necrosis inducing *Phytophthora* proteins, four small cysteine rich proteins and various cell wall degrading enzymes.

This is the first large scale transcription analysis of cysts and germinating cysts of *P. cinnamomi*. Reads were assembled, using an assemble-then-align approach as illustrated for Illumina sequence data from the *Phytophthora - Rubus idaeus* (red raspberry) interaction (Ward et al. 2012). This approach surpasses the problem of mapping reads that contain

exon-exon boundaries back to a genome. Repeating the assembly using the genome of *P. cinnamomi* (recently made available, but not published) as reference sequence, may improve the quality of the assembly and accuracy of predicted protein models from this dataset. Accordingly, both *de novo* assembly and assembly to a reference genome provide valuable information.

The increased sensitivity and high through-put provided by RNA-seq technology (Strickler et al. 2012), enabled the identification of 34 280 unigenes (showing homology to *P. infestans* protein models) representing 10 209 unique transcripts from 72 220 unigenes. This provides a more comprehensive overview of the cyst and germinating cyst developmental stage than the few thousand expressed sequence tags (maximum 2 500 ESTs) obtained in similar single stage transcriptomic studies, in the past (Qutob et al. 2000; Škalamera et al. 2004; Krajaejun et al. 2011). This approach allowed the identification of low abundant transcripts, which included some pathogenicity genes reported to be expressed at low levels during cyst germination in other studies (e.g. RXLR effector genes and polygalactorunases (Ye et al. 2011)).

Previous infection studies performed *in planta* reported very low- to no retrieval of pathogen derived transcripts after sequencing, due to low pathogen mass relative to plant tissue in the sample (Beyer et al. 2001; Chen et al. 2011). Studying the pre-infection structure (germinating cysts) to gain insight into infection related genes has proved helpful in surpassing this problem (Shan et al. 2004; Grenville-Briggs et al. 2005; Guo et al. 2006; Chen et al. 2011). Germinating cysts represent a critical structure in oomycete infection and are accompanied by large scale transcriptional reprogramming, including upregulation of infection related genes (Chen et al. 2011; Ye et al. 2011; Chen et al. 2013). Accordingly, the transcriptome of the cyst and germinating cyst stage of *P. cinnamomi* was investigated with the aim of identifying pathogenicity related genes.

The isolate (CNVDB29) used in this study was selected because it produced the most zoospores consistently and grew vigorously in culture. The growth rates of this high sporulating isolate (CNVDB29) were compared to a low sporulating isolate (CNVDB1) on three different media across various temperatures. The cardinal temperatures for both isolate CNVDB1 and CNVDB29 were consistent with the temperatures reported in the literature (minimum 4-16 °C, optimal 20-32.5 °C, maximum 30-36 °C) (Zentmyer et al. 1976; Gerrettson-Cornell 1989), although the optimal temperature of isolate CNVDB29 was slightly lower (25 °C) on V8 agar than isolate CNVDB1. The two isolates responded differently to various nutritional contents and also appeared morphologically different especially on ½

PDA. This is consistent with Zentmyer et al. (1976) that reported varying growth rates (ranging from 41 – 85 mm after four days incubation on at 25 °C on PDA) between isolates on the same media. The authors also noted that isolates grew at different rates in response to different nutrition content. Isolate CNVDB1 produced less zoospores and grew less vigorously on V8 agar than isolate CNVDB29. Prolonged maintenance of an isolate on media in the laboratory with repeated transfers can decrease vigour, virulence and especially ability to sporulate in fungi (Nakasone et al. 2004). The same could be true for oomycetes as may be the case for isolate CNVDB1 which was regularly used in laboratory experiments.

Isolate CNVDB29 was selected to produce the first cyst and germinating cyst cDNA library of *P. cinnamomi* with the aim of identifying pathogenicity related transcripts. Functional enrichment analysis of the cyst and germinating cyst dataset of *P. cinnamomi* indicated that genes involved in metabolism (30.78 %), translation, posttranslational modification and protein turnover (31.97 %) and energy production and consumption (7.4 %) were most abundantly in this developmental stage. A study by Chen et al. (2011), found similar dominant functional classes during functional enrichment analysis of a pooled infection related subtractive hybridization library consisting of genes enriched in *Phytophthora cactorum* (Lebert and Cohn) J. Schröt. germinating cysts and strawberry infection. Transcripts associated with the transcription process were highly represented in the *P. cactorum* study (9.5 %), reflecting the similar 6.2 % of transcription related genes present in the *P. cinnamomi* cyst and germinating cyst library. In a similar way *P. sojae* metabolism, protein synthesis, transcription process and energy production related transcripts were most abundant in soya bean-infected EST libraries (Qutob et al. 2000; Chen et al. 2007).

The transcriptomic dataset was specifically searched for effector molecules as their function in pathogenicity in oomycetes are well recorded (Kamoun 2006). We identified various apoplastic effectors (acting extracellularly) expressed in the germinating cyst phase of *P. cinnamomi*. Protease inhibitors (representing 20 unigenes) are employed by many pathogens as a counter defence to host enzyme attack (Misas-Villamil and van der Hoorn 2008). Some protease inhibitors, previously reported in *Phytophthora* EST data include Kazal-like proteinase- and protease inhibitors (Panabières et al. 2005; Torto-Alalibo et al. 2007; Raffaele et al. 2010; Reena et al. 2010) and Kazal-like serine protease inhibitors (Le Berre et al. 2008). The Kazal-like serine protease P69B subtilase of tomato, for example, is targeted by protease inhibitor EP110 from *P. infestans* (Tian et al. 2005). Orthologs of this specific serine protease inhibitor was identified in *Phytophthora ramorum* Werres, De Cock & Man in't Veld (Meijer et al. 2006) and *Phytophthora palmivora* (E.J. Butler) E.J. Butler (Chinnapun et al. 2009) and is also present in this dataset from *P. cinnamomi*. Some

protease inhibitors are species specific, like EPIC1 and EPIC2 that seem to be restricted to *P. infestans* (Tian et al. 2007). These inhibitors target the Rcr3 protease from tomato (Song et al. 2009). In support of this, both EPIC1 and 2 were absent from the *P. cinnamomi* dataset. However, EPIC 3, 4, 5 and 6, reported in other *Phytophthora* species (Tian et al. 2004; Tian et al. 2007) were also detected in this study.

Other apoplastic effectors identified from *P. cinnamomi* include 20 elicitin transcripts. Elicitins are devided into 17 clades (Jiang et al. 2006) and induce a hypersensitive response (HR) in some plant species, specifically the *Solanaceae* and *Cruciferae* families (Kamoun et al. 1993a; Kamoun et al. 1993b; Bonnet et al. 1996). They are characterized by a signal peptide followed by a 98 amino acid conserved elicitor domain (with six cysteine residues in a specifically spaced pattern) in the N-terminal of the protein (Kamoun 2006). The exact role of elicitins in pathogenicity remains elusive, but their ability to bind sterols (Vauthrin et al. 1999; Yousef et al. 2011) suggests a general role as lipid-binding proteins. One of the best characterized elicitins is INF1 from *P. infestans* that acts as a PAMP and induces HR in tobacco plants (Kamoun et al. 1998). Several other studies exploited the avirulence function of INF1 to screen the ability of other effectors to suppress host defence responses (Bos et al. 2006; Gilroy et al. 2011; Yaeno et al. 2011; Cheng et al. 2012). None of the *P. cinnamomi* unigenes showed homology to INF1.

A total of 47 unigenes that aid in pathogen adhesion were identified. This included seven cellulose binding and elicitor lectin proteins (CBEL), 10 adhesins and 30 mucin transcripts. CBEL proteins, found in the cell walls of oomycete species (Séjalon-Delmas et al. 1997), can bind to cellulose components of the host cell wall (Gaulin et al. 2002). It also acts as a PAMP, as the cellulose binding domain of CBEL is recognized by the host surveillance system and leads to activation of the HR in tobacco plants (Gaulin et al. 2006). *Phytophthora cinnamomi* cyst attachment is further enhanced by adhesive material, containing adhesin proteins (Robold and Hardham 2005), that is secreted by the spore after incystment (Gubler et al. 1989; Hardham and Gubler 1990). The data generated in this study support these previous reports from *P. cinnamomi*, as 40 unigenes corresponding to adhesin and mucin proteins were expressed during *in vitro* cyst germination in this study.

The two main groups of proposed cytoplasmic effectors include the RXLR effector family and the Crinkling and necrosis-inducing (CRN) protein family (Haas et al. 2009). From a single developmental stage we identified 46 putative RLXR effectors. This is the first report of RXLR effectors in *P. cinnamomi* and is likely an underestimation, since it was identified from a transcriptomic library (and not the genome) and could only consider sequences starting

with methione. This class of cytoplasmic effectors are characterized by the sequence Argany amino acid-Leu-Arg (RXLR) within the first 70 amino acids of the mature protein. The RXLR-motif was previously thought to be responsible for effector translocation into host cells, but the role of this motif is currently under debate (Ellis and Dodds 2011). RXLR effectors are directly associated with avirulence as their recognition by host resistance proteins activates effector-triggered immunity (ETI). Examples include P. infestans Avr3a and Avr4 recognition by potato resistance proteins R3a (Bos et al. 2006) and R4 (Van Poppel et al. 2009) respectively and P. sojae Avr1b recognition by soya bean resistance protein Rps1b (Dou et al. 2008). Positive selection, to avoid resistance gene recognition, is evident in differential recognition of Avr gene alleles as seen in Avr3a of the P. infestanspotato interaction (Armstrong et al. 2005) and for Avr3b in the P. sojae-soya bean pathosystem (Dong et al. 2011). RXLR effector genes enhance disease susceptibility by suppressing host defence responses in various ways. Phytophthora sojae effector Avh331 influences mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) mediated defence pathways in Arabidopsis by disrupting MAPK signalling and suppressing downstream resistance gene activation (Cheng et al. 2012). Avr3a from P. infestans suppresses INF1-induced cell death (Bos et al. 2006) by stabilizing host ubiquitin E3-ligase CMPG1, required for INF1-induced cell death (Bos et al. 2010).

Except for an N-terminal signal peptide and the RXLR-motif, little sequence conservation remains between members of the RLXR family and RXLR orthologs and paralogs (Jiang et al. 2008; Haas et al. 2009). This lack of similarity accommodates their diverse functions (dependent on the C-terminal amino acid sequence (Win et al. 2007; Jiang et al. 2008)) and most likely result from positive selection to remain undetected (Tyler et al. 2006; Win et al. 2007; Jiang et al. 2008; Qutob et al. 2009). For this reason it is difficult to define RXLR gene orthologs. Jiang et al. (2008) reported as low as 30 % amino acid identify between paralogs in P. sojae and P. ramorum and on average 70 % amino acid identity between 1 000 randomly selected P. sojae RXLR proteins to the most similar P. ramorum protein. Based on this, the P. cinnamomi contig C31843 is suggested as an ortholog of the suppressor of necrosis 1-like protein 2 (SNEL2) (Wang et al. 2011) from P. sojae (78 % identical amino acids, with C31843 representing 50 % of the hit sequence). The full length protein predicted in the P. cinnamomi genome that corresponds to C31843 (jgi-Phyci1-16230) shares 66 % amino acid with PsSNEL1 (71 % similarity), which further supports this suggestion. SNEL2 was named a paralog of PsSNEL1, which in turn is an ortholog of suppressor of necrosis 1 protein (SNE1) of *P. infestans* (Wang et al. 2011). SNE1 was shown to be localized in the host nucleus (tomato) and has the ability to suppress cell death induced by effector recognition or pathogen induced necrosis during the necrotrophic phase of P. infestans

(Kelley et al. 2010). It will be interesting to see if the protein produced from C31843 is indeed an ortholog from SNE1 and functionally similar. Unigene sequences do not represent full length transcripts, but in this case only the N-terminal region of each transcript. As great sequence divergence is expected in the C-terminal of RXLR proteins, comparison of full length protein sequences is expected to share even less amino acids with other RXLR proteins. Cluster analysis (including construction of phylogenetic gene trees) and evaluation of synteny between genomic regions (where the genes are located) should be considered before confirming any of the RXLR genes identified from *P. cinnamomi* as orthologs.

A total of 30 unigenes with homology to Crinkling- and necrosis-inducing proteins (CRN) were found in *P. cinnamomi*. The presence of the characteristic LFLAK motif (Leu-Phe-Leu-Ala-Lys) (Win et al. 2007; Haas et al. 2009) needs to be determined before the identity of the related unigenes can be confirmed. This can be achieved by employing the HMM developed by Haas et al. (2009) together with the pipeline developed by Stam et al. (2013) to identify CRN proteins in *Phytophthora capsici* Leonian. This cytoplasmic effector group was originally identified as elicitors in tomato (Torto et al. 2003) and CRN members of *P. sojae* and *P. capsici* have since been implicated in suppression of host defences (Liu et al. 2010; Chen et al. 2013). Unlike RXLR effectors that seem to be restricted to biotrophic and hemibiotrophic pathogens, the CRN effector family is expanded in both hemi-biotrophic and necrotrophic oomycete pathogens (Stam et al. 2013). Characterization of *P. capsici* CRN effectors indicated that most CRN domains do not elicit cell death in plants, but their regulated expression patterns and localization to the host nucleus suggest that they are functionally important during infection even if not directly in pathogenesis (Stam et al. 2013).

Except for effector molecules, unigenes representing other infection related gene families were also investigated. Necrosis- and ethylene- inducing proteins (NIPs) induce cell death in the host as part of the infection strategy (Bae et al. 2006) and is present in oomycetes, fungi and bacteria (Fellbrich et al. 2002). The *P. cinnamomi* dataset contained nine unigenes corresponding to the necrosis-inducing *Phytophthora* protein 1 (NPP1) that was first identified in *Phytophthora parasitica* Dastur (Fellbrich et al. 2002). Pathogens are divided into three categories based on their lifestyle. A biotrophic pathogen feeds of living plant tissue, a necrotroph kills its host and lives off necrotic material, while a hemi-biotrophic pathogen first infects a living host and then induces necrosis as it enters the necrotrophy to necrotrophy in hemi-biotrophic pathogens, as it is expressed during late infection of the *P. sojae*-soya bean interaction (Qutob et al. 2002; Ye et al. 2011). This expression pattern of NLPs can be exploited to serve as a marker for the switch between biotrophy and

necrotrophy (Kelley et al. 2010). *Phytophthora cinnamomi* was first defined as a necrotroph, but has also been described as a hemi-biotropic pathogen as it can colonise symptomless host tissue (Davison et al. 1994; Hüberli et al. 2000; Cahill et al. 2008). Shearer and Crane (2012) argued that *P. cinnamomi* does not fit into either of the defined trophic categories, but has alternating biotrophic and necrotrophic phases depending on environmental conditions. *In planta* expression profiling of the NIPs identified in the *P. cinnamomi* dataset may shed light on the switch between trophic phases in *P. cinnamomi*, together with investigation of notable changes in pathogen metabolism that is associated with each phase.

Plant pathogens secrete enzymes directed to break down components of the plant cell wall (Have et al. 2002). The cell wall serves as a physical barrier for pathogen entry, tissue penetration and colonization and is primarily made up of cellulose, hemi-cellulose and pectin (Carpita and Gibeaut 1993). We identified over 900 hydrolytic enzymes transcribed in the P. cinnamomi cyst and germinating cyst phase. Enzymes that break down the primary cell wall include polygalactorunases, cellulases, glucanases and gucosidases. No cellulase enzymes were identified in the *P. cinnamomi* library. Unigenes that showed homology to cellulase enzymes in the Nr and Swiss databases were however annotated as hydrolase-, glucanaseor glucosidase enzymes (that also has the ability to digest cellulose) in the Pi annotated dataset. Secretion of enzymes that break down cellulose by oomycete species is interesting, as it is the main component of their own cell wall (Hardham et al. 1994). Cutin, that forms part of the plant cuticle, is degraded by cutinase enzymes (representing three unigenes in the P. cinnamomi dataset). Further, three chitinases were present in the dataset. Since chitin is not present in plants, these enzymes may be directed at competing or antagonistic fungi which have cell walls that mainly consist of chitin (Bowman and Free 2006).

Discovery of novel or species specific transcripts is not possible with a homology based annotation approach. More than 2 000 unigenes (present in the *Pc* annotated unigene dataset) did not show homology to proteins in public available databases or the *P. infestans* genome (Figure 9). These unigenes may represent transcripts that are unique to *P. cinnamomi*. *Phytophthora cinnamomi* specific pathogenicity genes, especially effector genes, are interesting candidates for further investigation as they may be responsible for its wide host range. Identification of conserved motifs within full length transcripts may prove a more useful approach in characterizing *P. cinnamomi* specific transcripts than a homology based approach. A further 9 805 unigenes (16.47 % of predicted unigenes) did not show homology to any proteins in the four databases considered (including the *P. cinnamomi* genome) (Table 7). This may be explained by incorrect assembly and prediction of CDS of

the *P. cinnamomi* transcriptomic or genomic data, although this cannot account for the complete set of unannotated unigenes. Large amounts of transcripts identified by RNA-seq analysis in other studies, with available genomes, identified novel exons that mapped to unannotated regions of the genome (Cloonan et al. 2008; Morin et al. 2008; Mortazavi A et al. 2008). Accordingly, the large amount of unannotated unigenes in the *P. cinnamomi* library may represent CDS that have not been identified previously or even other types of RNA (e.g. miRNA).

Signal peptides were predicted in 110 unigenes (lacking TMH) that showed homology to proteins models from *P. infestans* and *P. cinnamomi*. Unigene sequences do not represent full length transcripts and hence some of the unigenes with predicted signal peptides may contain TMH in the region that was not sequenced (retaining the protein in membranes). Any secreted protein has the potential to act as a pathogenicity protein, as they are able to leave the pathogen to directly interact with host proteins. A total of 11 unigenes, harbouring signal peptides, may potentially be specific to *P. cinnamomi* and the function of a further 9 signal peptide-containing unigenes is unknown (conserved hypothetical proteins). Further investigation is required to determine if they are pathogenicity factors.

The *P. cinnamomi* transcriptomic library will make a significant contribution to the available molecular tools to study *P. cinnamomi* in the future. The experimental approach used in this study, however, had numerous shortcomings. A number of P. cinnamomi isolates produced variable amounts of zoospores inconsistently. This forced us to produce spores in a nonsterile system, leading to the presence of a large amount of non-Phytophthora transcripts in the dataset. Contaminant sequences were successfully eliminated from the P. cinnamomi dataset through bioinformatic filtering. Due to the nature of the sample constitution in this study specifically (pooling total RNA from multiple experiments), we could not utilize this data to capture gene expression levels, which is one of the main advantages offered by RNA-seq With the P. cinnamomi genome recently made available, differential gene analysis. expression analysis in planta will enable a better understanding of pathogenesis in the future. RNA-seq technology has transformed the field of transcriptome analysis, but there is still room for improvement. The Illumina sequencing platform still only produces short reads, introducing bias as the RNA or cDNA needs to be fragmented during library preparation (Wang et al. 2009; Strickler et al. 2012). Short reads also complicate assembly of repeat rich regions, making it difficult to determine if the reads result from abundant transcripts or from cDNA amplification (Wang et al. 2009). The future of RNA-seq will focus on enabling strand specific libraries (which are laborious and inefficient at the moment) and increasing the accuracy and depth of the library by combining long read 454 technology with short read

Illumina libraries (Wang et al. 2009). The *P. cinnamomi* dataset was annotated with a homology based approach which did not allow the identification of novel transcripts. This dataset, however still holds the potential to identify novel transcripts by identifying conserved motifs within unigenes lacking significant homology to known proteins.

CONCLUSION

This is the first study that investigated pathogenicity genes in *P. cinnamomi*. Using RNA-seq and a *de novo* assembly approach, we generated the first transcriptomic library available for *P. cinnamomi*. We successfully identified over 2 000 pathogenicity unigenes from the cyst and germinating cyst phase that included genes similar to those implicated in pathogenicity in other *Phytophthora* species. Among the unigenes identified were a range of effector genes (including RXLR effectors) that serve as good candidate genes for further investigation. The transcriptomic data generated in this study, together with *P. cinnamomi* genomic data, is a valuable tool that can be utilized to investigate *P. cinnamomi* genes *in planta* and to study alternative splicing within transcripts. This information serves as a basis to start unravelling *P. cinnamomi* phytopathology.

Acknowledgements

The Beijing Genomics Institute constructed the cDNA library (from total RNA generated by us), completed the standard bioinformatic analysis including library quality assessment, read assembly, CDS prediction and unigene annotation to the NCBI Non-redundant protein database. Prof. Paul Birch and Dr. Remco Stam (The James Hutton Institute, Scotland), predicted putative RXLR proteins from contigs generated by BGI. This work was supported by funding from the National Research Foundation THRIP Grant TP 2011060300010, The Hans Merensky Foundation and Westfalia.

TABLES

Isolate ID	Host	Root/Soil	Location	Farm
CNVDB1	Persea americana	Unknown	Tzaneen, Limpopo, SA	Unknown
CNVDB5	Persea americana	Unknown	Unknown, SA	Unknown
CNVDB18	Persea americana	Unknown	Tzaneen, Limpopo, SA	Westfalia Block 1
CNVDB19	Persea americana	Roots	Tzaneen, Limpopo, SA	Westfalia Block 1
CNVDB27	Persea americana	Roots	Tzaneen, Limpopo, SA	Westfalia Test Block
CNVDB29	Persea americana	Roots	Tzaneen, Limpopo, SA	Westfalia Test Block
CNVDB32	Persea americana	Roots	Tzaneen, Limpopo, SA	Theuns Botha
CNVDB34	Persea americana	Soil	Tzaneen, Limpopo, SA	Theuns Botha
CNVDB39	Persea americana	Soil	Tzaneen, Limpopo, SA	Theuns Botha
CNVDB40	Persea americana	Soil	Tzaneen, Limpopo, SA	Francois Voster
CNVDB41	Persea americana	Roots	Tzaneen, Limpopo, SA	Francois Voster
CNVDB43	Persea americana	Unknown	Tzaneen, Limpopo, SA	Francois Voster
CA C 11 AC 1				

Table 1. Phytophthora cinnamomi isolates used in this study.

SA – South Africa

Table 2. Growth (mm) of *Phytophthora cinnamomi* isolate CNVDB1 and CNVDB29 on three different nutrition media after four days incubation at temperatures ranging from 10 °C to 35 °C.

Isolate	Medium	10 °C	15 °C	20 °C	25 °C#	30 °C	35 °C
CNVDB1	½ PDA *	14.15	26.1	38.75	55.6ª	53.2	6.7
	CMA**	12.15	22.9	37.55	52.6 ^b	59.55	6.15
	V8***	13.05	32.9	46.15	54.45 ^{ab}	55	6.25
CNVDB29	½ PDA *	13.75	20.95	28.75	37.4 ^c	40.75	6.45
	CMA**	11.2	17.65	36.8	55.45°	61.3	6.5
	V8***	13.75	33.15	55.1	52.95 ^b	44.8	6.65

* ½ Potato dextrose agar ** Cornmeal agar ***Vegetable juice agar

[#] Analysis of variance, followed by a Least Square Means Differences Student's t-test were performed separately on samples incubated at 25 °C. Growth measurements containing the same letters do not differ significantly (P = 0.05).

Biological	Volume	RNA	OD	OD	
replicate	(µl)	concentration	260/280	260/230	
		(ng/µl)			
1	9	1500.9	2.16	2.31	
2 a	9.56	784.4	2.17	2.21	
2 b	8	263.0	2.15	1.95	
3 a	11.77	1299.9	2.19	2.20	
3 b	8	432.7	2.13	2.24	
Total	46.33	903.8			

Table 3. Quality and quantity of subsets of purified total RNA from cysts and germinating cysts of *Phytophthora cinnamomi* isolate CNVDB29, pooled for cDNA library construction.

Table 4. RNA quality of the cyst and germinating cyst library of *Phytophthora cinnamomi* isolate CNVDB29 as determined by the Agilent 2100 software.

	Concentration	Volume	Total	RIN *	28S:18S	OD	OD
	(ng/µl)	(µI)	mass			260/280	260/230
			(ng)				
RNA	375.0	73	27.375	8.6	1.4	2.13	1.6
Isolate							
CNVDB29							
*RNA integrity	number						

*RNA integrity number

Table	5.	The	quality	of	the	sequenced	cDNA	library	of	Phytophthora	cinnamomi	cysts	and
germiı	natir	ng cys	sts, isola	te C	ONVE	DB29.							

Sample	Total	Total	Q20	Ν	GC
	Reads	Nucleotides (nt)	percentage	percentage	percentage
Cyst and germinating cyst library	13 032 666	1 172 939 940	95.30 %	0.01 %	46.26 %

 Table 6. Quality and contig length distribution of the cyst and germinating cyst cDNA library of

 Phytophthora cinnamomi.

	100-200 nt	200-300 nt	300-400 nt	400- 500 nt	>500 nt	N50[1]	Mean	All contigs
Number of contigs	151 248	34 598	17 635	8 137	13 431	257	213	225 049
Percentage of contigs	67.21 %	15.37 %	7.84 %	3.62 %	5.97 %	-	-	-

Table 7. Number of unigenes from the *Phytophthora cinnamomi* cyst and germinating cyst transcriptomic dataset that showed significant homology to proteins in protein databases as indicated (E-value $>1x10^5$).

	Total	Nr*	Swiss**	<i>P. infestans</i> protein models [§]	<i>P. cinnamomi</i> protein models [#]	No hits***
Number of unigenes	72 220	47 330	38 364	34 280	36 500	9 805
Percentage unigenes with significant blastx hit (%)	-	65.54	53.12	47.47	50.54	16.47

* NCBI non-redundant protein database

** Swiss protein database

[§] Phytophthora infestans Sequencing Project, Broad Institute of Harvard and MIT (http://www.broadinstitute.org/)

http://genome.jgi.doe.gov/Phyci1/Phyci1.home.html

*** no hits in Nr, Swiss, Pi protein models and Pc protein models

Table 8. Putative RXLR effector transcripts from the cyst and geminating cyst library of *Phytophthora cinnamomi* with the best protein match from the *P. cinnamomi* genome indicated, as determined through blastx analysis (E-value > $1x10^5$). The presence of a signal peptide (SP) and actual RXLR sequence is indicated.

Contig	SP	RXLR motif	E-value	Bit score	Protein ID of best blast hit
Contig1990	Yes	Yes	0	649.82	jgi-Phyci1-116704
Contig3889	No	Yes	0	730.32	jgi-Phyci1-241851
Contig14564	No	No	4.64E-139	489.57	jgi-Phyci1-88880
Contig8139	Yes	Yes	3.06E-135	477.25	jgi-Phyci1-83483
Contig1480	No	Yes	1.43E-127	451.82	jgi-Phyci1-253206
Contig22794	Yes	No	6.83E-124	440.65	jgi-Phyci1-219078
Contig38826	No	Yes	1.97E-96	347.82	jgi-Phyci1-113905
Contig2006	No	Yes	1.37E-92	334.72	jgi-Phyci1-91296
Contig31644	Yes	Yes	4.66E-89	323.17	jgi-Phyci1-359507
Contig12983	No	Yes	3.76E-82	300.44	jgi-Phyci1-184564
Contig14063*	Yes	Yes	2.64E-79	290.04	jgi-Phyci1-30885
Contig9909	No	No	2.22E-68	253.45	jgi-Phyci1-19419
Contig29027	No	Yes	8.97E-68	252.29	jgi-Phyci1-92480
Contig17530	Yes	Yes	9.26E-66	245.36	jgi-Phyci1-292291
Contig2921	Yes	Yes	1.86E-64	240.74	jgi-Phyci1-500310
Contig5149	No	Yes	3.24E-64	240.35	jgi-Phyci1-509188
Contig33937	Yes	Yes	9.67E-61	228.02	jgi-Phyci1-374529
Contig28374	No	Yes	6.68E-59	221.86	jgi-Phyci1-85009
Contig46416	No	Yes	5.49E-56	212.23	jgi-Phyci1-400789
Contig33615	Yes	Yes	1.39E-55	210.3	jgi-Phyci1-80513
Contig15073*	Yes	Yes	1.84E-50	194.13	jgi-Phyci1-172110
Contig170656	No	Yes	2.70E-50	192.59	jgi-Phyci1-91700
Contig14204	Yes	Yes	3.94E-46	180.26	jgi-Phyci1-232994
Contig17531	Yes	Yes	7.27E-46	179.1	jgi-Phyci1-292291
Contig66803	Yes	Yes	3.52E-42	165.62	jgi-Phyci1-557761
Contig19961	No	Yes	6.90E-42	165.24	jgi-Phyci1-20391
Contig43424	No	Yes	7.59E-36	145.98	jgi-Phyci1-85378
Contig33954	No	Yes	1.85E-35	143.28	jgi-Phyci1-214852
Contig83210*	Yes	Yes	1.90E-32	133.26	jgi-Phyci1-246465
Contig81356	Yes	Yes	2.46E-32	132.88	jgi-Phyci1-89800
Contig129865	Yes	No	8.93E-30	124.41	jgi-Phyci1-23225
Contig5551	Yes	Yes	1.50E-29	123.63	jgi-Phyci1-442085
Contig2634	No	Yes	7.69E-29	121.32	jgi-Phyci1-290439
Contig19412	No	Yes	4.26E-26	112.46	jgi-Phyci1-274179
Contig17839	No	Yes	9.96E-26	112.85	jgi-Phyci1-7143
Contig2637	No	Yes	8.18E-23	101.29	jgi-Phyci1-290439
Contig84507	Yes	Yes	3.81E-20	92.43	jgi-Phyci1-381040
Contig118237	No	No	1.15E-13	70.86	jgi-Phyci1-95101
Contig31843*	Yes	Yes	4.82E-12	65.47	jgi-Phyci1-16230

Contig78872	No	Yes	2.70E-10	59.69	jgi-Phyci1-492221
Contig112596	No	Yes	7.83E-10	58.15	jgi-Phyci1-97937
Contig146670	No	Yes	2.25E-09	56.61	jgi-Phyci1-7055
Contig57984 **	Yes	Yes	0.04	33.88	jgi-Phyci1-86540
Contig82707 **	Yes	Yes	0.23	30.03	jgi-Phyci1-106207
Contig17241 **	No	Yes	0.67	28.49	jgi-Phyci1-91991
Contig145768 **	No	Yes	5.76	25.41	jgi-Phyci1-24980

* contigs with significant homology to known RXLR effector proteins

** contigs not showing significant homology to protein models predicted in the genome of P. cinnamomi

Table 9. Unigenes with a putative role in *Phytophthora cinnamomi* pathogenicity. Pathogenicity unigenes were identified from the *Phytophthora infestans* protein model annotated unigene dataset.*

Putative pathogenicity unigenes **	Number of	Number of unique <i>Pi</i> ID
	unigenes	numbers
Adhesion	47	10
CBEL protein	7	3
Adhesins	10	3
Mucins	30	4
Hydrolases	978	311
Hydrolases	236	80
Serine proteases	179	63
Cysteine protease/proteinases	120	26
Serine carboxypeptidases	3	1
Ubiquitin proteases	0	0
Cutinases	3	2
Esterases	179	58
Lyases	136	27
Glucosidases	53	21
Glucanases	55	24
Polygalacturonases	11	8
Cellulases	0	0
Chitinases	3	1
Inhibitors of proteases	20	11
Protease inhibitors	20	11
Effectors	85	60
RXLR effector genes	26	20
Elicitins and elicitin-like	20	13
Crinkling and necrosis-inducing proteins	30	22
Necrosis-inducing Phytophthora protein 1	9	6
Small cysteine-rich proteins	4	2
Small cysteine-rich proteins	4	2
Detoxification, drug resistance, and metabolite		
transport	594	118
Cytochrome P450	25	13
Putative ABC transporters	569	105
Protection against oxidative stress	544	117
Glutathione s-transferases	26	10
Peroxidases	75	12
Reductases	394	88
Superoxide dismutases	34	3
Glutaredoxins	15	4
Glutathione synthetases	0	0
Signal transduction and regulation	117	43
Mitogen-activated protein kinases	74	23
Myb-like proteins	43	20
Cell surface glycoproteins	0	0

CHAPTER 2: RNA-seq analysis of cysts and germinating cysts of Phytophthora cinnamomi

Virulence genes	3	3
Virulence	3	3
TOTAL	2392	675

* Pathogenicity gene categories modified from Torto-Alalibo et al. (2007)

** Functional annotations are based on protein sequence homology and not on the presence of conserved motifs

Table 10. Protein sequence homology between predicted RXLR proteins of *Phytophthora cinnamomi, Phytophthora sojae* and *Phytohthora infestans* as determined through blastx analysis (E-value >1x10⁸). The statistics for the overlapping alignment region is indicated.^{*}

Contig				Bit	Alignment length		%	%	%	
ID	Protein ID	Annotation	E-value	Score	(Unigene to blast hit)	Hit protein length	Identity	Positive	Gaps	Species
C14063	304654199°	PsAvh42	6.69E-25	102.83	160	153	46	63	11	P. sojae
C15073	304654141°	PsAvh65	3.07E-11	57.38	155	163	31	48	25	P. sojae
C15073	PITG_14203 ^ь	RXLR	2.56E-19	90.51	155	153	38	54	9	P. infestans
C31843	304654104°	PsSNEL2	4.15E-11	55.84	95	189	78	83	5	P. sojae
C83210	304654139°	PsAvh448	1.52E-08	46.98	82	115	43	60	21	P. sojae

* Only alignments with E-value >1x10⁸ are listed here

^a Protein ID numbers from NCBI

^b ID numbers from the *Phytophthora infestans* Sequencing Project, Broad Institute of Harvard and MIT (http://www.broadinstitute.org/)

FIGURES



Figure 1. Species-specific PCR, using the *LPV3* primer pair (Kong et al. 2003), to confirm the identity of *Phytophthora cinnamomi* isolates. The successful amplification of a PCR product of 450 bp in size, confirmed the identity of all 12 isolates as *P. cinnamomi*. 1) O'GeneRuler 100 bp DNA ladder 2) CMW33388 as a positive control 3) Negative control 4) CNVDB34 5) CNVDB32 6) CNVDB43 7) CNVDB41 8) CNVDB1 9) CNVDB19 10) CNVDB40 11) CNVDB27 12) CNVDB29 13) CNVDB39 14) CNVDB18 19) CNVDB5.



Figure 2. The sporangia production ability of 12 *Phytophthora cinnamomi* isolates. A score of 0 (no sporangia) to 3 (> 15 sporangia) was assigned to each agar block after counting the amount of sporangia produced for each isolate under a confocal microscope. The mean sporangia production score for each isolate was determined from three biological replicates and three technical replicates. The error bars represent standard deviation.

Growth media	Isolate	Day 2	Day 3	Day 4	Day 5
½PDA	CNVDB1				
	CNVDB29				
СМА	CNVDB1				
	CNVDB29				
V8	CNVDB1				
	CNVDB29				

Figure 3. Growth morphology of *Phytophthora cinnamomi* isolates CNVDB1 and CNVDB29 on ½ potato dextrose agar (½ PDA), cornmeal agar (CMA) and vegetable juice (V8) agar at 25 °C over 4 days.



Figure 4. Electropherogram (A) and gel electrophoresis analysis (B) of pure total RNA, used for cDNA library construction, extracted from cysts and germinating cysts (C) of *Phytophthora cinnamomi* isolate **CNVDB29.** A) An RNA integrity number (RIN) of 8.6 was assigned to the sample using the Agilent 2100 Bioanalyzer software. B) Lane 1-4 represent pure total RNA from four independent experiments that were pooled to constitute the final sample that was used to produce the Illumina cDNA library. C) Stereo microscope image of germinating cysts of *P. cinnamomi* isolate CNVDB29. Scalebar = 20 μm.



Figure 5. Contig length distribution of the cyst and germinating cysts cDNA library of *Phytophthora cinnamomi* isolate CNVDB29 generated through Illumina sequencing on the HiSeq 2000 instrument at the **Beijing Genomics Institute.** The image was generated by the BGI.



Figure 6. Length distribution of unigenes of the cyst and germinating cyst cDNA library of *Phytophthora cinnamomi* isolate CNVDB29. The image was generated by the BGI.



Figure 7. Workflow diagram indicating the strategy used to annotate the cysts and germinating cysts cDNA library of *Phytophthora cinnamomi*. Functions were assigned to unigenes based on protein sequence homology (E-value >1x10⁵) to public available protein databases (NCBI non-redundant protein database [Nr], Swiss protein database [Swiss]) and to protein models predicted in the genomes of *Phytophthora infestans* (closely related species) and *P. cinnamomi*. Functional enrichment analysis was performed on the *Pi* and *Pc* annotated unigene dataset via blastx analysis (E-value >1x10⁵) to the Cluster of orthologous (COG) proteins database. Putative secreted proteins were predicted (SignalP v3.0) from unigenes in which the start codon (methione) could be identified in the *Pi* and *Pc* annotated unigene dataset to ensure that the unigene sequence represented the N-terminal of the protein. Putative RXLR-motif containing transcripts were identified from the longest open reading frame (containing a start codon) predicted in each contig, using Hidden Markov Models (HMM). The *Pi* annotated unigene dataset was used to identify *Phytophthora* pathogenicity genes as reported in the literature. Putative secreted unigenes and RXLR-motif containing unigenes were also considered pathogenicity related genes.



Figure 8. Venn diagram illustrating the overlap of unigenes that showed homology to proteins in more than one protein database during blastx analysis (E-value >1x10⁵). The numbers inside the circles indicate the number of unigenes that showed homology to protein in the NCBI non-redundant protein database and Swiss- protein database (Nr and Swiss), the protein models predicted from the genomes of *Phytophthora cinnamomi* (*Pc* annotated dataset) and *Phytophthora infestans* (*Pi* annotated dataset). Grand totals are indicated on the right.



CHAPTER 2: RNA-seq analysis of germinating cysts of Phytophthora cinnamomi

Figure 9. Division of genera representing at least 1 % of the unigenes present in the Nr annotated unigene dataset of *Phytophtora cinnamomi* cysts and germinating cysts. Unigene functional annotations are based on protein sequence homology as determined with blastx analysis (E-value >1x10⁵) to the NCBI non-redundant protein database. Approximately 42 % of the unigenes showed homology to proteins originating from the domain bacteria and 8.7 % from the domain fungi. Genera that presented less than 1% of the dataset were not included in the analysis and are designated as 'other genera' in the figure (50 %).



Figure 10. Functional classification of unigenes form the cyst and germinating cyst library of *Phytophthora cinnamomi* according to the Clusters of orthologous (COG) protein database after blastx analysis (E-value >1x10⁵). Each bar represents the percentage unigenes (from unigenes that showed significant homology to *P. cinnamomi* and *Phytophthora infestans* protein models) that correspond to each of the 26 functional classes of the COG database. A single unigene may represent more than one functional class.

Α



В



С



D



Figure 11. Protein sequence alignments of translated RXLR-motif containing unigenes to the best blastx hit in the genome of *Phytophthora cinnamomi* (top sequence) and RXLR protein sequences of *Phytophthora infestans* and/or *Phytophthora sojae* (bottom sequences). Conserved domain names are shown above the relevant domain sequence (blocks). Signal peptide Sprob value is indicated as determined from the sequence present in the *P. cinnamomi* contig. Shaded amino acids indicate amino acids that are similar between all aligned sequences (black) or only between two or three of the sequences (shades of grey). The consensus sequence is indicated underneath each alignment. A) C14063 aligned to jgi-Phyci1-30885 and PsAvh42 B) C15073 aligned to jgi-Phyci1-172110, PsAvh65 and PITG_14203 C) C31843 aligned jgi-Phyci1-16230 and PsSNEL2 D) C83210 aligned to jgi-Phyci1-246465 and PsAvh448. SP – signal peptide, *P. cinnamomi* JGI protein ID numbers (jgi-Phyci1-) are indicated as Pc- in the figure, PITG ID numbers are from the *Phytophthora infestans* Sequencing Project, Broad Institute of Harvard and MIT (http://www.broadinstitute.org/), PsAvh ID numbers are from predicted *Phytophthora sojae* RXLR proteins by Wang et al. (2011).

References

- Armstrong MR, Whisson SC, Pritchard L, Bos JIB, Venter E, Avrova AO, Rehmany AP, Böhme U, Brooks K, Cherevach I, Hamlin N, White B, Fraser A, Lord A, Quail MA, Churcher C, Hall N, Berriman M, Huang S, Kamoun S, Beynon JL & Birch PRJ (2005) An ancestral oomycete locus contains late blight avirulence gene *Avr3a*, encoding a protein that is recognized in the host cytoplasm. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 102:7766-7771.
- Bae H, Kim MS, Sicher RC, Bae HJ & Bailey BA (2006) Necrosis- and ethylene-inducing peptide from *Fusarium oxysporum* induces a complex cascade of transcripts associated with signal transduction and cell death in *Arabidopsis*. *Plant Physiology* **141**:1056-1067.
- Baxter L, Tripathy S, Ishaque N, Boot N, Cabral A, Kemen E, Thines M, Ah-Fong A, Anderson R, Badejoko W, Bittner-Eddy P, Boore JL, Chibucos MC, Coates M, Dehal P, Delehaunty K, Dong S, Downton P, Dumas B, Fabro G, Fronick C, Fuerstenberg SI, Fulton L, Gaulin E, Govers F, Hughes L, Humphray S, Jiang RHY, Judelson H, Kamoun S, Kyung K, Meijer H, Minx P, Morris P, Nelson J, Phuntumart V, Qutob D, Rehmany A, Rougon-Cardoso A, Ryden P, Torto-Alalibo T, Studholme D, Wang Y, Win J, Wood J, Clifton SW, Rogers J, Van Den Ackerveken G, Jones JDG, McDowell JM, Beynon J & Tyler BM (2010) Signatures of adaptation to obligate biotrophy in the *Hyaloperonospora arabidopsidis* genome. *Science* 330:1549-1551.
- Bendtsen JD, Nielsen H, von Heijne G & Brunak S (2004) Improved prediction of signal peptides: SignalP 3.0. *Journal of Molecular Biology* **340**:783-795.
- Benhamou N & Nicole M (1999) Cell biology of plant immunization against microbial infection: The potential of induced resistance in controlling plant diseases. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry* **37**:703-719.
- Beyer K, Binder A, Boller T & Collinge M (2001) Identification of potato genes induced during colonization by *Phytophthora infestans*. *Molecular Plant Pathology* **2**:125-134.
- Bonnet P, Bourdon E, Ponchet M, Blein J & Ricci P (1996) Acquired resistance triggered by elicitins in tobacco and other plants. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* **102**:181-192.
- Bos JIB, Armstrong MR, Gilroy EM, Boevink PC, Hein I, Taylor RM, Zhendong T, Engelhardt S, Vetukuri RR, Harrower B, Dixelius C, Bryan G, Sadanandom A, Whisson SC, Kamoun S & Birch PRJ (2010) *Phytophthora infestans* effector AVR3a is essential for virulence and manipulates plant immunity by stabilizing host E3 ligase CMPG1. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 107:9909-9914.
- Bos JIB, Kanneganti TD, Young C, Cakir C, Huitema E, Win J, Armstrong MR, Birch PRJ & Kamoun S (2006) The C-terminal half of *Phytophthora infestans* RXLR effector AVR3a is sufficient to trigger R3a-mediated hypersensitivity and suppress INF1-induced cell death in *Nicotiana benthamiana*. *Plant Journal* **48**:165-176.
- Bowman SM & Free SJ (2006) The structure and synthesis of the fungal cell wall. *BioEssays* **28**:799-808.
- Bozkurt TO, Schornack S, Win J, Shindo T, Ilyas M, Oliva R, Cano LM, Jones AME, Huitema E, Van Der Hoorn RAL & Kamoun S (2011) *Phytophthora infestans* effector AVRblb2 prevents secretion of a plant immune protease at the haustorial interface. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **108**:20832-20837.
- Cabral A, Stassen JHM, Seidl MF, Bautor J, Parker JE & Van den Ackerveken G (2011) Identification of *Hyaloperonospora arabidopsidis* transcript sequences expressed during infection reveals isolate-specific effectors. *PLoS ONE* **6**:e19328.
- Cahill DM, Rookes JE, Wilson BA, Gibson L & McDougall KL (2008) *Phytophthora cinnamomi* and Australia's biodiversity: Impacts, predictions and progress towards control. *Australian Journal of Botany* **56**:279-310.

- Carpita NC & Gibeaut DM (1993) Structural models of primary cell walls in flowering plants: consistency of molecular structure with the physical properties of the walls during growth. *The Plant Journal* **3:**1-30.
- Chen D & Zentmyer GA (1970) Production of sporangia by *Phytophthora cinnamomi* in axenic culture. *Mycologia* **62:**397-402.
- Chen X, Klemsdal SS & Brurberg MB (2011) Identification and analysis of *Phytophthora cactorum* genes up-regulated during cyst germination and strawberry infection. *Current Genetics* **57**: 297-315.
- Chen X, Shen G, Wang Y, Zheng X & Wang Y (2007) Identification of *Phytophthora sojae* genes upregulated during the early stage of soybean infection. *Federation of European Microbiological Societies Microbiology Letters* **269:**280-288.
- Chen XR, Xing YP, Li YP, Tong YH & Xu JY (2013) RNA-Seq reveals infection-related gene expression changes in *Phytophthora capsici*. *PLoS ONE* **8**:e74588.
- Cheng B, Yu X, Ma Z, Dong S, Dou D, Wang Y & Zheng X (2012) *Phytophthora sojae* effector Avh331 suppresses the plant defence response by disturbing the MAPK signalling pathway. *Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology* **77:**1-9.
- Chinnapun D, Tian M, Day B & Churngchow N (2009) Inhibition of a *Hevea brasiliensis* protease by a Kazal-like serine protease inhibitor from *Phytophthora palmivora*. *Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology* **74:**27-33.
- Cloonan N, Forrest ARR, Kolle G, Gardiner BBA, Faulkner GJ, Brown MK, Taylor DF, Steptoe AL, Wani S, Bethel G, Robertson AJ, Perkins AC, Bruce SJ, Lee CC, Ranade SS, Peckham HE, Manning JM, McKernan KJ & Grimmond SM (2008) Stem cell transcriptome profiling via massive-scale mRNA sequencing. *Nature Methods* 5:613-619.
- Darvas J, Toerien J & Milne D (1984) Control of avocado root rot by trunk injection with fosetyl-Al. *Plant Disease* **68:**691-693.
- Davison EM, Stukely MJC, Crane CE & Tay FCS (1994) Invasion of phloem and xylem of woody stems and roots of *Eucalpytus marginata* and *Pinus radiata* by *Phytophthora cinnamomi*. *Phytopathology* **84:**335-340.
- Dong S, Yin W, Kong G, Yang X, Qutob D, Chen Q, Kale SD, Sui Y, Zhang Z, Dou D, Zheng X, Gijzen M, Tyler B & Wang Y (2011) *Phytophthora sojae* avirulence effector Avr3b is a secreted NADH and ADP-ribose pyrophosphorylase that modulates plant immunity. *PLoS Pathogens* 7:e1002353.
- Dou D, Kale SD, Wang X, Jiang RHY, Bruce NA, Arredondo FD, Zhang X & Tyler BM (2008) RXLR-mediated entry of *Phytophthora sojae* effector Avr1b into soybean cells does not require pathogen-encoded machinery. *The Plant Cell* **20**:1930-1947.
- Downer J, Faber B & Menge J (2002) Factors affecting root rot control in mulched avocado orchards. *HortTechnology* **12**:601-605.
- Eckert JW & Tsao PH (1962) A selective antibiotic medium for isolation of *Phytophthora* and *Pythium* from plant roots. *Phytopathology* **52**:771-777
- Ellis JG & Dodds PN (2011) Showdown at the RXLR motif: Serious differences of opinion in how effector proteins from filamentous eukaryotic pathogens enter plant cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **108**:14381-14382.
- Emanuelsson O, Brunak S, von Heijne G & Nielsen H (2007) Locating proteins in the cell using TargetP, SignalP, and related tools. *Nature Protocols* **2**:953-971.
- Fellbrich G, Romanski A, Varet A, Blume B, Brunner F, Engelhardt S, Felix G, Kemmerling B, Krzymowska M & Nürnberger T (2002) NPP1, a *Phytophthora*-associated trigger of plant defense in parsley and *Arabidopsis*. *Plant Journal* **32**:375-390.
- Gaulin E, Dramé N, Lafitte C, Torto-Alalibo T, Martinez Y, Ameline-Torregrosa C, Khatib M, Mazarguil H, Villalba-Mateos F, Kamoun S, Mazars C, Dumas B, Bottin A, Esquerré-

Tugayé MT & Rickauer M (2006) Cellulose binding domains of a *Phytophthora* cell wall protein are novel pathogen-associated molecular patterns. *Plant Cell* **18**:1766-1777.

- Gaulin E, Jauneau A, Villalba F, Rickauer M, Esquerré-Tugayé M-T & Bottin A (2002) The CBEL glycoprotein of *Phytophthora parasitica* var. *nicotianae* is involved in cell wall deposition and adhesion to cellulosic substrates. *Journal of Cell Science* **115**:4565-4575.
- Gerrettson-Cornell L. (1989) A compendium and classification of the species of the genus *Phytophthora* de Bary by the canons of the traditional taxonomy. Sydney, Australia, Research Division, State Forests of New South Wales.
- Gilroy EM, Taylor RM, Hein I, Boevink P, Sadanandom A & Birch PRJ (2011) CMPG1-dependent cell death follows perception of diverse pathogen elicitors at the host plasma membrane and is suppressed by *Phytophthora infestans* RXLR effector AVR3a. *New Phytologist* **190**:653-666.
- Goheen DJ, Mallams K, Betlejewski F & Hansen E (2012) Effectiveness of vehicle washing and roadside sanitation in decreasing spread potential of Port-Orford-Cedar root disease. *Western Journal of Applied Forestry* **27**:170-175.
- Grabherr MG, Haas BJ, Yassour M, Levin JZ, Thompson DA, Amit I, Adiconis X, Fan L, Raychowdhury R, Zeng Q, Chen Z, Mauceli E, Hacohen N, Gnirke A, Rhind N, di Palma F, Birren BW, Nusbaum C, Lindblad-Toh K, Friedman N & Regev A (2011) Full-length transcriptome assembly from RNA-Seq data without a reference genome. *Nature Biotechnology* 29:644-652.
- Grenville-Briggs LJ, Avrova AO, Bruce CR, Williams A, Whisson SC, Birch PRJ & Van West P (2005) Elevated amino acid biosynthesis in *Phytophthora infestans* during appressorium formation and potato infection. *Fungal Genetics and Biology* **42**:244-256.
- Gubler F, Hardham AR & Duniec J (1989) Characterising adhesiveness of *Phytophthora cinnamomi* zoospores during encystment. *Protoplasma* **149**:24-30.
- Guo J, Jiang RHY, Kamphuis LG & Govers F (2006) A cDNA-AFLP based strategy to identify transcripts associated with avirulence in *Phytophthora infestans*. *Fungal Genetics and Biology* **43**:111-123.
- Haas BJ, Kamoun S, Zody MC, Jiang RHY, Handsaker RE, Cano LM, Grabherr M, Kodira CD, Raffaele S, Torto-Alalibo T, Bozkurt TO, Ah-Fong AMV, Alvarado L, Anderson VL, Armstrong MR, Avrova A, Baxter L, Beynon J, Boevink PC, Bollmann SR, Bos JIB, Bulone V, Cai G, Cakir C, Carrington JC, Chawner M, Conti L, Costanzo S, Ewan R, Fahlgren N, Fischbach MA, Fugelstad J, Gilroy EM, Gnerre S, Green PJ, Grenville-Briggs LJ, Griffith J, Grünwald NJ, Horn K, Horner NR, Hu C-H, Huitema E, Jeong D-H, Jones AME, Jones JDG, Jones RW, Karlsson EK, Kunjeti SG, Lamour K, Liu Z, Ma L, MacLean D, Chibucos MC, McDonald H, McWalters J, Meijer HJG, Morgan W, Morris PF, Munro CA, O'Neill K, Ospina-Giraldo M, Pinzón A, Pritchard L, Ramsahoye B, Ren Q, Restrepo S, Roy S, Sadanandom A, Savidor A, Schornack S, Schwartz DC, Schumann UD, Schwessinger B, Seyer L, Sharpe T, Silvar C, Song J, Studholme DJ, Sykes S, Thines M, van de Vondervoort PJI, Phuntumart V, Wawra S, Weide R, Win J, Young C, Zhou S, Fry W, Meyers BC, van West P, Ristaino J, Govers F, Birch PRJ, Whisson SC, Judelson HS & Nusbaum C (2009) Genome sequence and analysis of the Irish potato famine pathogen *Phytophthora infestans. Nature* 461:393-398.
- Hao W, Ahonsi MO, Vinatzer BA & Hong C (2012) Inactivation of *Phytophthora* and bacterial species in water by a potential energy-saving heat treatment. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* **134**:357-365.
- Hardham A & Gubler F (1990) Polarity of attachment of zoospores of a root pathogen and prealignment of the emerging germ tube. *Cell Biology International Reports* **14**:947-956.
- Hardham AR (2005) Phytophthora cinnamomi. Molecular Plant Pathology 6:589-604.

- Hardham AR, Cahill DM, Cope M, Gabor BK, Gubler F & Hyde GJ (1994) Cell surface antigens of *Phytophthora* spores: biological and taxonomic characterization. *Protoplasma* **181**:213-232.
- Hardham AR & Suzaki E (1986) Encystment of zoospores of the fungus, *Phytophthora cinnamomi*, is induced by specific lectin and monoclonal antibody binding to the cell surface. *Protoplasma* **133**:165-173.
- Have A, Tenberge K, Benen JE, Tudzynski P, Visser J & Kan JL. (2002) The contribution of cell wall degrading enzymes to pathogenesis of fungal plant pathogens. In: Kempken, F. (ed) Agricultural Applications. Berlin Heidelberg, Germany, Springer-verlag, pp 341-358.
- Hüberli D, Tommerup IC & Hardy GESJ (2000) False-negative isolations or absence of lesions may cause mis-diagnosis of diseased plants infected with *Phytophthora cinnamomi*. *Australasian Plant Pathology* **29:**164-169.
- Irving HR & Grant BR (1984) The effects of pectin and plant root surface carbohydrates on encystment and development of *Phytophthora cinnamomi* zoospores. *Journal of General Microbiology* **130**:1015-1018.
- Iseli C, Jongeneel CV & Bucher P. (1999) ESTScan: a program for detecting, evaluating, and reconstructing potential coding regions in EST sequences. In: Proceedings of the Seventh International Conference on Intelligent Systems for Molecular Biology. Heidelberg, Germany, pp 138-148.
- Jiang RHY, de Bruijn I, Haas BJ, Belmonte R, Löbach L, Christie J, van den Ackerveken G, Bottin A, Bulone V, Díaz-Moreno SM, Dumas B, Fan L, Gaulin E, Govers F, Grenville-Briggs LJ, Horner NR, Levin JZ, Mammella M, Meijer HJG, Morris P, Nusbaum C, Oome S, Phillips AJ, van Rooyen D, Rzeszutek E, Saraiva M, Secombes CJ, Seidl MF, Snel B, Stassen JHM, Sykes S, Tripathy S, van den Berg H, Vega-Arreguin JC, Wawra S, Young SK, Zeng Q, Dieguez-Uribeondo J, Russ C, Tyler BM & van West P (2013) Distinctive expansion of potential virulence genes in the genome of the oomycete fish pathogen *Saprolegnia parasitica*. *PLoS Genetics* **9**:e1003272.
- Jiang RHY, Tripathy S, Govers F & Tyler BM (2008) RXLR effector reservoir in two *Phytophthora* species is dominated by a single rapidly evolving superfamily with more than 700 members. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **105**:4874-4879.
- Jiang RHY, Tyler BM, Whisson SC, Hardham AR & Govers F (2006) Ancient origin of elicitin gene clusters in *Phytophthora* genomes. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* **23**:338-351.
- Jones JDG & Dangl JL (2006) The plant immune system. Nature 444:323-329.
- Kamoun S (2006) A catalogue of the effector secretome of plant pathogenic oomycetes. *Annual Review of Phytopathology* **44**:41-60.
- Kamoun S, Klucher KM, Coffey MD & Tyler BM (1993a) A gene encoding a host-specific elicitor protein of *Phytophthora parasitica*. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* **6**:573-581.
- Kamoun S, Van West P, Vleeshouwers VGAA, De Groot KE & Govers F (1998) Resistance of Nicotiana benthamiana to Phytophthora infestans is mediated by the recognition of the elicitor protein INF1. Plant Cell 10:1413-1425.
- Kamoun S, Young M, Glascock C & Tyler BM (1993b) Extracellular protein elicitors from *Phytophthora*: Host-specificity and induction of resistance to fungal and bacterial phytopathogens. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* **6**:15-25.
- Katoh K & Standley DM (2013) MAFFT Multiple sequence alignment software version 7: Improvements in performance and usability. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* **30**:772-780.
- Kebdani N, Pieuchot L, Deleury E, Panabières F, Le Berre JY & Gourgues M (2010) Cellular and molecular characterization of *Phytophthora parasitica* appressorium-mediated penetration. *New Phytologist* **185**:248-257.

- Kelley BS, Lee SJ, Damasceno CMB, Chakravarthy S, Kim BD, Martin GB & Rose JKC (2010) A secreted effector protein (SNE1) from *Phytophthora infestans* is a broadly acting suppressor of programmed cell death. *Plant Journal* **62**:357-366.
- Kong P, Hong CX & Richardson PA (2003) Rapid detection of *Phytophthora cinnamomi* using PCR with primers derived from the *Lpv* putative storage protein genes. *Plant Pathology* **52**:681.
- Krajaejun T, Khositnithikul R, Lerksuthirat T, Lowhnoo T, Rujirawat T, Petchthong T, Yingyong W, Suriyaphol P, Smittipat N, Juthayothin T, Phuntumart V & Sullivan TD (2011) Expressed sequence tags reveal genetic diversity and putative virulence factors of the pathogenic oomycete *Pythium insidiosum*. *Fungal Biology* **115**:683-696.
- Krogh A, Larsson B, von Heijne G & Sonnhamme E (2001) Predicting transmembrane protein topology with a Hidden Markov Model: application to complete genomes. *Journal of Molecular Biology* **305**:567-580.
- Lamour KH, Mudge J, Gobena D, Hurtado-Gonzales OP, Schmutz J & al. e (2012) Genome sequencing and mapping reveal loss of heterozygosity as a mechanism for rapid adaptation in the vegetable pathogen *Phytophthora capsici*. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* **25**:1350-1360.
- Le Berre JY, Engler G & Panabières F (2008) Exploration of the late stages of the tomato-*Phytophthora parasitica* interactions through histological analysis and generation of expressed sequence tags. *New Phytologist* **177**:480-492.
- Lévesque CA, Brouwer H, Cano L, Hamilton JP, Holt C, Huitema E, Raffaele S, Robideau GP, Thines M, Win J, Zerillo MM, Beakes GW, Boore JL, Busam D, Dumas B, Ferriera S, Fuerstenberg SI, Gachon CMM, Gaulin E, Govers F, Grenville-Briggs L, Horner N, Hostetler J, Jiang RHY, Johnson J, Krajaejun T, Lin H, Meijer HJG, Moore B, Morris P, Phuntmart V, Puiu D, Shetty J, Stajich JE, Tripathy S, Wawra S, van West P, Whitty BR, Coutinho PM, Henrissat B, Martin F, Thomas PD, Tyler BM, De Vries RP, Kamoun S, Yandell M, Tisserat N & Buell CR (2010) Genome sequence of the necrotrophic plant pathogen *Pythium ultimum* reveals original pathogenicity mechanisms and effector repertoire. *Genome Biology* 11:R37.
- Liu T, Ye W, Ru Y, Yang X, Gu B, Tao K, Lu S, Dong S, Zheng X, Shan W, Wang Y & Dou D (2010) Two host cytoplasmic effectors are required for pathogenesis of *Phytophthora sojae* by suppression of host defenses. *Plant Physiology* **155**:490-501.
- Meijer HJG, Van De Vondervoort PJI, Qing YY, De Koster CG, Klis FM, Govers F & De Groot PWJ (2006) Identification of cell wall-associated proteins from *Phytophthora ramorum*. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* **19**:1348-1358.
- Misas-Villamil JC & van der Hoorn RAL (2008) Enzyme–inhibitor interactions at the plant– pathogen interface. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* **11**:380-388.
- Morin RD, Bainbridge M, Fejes A, Hirst M, Krzywinski M, Pugh TJ, McDonald H, Varhol R, Jones SJM & A. M (2008) Profiling the HeLa S3 transcriptome using randomly primed cDNA and massively parallel short-read sequencing. *BioTechniques* **45**:81-94.
- Mortazavi A, Williams BA, McCue K, Schaeffer L & B. W (2008) Mapping and quantifying mammalian transcriptomes by RNA-Seq. *Nature Methods* **5**:621-628.
- Nakasone KK, Peterson SW & Jong SC (2004) Preservation and distribution of fungal cultures. Amsterdam, Netherlands, Elsevier Academic Press.
- Nicholas KB, Jr. NHB & Deerfield DWI (1997) GeneDoc: Analysis and visualization of genetic variation. *EMBNEW.NEWS* **4**:14.
- Nielsen H & Krogh A. (1998) Prediction of signal peptides and signal anchors by a Hidden Markov Model. In: Proceedings of the Sixth International Conference on Intelligent Systems for Molecular Biology. Montreal, Canada, pp 122-130.
- OEPP/EPPO (2004) Diagnostic protocols for regulated pests, *Phytophthora cinnamomi*. *Bulletin OEPP/EPPO Bulletin* **34:**155-157.

- Oliver RP & Ipcho SVS (2004) *Arabidopsis* pathology breathes new life into the necrotrophs-vs.biotrophs classification of fungal pathogens. *Molecular Plant Pathology* **5**:347-352.
- Panabières F, Amselem J, Galiana E & Le Berre JY (2005) Gene identification in the oomycete pathogen *Phytophthora parasitica* during *in vitro* vegetative growth through expressed sequence tags. *Fungal Genetics and Biology* **42**:611-623.
- Podger FD, Doepel RF & Zentmyer GA (1965) Association of *Phytophthora cinnamomi* with a disease of *Eucalyptus* marginata forest in Western Australia. *Plant Disease Report* **49**:943-947.
- Qutob D, Hraber PT, Sobral BWS & Gijzen M (2000) Comparative analysis of expressed sequences in *Phytophthora sojae*. *Plant Physiology* **123**:243-253.
- Qutob D, Kamoun S & Gijzen M (2002) Expression of a *Phytophthora sojae* necrosis-inducing protein occurs during transition from biotrophy to necrotrophy. *The Plant Journal* **32:**361-373.
- Qutob D, Tedman-Jones J, Dong S, Kuflu K, Pham H, Wang Y, Dou D, Kale SD, Arredondo FD, Tyler BM & Gijzen M (2009) Copy number variation and transcriptional polymorphisms of *Phytophthora sojae* RXLR effector genes *Avr1a* and *Avr3a*. *PLoS ONE* **4**:e5066.
- Raffaele S, Win J, Cano LM & Kamoun S (2010) Analyses of genome architecture and gene expression reveal novel candidate virulence factors in the secretome of *Phytophthora infestans*. *BMC Genomics* **11**:637.
- Randall TA, Dwyer RA, Huitema E, Beyer K, Cvitanich C, Kelkar H, Ah Fong AMV, Gates K, Roberts S, Yatzkan E, Gaffney T, Law M, Testa A, Torto-Alalibo T, Zhang M, Zheng L, Mueller E, Windass J, Binder A, Birch PRJ, Gisi U, Govers F, Gow NA, Mauch F, Van West P, Waugh ME, Yu J, Boller T, Kamoun S, Lam ST & Judelson HS (2005) Large-scale gene discovery in the oomycete *Phytophthora infestans* reveals likely components of phytopathogenicity shared with true fungi. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* 18:229-243.
- Reena N, Chandrasekar A, Riju A, Nima PL, Eapen SJ & Anandaraj M. (2010) Gene identification in *Phytophthora capsici* through expressed sequence tags. In: Proceedings of the International Symposium on Biocomputing. New York, NY, USA, pp 1-5.
- Richter BS, Benson DM & Ivors KL (2011) Microbial profiling of cultural systems for suppression of Phytophthora root rot in Fraser fir. *Plant Disease* **95**:537-546.
- Robold A & Hardham A (2005) During attachment *Phytophthora* spores secrete proteins containing thrombospondin type 1 repeats. *Current Genetics* **47**:307-315.
- Séjalon-Delmas N, Villalba Mateos F, Bottin A, Rickauer M, Dargent R & Esquerré-Tugayé MT (1997) Purification, elicitor activity, and cell wall localization of a glycoprotein from *Phytophthora parasitica* var. *nicotianae*, a fungal pathogen of tobacco. *Phytopathology* **87**:899-909.
- Shan W, Cao M, Leung D & Tyler BM (2004) The *Avr1b* locus of *Phytophthora sojae* encodes an elicitor and a regulator required for avirulence on soybean plants carrying resistance gene *Rps1b*. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* **17**:394-403.
- Shearer BL & Crane CE (2012) *Phytophthora cinnamomi* visible necrotic lesion-colonisation relationships in native flora. *Australasian Plant Pathology* **41**:633-644.
- Shearer BL & Fairman RG (2007) A stem injection of phosphite protects *Banksia* species and *Eucalyptus marginata* from *Phytophthora cinnamomi* for at least four years. *Australasian Plant Pathology* **36**:78-86.
- Škalamera D, Wasson AP & Hardham AR (2004) Genes expressed in zoospores of *Phytophthora nicotianae*. *Molecular Genetics and Genomics* **270**:549-557.

- Smith LA, Dann EK, Pegg KG, Whiley AW, Giblin FR, Doogan V & Kopittke R (2010) Field assessment of avocado rootstock selections for resistance to Phytophthora root rot. *Australasian Plant Pathology* **40**:39-47.
- Song J, Win J, Tian M, Schornack S, Kaschani F, Ilyas M, Van Der Hoorn RAL & Kamoun S (2009) Apoplastic effectors secreted by two unrelated eukaryotic plant pathogens target the tomato defense protease Rcr3. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **106**:1654-1659.
- Stam R, Jupe J, Howden AJM, Morris JA, Boevink PC, Hedley PE & Huitema E (2013) Identification and characterisation CRN effectors in *Phytophthora capsici* shows modularity and functional diversity. *PLoS ONE* **8**:e59517.
- Strickler SR, Bombarely A & Mueller LA (2012) Designing a transcriptome next-generation sequencing project for a nonmodel plant species. *American Journal of Botany* **99:**257-266.
- Tamura K, Dudley J, Nei M & Kumar S (2007) MEGA4: Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis (MEGA) software version 4.0. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* **24**:1596-1599.
- Tian M, Benedetti B & Kamoun S (2005) A second Kazal-like protease inhibitor from *Phytophthora infestans* inhibits and interacts with the apoplastic pathogenesis-related protease P69B of tomato. *Plant Physiology* **138**:1785-1793.
- Tian M, Huitema E, Da Cunha L, Torto-Alalibo T & Kamoun S (2004) A Kazal-like extracellular serine protease inhibitor from *Phytophthora infestans* targets the tomato pathogenesis-related protease P69B. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **279**:26370-26377.
- Tian M, Win J, Song J, Van Der Hoorn R, Van Der Knaap E & Kamoun S (2007) A *Phytophthora infestans* cystatin-like protein targets a novel tomato papain-like apoplastic protease. *Plant Physiology* **143**:364-377.
- Torto-Alalibo TA, Tripathy S, Smith BM, Arredondo FD, Zhou L, Li H, Chibucos MC, Qutob D, Gijzen M, Mao C, Sobral BWS, Waugh ME, Mitchell TK, Dean RA & Tyler BM (2007) Expressed sequence tags from *Phytophthora sojae* reveal genes specific to development and infection. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* **20**:781-793.
- Torto TA, Li S, Styer A, Huitema E, Testa A, Gow NAR, van West P & Kamoun S (2003) EST mining and functional expression assays identify extracellular effector proteins from the plant pathogen *Phytophthora. Genome Research* **13**:1675-1685.
- Tsuda K & Katagiri F (2010) Comparing signaling mechanisms engaged in pattern-triggered and effector-triggered immunity. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* **13**:459-465.
- Tyler BM, Tripathy S, Zhang X, Dehal P, Jiang RHY, Aerts A, Arredondo FD, Baxter L, Bensasson D, Beynon JL, Chapman J, Damasceno CMB, Dorrance AE, Dou D, Dickerman AW, Dubchak IL, Garbelotto M, Gijzen M, Gordon SG, Govers F, Grunwald NJ, Huang W, Ivors KL, Jones RW, Kamoun S, Krampis K, Lamour KH, Lee M, McDonald WH, Medina M, Meijer HJG, Nordberg EK, Maclean DJ, Ospina-Giraldo MD, Morris PF, Phuntumart V, Putnam NH, Rash S, Rose JKC, Sakihama Y, Salamov AA, Savidor A, Scheuring CF, Smith BM, Sobral BWS, Terry A, Torto-Alalibo TA, Win J, Xu Z, Zhang H, Grigoriev IV, Rokhsar DS & Boore JL (2006) *Phytophthora* genome sequences uncover evolutionary origins and mechanisms of pathogenesis. *Science* **313**:1261-1266.
- Van Poppel PMJA, Jiang RHY, Åšliwka J & Govers F (2009) Recognition of *Phytophthora* infestans Avr4 by potato R4 is triggered by C-terminal domains comprising W motifs. *Molecular Plant Pathology* **10**:611-620.
- Vauthrin S, Mikes V, Milat ML, Ponchet M, Maume B, Osman H & Blein JP (1999) Elicitins trap and transfer sterols from micelles, liposomes and plant plasma membranes. *Biochimica et biophysica acta Biomembranes* **1419**:335-342.
- Wang Q, Han C, Ferreira AO, Yu X, Ye W, Tripathy S, Kale SD, Gu B, Sheng Y, Sui Y, Wang X, Zhang Z, Cheng B, Dong S, Shan W, Zheng X, Dou D, Tyler BM & Wang Y (2011)
Transcriptional programming and functional interactions within the *Phytophthora sojae* RXLR effector repertoire. *Plant Cell* **23**:2064-2086.

- Wang Z, Gerstein M & Snyder M (2009) RNA-Seq: a revolutionary tool for transcriptomics. *Nature Reviews Genetics* **10**:57-63.
- Ward JA, Ponnala L & Weber CA (2012) Strategies for transcriptome analysis in nonmodel plants. *American Journal of Botany* **99:**267-276.
- Whisson SC, Boevink PC, Moleleki L, Avrova AO, Morales JG, Gilroy EM, Armstrong MR, Grouffaud S, Van West P, Chapman S, Hein I, Toth IK, Pritchard L & Birch PRJ (2007) A translocation signal for delivery of oomycete effector proteins into host plant cells. *Nature* **450**:115-118.
- Win J, Morgan W, Bos J, Krasileva KV, Cano LM, Chaparro-Garcia A, Ammar R, Staskawicz BJ & Kamoun S (2007) Adaptive evolution has targeted the C-terminal domain of the RXLR effectors of plant pathogenic oomycetes. *Plant Signaling & Behavior* **3**:251-253.
- Yaeno T, Li H, Chaparro-Garcia A, Schornack S, Koshiba S, Watanabe S, Kigawa T, Kamoun S & Shirasu K (2011) Phosphatidylinositol monophosphate-binding interface in the oomycete RXLR effector AVR3a is required for its stability in host cells to modulate plant immunity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **108**:14682-14687.
- Ye W, Wang X, Tao K, Lu Y, Dai T, Dong S, Dou D, Gijzen M & Wang Y (2011) Digital gene expression profiling of the *Phytophthora sojae* transcriptome. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* **24:**1530-1539.
- Yousef LF, Dick WA & Dick RP (2011) Use of a ¹⁵N-tracer method as a tool to indicate the assimilation of elicitin-sterol complexes by *Phytophthora sojae*. *International Journal of Biology* **3**:119-027.
- Zentmyer GA (1961) Attraction of zoospores of *Phytophthora cinnamomi* to avocado roots. *California Avocado Society 1961 Yearbook* **45:**93-95.
- Zentmyer GA. (1980) *Phytophthora cinnamomi* and the diseases it causes. St Paul, MN, USA, American Phytopathological Society.
- Zentmyer GA (1985) Origin and distribution of *Phytophthora cinnamomi*. *California Avocado Society Yearbook* **69**:89-94.
- Zentmyer GA, Leary JV, Klure LJ & Grantham GL (1976) Variability in growth of *Phytophthora cinnamomi* in relation to temperature. *Phytopathology* **66**:982-986.
- Zentmyer GA & Mircetich SM (1966) Saprophytism and persistence in soil by *Phytophthora cinnamomi. Phytopathology* **56**:710-712.

CHAPTER 3

Expression analysis of selected pathogenicity genes across the *in vitro* life stages of *Phytophthora cinnamomi*

ABSTRACT

Phytophthora cinnamomi is a hemi-biotrophic oomycete pathogen, able to infect over 3 000 plant species, including economically important fruit and forest trees. The mechanism employed by this pathogen to successfully colonize plant tissue is not well understood. Successful infection of living hosts requires the rapid adaption of the pathogen to the environment and the host defence system. Investigating the temporal regulation of pathogenicity genes will provide valuable insight into P. cinnamomi pathogenesis. In this study we determined the expression patterns of three effector genes, one cell wall degrading enzyme (CWDE) and three genes involved in pathogen adhesion. Transcript abundance in the sporulating mycelia, zoospores and cyst and germinating cyst in vitro structures were compared to expression levels in the mycelial phase. The RXLR- and elicitin transcripts were significantly more abundant in zoospores and germinating cysts relative to mycelia, indicating that they may function in early infection. The necrosis-inducing Phytophthora protein 1 (NPP1) showed induction slightly earlier in *P. cinnamomi* (in the zoospore phase) than reported in *Phytophthora sojae* (upregulation in germinating cysts). NPP1 expression in planta, where it is thought to mediate the switch from biotrophy to necrotrophy, was not investigated, as infected plant material was not available. The cellulose binding elicitor lectin protein (CBEL) and adhesin transcripts were significantly upregulated in zoospores relative to mycelia, where they may function in pathogen adhesion to host surfaces during cyst germination. Putative alternative splicing was observed in an RXLR-motif containing unigene, but this remains to be verified. Alternative splicing may serve as a mechanism to increase functional variation within P. cinnamomi effector proteins. Large scale in planta expression analysis in the future will provide further insight into P. cinnamomi infection strategies.

INTRODUCTION

A plant-pathogen interaction is a very intimate, often hostile relationship between a host and a pathogen. The successful infection of a living host (biotrophy) requires the rapid adaption of the pathogen in reaction to host defence responses and to environmental queues. Genes that facilitate infection are termed pathogenicity genes and assist this process in various ways, ranging from protecting the pathogen against host attack, to manipulating host physiology. Expression analysis of genes involved in pathogenesis shows very specific expression patterns prior to- and during *in planta* infection (Kunjeti et al. 2011; Ye et al. 2011; Chen et al. 2013) suggesting that they are under strict temporal regulation.

Phytohthora cinnamomi Rands is a hemi-biotrophic, oomycete pathogen that is able to infect over 3000 plant species (Hardham 2005). The economic impact due to *P. cinnamomi* infestation is evident in the food industry (avocado, pineapple, peach, chestnut, macadamia) and the forest industry affecting eucalyptus, pine and oak trees (Zentmyer 1980; Zentmyer 1985). It is also the main pathogen on avocado worldwide resulting in Phytophthora root rot in California, Australia, Chile and South-Africa (Wager 1942; Allen et al. 1980; Aveling and Rijkenberg 1986; Sepúlveda-Chavera et al. 2013).

During its life cycle, *P. cinnamomi* has different phenotypical developmental structures, each with a specialized function. Expression analysis of various developmental stages of *Phytophthora* indicates that developmental structures are transcriptionally distinct (Judelson et al. 2008; Ye et al. 2011; Chen et al. 2013). An RNA-seq study by Ye et al. (2011) showed that zoospores were transcriptionally more similar to cysts, mycelia was more similar to sporulating mycelia and germinating cysts grouped alone (Ye et al. 2011). Here I discuss zoospores, cysts, germinating cysts, mycelia and mycelia containing sporangia in more detail with regard to their function and associated pathogenicity proteins.

The primary infection agents of oomycetes are motile, biflagellate zoospores that are released from sporangia (Hardham 2005). Their main function is to direct the spore to a suitable infection site by following chemotactic- and electrotactic signals emitted from living plant tissue (Hardham and Gubler 1990). The spore orientates itself with its ventral surface facing the plant (Hardham 2005) and attaches to the plant surface by secreting a mucous substance from internal vesicles (Gubler et al. 1989; Hardham and Gubler 1990). This secreted substance contains mucin and adhesin proteins (Görnhardt et al. 2000; Robold and Hardham 2005; Grenville-Briggs et al. 2010). Adhesion is further enhanced by cellulose

binding and elicitor lectin (CBEL) proteins, found in the cell walls of oomycetes that can bind to cellulose components of the host cell wall (Gaulin et al. 2002).

At this stage zoospores transform into cysts by the loss of flagella and the formation of a cell wall that allows the build up of turgor pressure within the cell (Hardham 2005). A germ tube emerges from the cyst and grows along the plant surface until a suitable point of entry is found (Hardham 2005). The objectives of germinating cysts are to penetrate host tissue (through specialized structure called appresoria) and simultaneously prepare the pathogen for direct interaction with the hosts' defence system. Host penetration is aided by the secretion of cell wall degrading enzymes (CWDE) that assist in breaking down this physical barrier of the host (Have et al. 2002) (lignified cell wall and tyloses deposited as a defence strategy by the host (Benhamou and Nicole 1999)). In a similar way proteins that inhibit host plant proteases (Misas-Villamil and van der Hoorn 2008) are released into the apoplastic space to protect the pathogen germling and colonizing hyphae from degradation.

Tissue colonization occurs after successful penetration, consisting of inter- and intracellular spread of hyphae, with haustoria frequently protruding into host cells (Hardham 2001). Haustoria are specialized intracellular biotrophic structures that serve as the front for nutrient, infection- and defence molecule exchange between host and pathogen (Latijnhouwers et al. 2003; Birch et al. 2008). Oomycetes secrete effector molecules into the apoplastic- and haustorial space that act by altering host cell structure and in this way facilitate infection and/or trigger defence responses (Hogenhout et al. 2009). Both elicitins and necrosis-inducing proteins are apoplastic effectors and owe their names to the response observed in the host in the presence of these proteins (Kamoun et al. 1993a; Kamoun et al. 1993b; Bae et al. 2006). The targets of cytoplasmic effectors are inside host cells. The main groups of cytoplasmic effector proteins include the RXLR gene family and Crinkling-and necrosis-inducing proteins (CRN). Members of both families have the ability to suppress host defence responses (Torto et al. 2003; Bos et al. 2010; Liu et al. 2010; Cheng et al. 2012; Chen et al. 2013).

Phytophthora propagates in the form of mycelia within host tissue and accordingly constantly faces attack by the host. The pathogen needs to rapidly respond to survive in this hostile environment. Mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinases are critical for signal transduction and efficient communication during infection and have been implicated in pathogenesis, hyphal colonization and appresoria formation in fungal pathogens (Xu 2000). Protective proteins guard against the host basal defence response by aiding in the transport (ATP-binding cassette transporters) and detoxification (cytopchrome P450, peroxidases,

reductase enzymes etc.) of toxic compounds (including reactive oxygen species) released by the host.

Infection of adjacent plant material (or roots) is established by the generation of more zoospores from sporangia produced by hyphae on infected plant material. This occurs roughly two to three days after infection and rapidly increases the inoculum at a single site (Hardham 2005). The main objective of mycelia is to colonize host tissue, while sporulating mycelia forms part of both sexual and asexual reproduction.

Thus, a successful pathogen is one that can 1) locate suitable hosts, 2) successfully penetrate and colonize the host tissue, 3) effectively protect itself from the host defence system once detected, by either counteracting the effects and actively suppressing defence or lastly, completely escape the host surveillance systems. Pathogenicity genes enable successful infection by fulfilling various functions at specified times to achieve the above mentioned steps during infection. A study by Wang et al. (2011) showed that pre-mature expression of key *Phytophthora sojae* Kaufm. & Gerd. effectors (usually highly expressed only prior to infection or during infection), by DNA transformation, decreased the transformant's virulence on soya bean. Temporal regulation of pathogenicity related genes thus directly impacts on the success of infection and disease development.

In the previous chapter we employed RNA-seq analysis to identify over 2 000 pathogenicity genes within the *in vitro* infection structures of *P. cinnamomi*, cysts and germinating cysts. In this study we determined the expression pattern of seven genes over the four *in vitro* life stages of *P. cinnamomi* (mycelia, sporulating mycelia, zoospores and cysts and germinating cysts) with reverse transcriptase quantitative PCR (RT-qPCR).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

In vitro developmental stages of P. cinnamomi

Mycelia, sporulating mycelia, zoospores and cysts and germinating cysts were produced using an adjusted protocol of Chen and Zentmeyer (1970). Multiple 10 % V8 agar blocks (approximately 2 mm x 2 mm in size) containing a 3-day-old *P. cinnamomi* culture (isolate CNVDB29) were incubated in 5 % V8 broth (cleared V8 juice (Campbell Soup Company, USA), 0.1 g/L CaCO₃, 20 mg/L *B*-sitosterol, distilled water). V8 agar plates contained 17 g/L

agar in addition to the reagents present in V8 broth. After two days incubation under fluorescent light at 23 °C, mycelial plugs were washed with three changes of distilled water and harvested with a nylon sieve.

Sporangia formation was induced by incubating mycelial plugs under fluorescent light at 23 °C in river water (filtered twice through chromatography paper MN260 (Macherey-Nagel, Düren, Germany)) until sporangia developed (36 hours). Both mycelia and sporulating mycelia were harvested with a nylon sieve, frozen in liquid nitrogen, ground to a fine powder and stored at -70 °C.

Zoospore release from sporangia was induced by washing sporulating mycelia with two changes of distilled water at 4 °C, followed by incubation at 4 °C for 12 min. Zoospore release started approximately 1 hour later, while being incubated at 23 °C. The zoospores were separated from sporulating mycelia with a nylon sieve. Zoospores were allowed to encyst and were counted with the Superior haemocytometer (Marienfeld Laboratory Glassware, Lauda-Königshofen, Germany).

To enrich for germinating cysts, zoospores were vigorously shaken for 2 min to induce encystment and incubated in the dark at 19 °C for approximately 90 min. Both zoospores and germinating cysts were harvested via centrifugation (10 000 rpm at 4 °C for 5 min) in the Centrifuge 5810 R (Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany). Pellets were immediately frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -70 °C. All *in vitro* developmental stages were photographed with the AxioCam MRc (Zeiss, Göttingen, Germany) coupled to the Axioskop microscope (Zeiss).

RNA extraction and cDNA synthesis

Total RNA was extracted from mycelia and sporulating mycelia using the CTAB Lithiumchloride method (Chang et al. 1993). Tri-Reagent (Ambion, Life technologies, USA) was used according to the manufacturer's instructions to obtain total RNA from cysts and germinating cysts. The RNA extraction methods were selected based on the quality and quantity RNA obtained from each type of developmental tissue using each method.

All RNA samples were treated with DNase I (Fermentas, Life Sciences, Hanover, USA) and purified using the Qiagen RNeasy cleanup kit (Qiagen, Valencia, California, USA). The presence of residual DNA in RNA samples was assessed by conventional PCR using the LPV3 primer pair (Kong et al. 2003). Each PCR reaction of 25 µl contained 2.5 µl 10X PCR

reaction buffer (Roche Diagnostics, Mannheim, Germany), 200 mM dNTPs (Bioline, London, UK), 3 mM MgCl₂, 0.2 µM of each LPV3 primer, 2 units Fast Start Taq DNA polymerase (Roche Diagnostics), Sabax water and 1 µl purified total RNA (199 – 7 444 ng/µl). As Fast Start Taq polymerase is a DNA dependent polymerase that lacks reverse transcriptase activity, amplification is only possible from a DNA template and no product will be produced from a RNA template. The PCR was performed on the 2720 Thermal Cycler (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, California, USA) under the following cycling conditions: 95 °C for 5 min, followed by 35 cycles at 94 °C for 30 sec, 55 °C for 30 sec and 72 °C for 1 min, finishing with an 8 min incubation at 72 °C. PCR products were analysed with gel electrophoresis (2 % agarose gel, 80 V) yielding a product of 450 bp in size in the presence of DNA.

The purified total RNA concentrations and OD 260/280 and 260/230 ratios were measured with the NanoDrop 2000 Spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific, Wilmington, USA). The cDNA synthesis system (ImProm-II Reverse Transcriptase) from Promega (Madison, Wisconsin, USA) was used according to the manufacturer's instructions, together with oligo poly-dT primers (Roche Diagnostics) to synthesize cDNA, used in RT-qPCR.

Selection of genes, primer design and evaluation

A total of 14 unigenes were selected for expression analysis based on their putative role in oomycete infection as indicated by literature. Two criteria were considered to gain confidence in selected unigene functional annotations: a) the quality of the unigene protein alignment to the protein sequence used for annotation (alignment length of >70 amino acids, >70 % protein similarity) and b) the presence of shared conserved motifs (NCBI conserved domain search tool, (Marchler-Bauer et al. 2011)) between the unigene and homologous protein sequence. Protein sequences were aligned with Mafft Version 7 (Katoh and Standley 2013), trimmed in MEGA 4 (Tamura et al. 2007) and visual outputs created with GeneDoc Version 2.7.000 (Nicholas et al. 1997). Unigene annotations were confirmed through blastx analysis (E-value >1x10⁵) to Phytophthora proteins in the National Centre for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) database (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/), FungiDB database version 2.2 (Stajich et al. 2012), the Phytophthora infestans database (Phytophthora infestans Sequencing Project, Broad Institute of Harvard and MIT (http://www.broadinstitute.org/, downloaded February, 2013) and the P. cinnamomi genome v1.0 (http://genome.jgi.doe.gov/Phyci1/Phyci1.home.html, downloaded March, 2013).

Primers were designed to selected target unigene sequences using Primer3Plus version 2.3.5 (Untergasser et al. 2012) (amplicon size 70 – 150 bp, GC content 40-65 %, primer length 18-23 bp) and NetPrimer (PREMIER Biosoft, Palo Alto, CA, USA). Primer sequences directed against candidate endogenous control genes were obtained from the literature. This included primer pairs directed to ubiquitin-conjugated enzyme (Ubc), translation elongation factor 1 alpha (EF-1 α), Beta-tubulin (β -tubulin) and glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) genes from King et al. (2010) and the WS041 primer pair from Narayan et al. (2010). All primers were synthesized by Integrated DNA Technologies (Coralville, United States). The target unigene name, primer sequences, annealing temperatures (Ta) used in RT-qPCR and the expected size of the products are provided in Table 1.

Primer specificity was evaluated with conventional PCR (as described above) and melting peak analysis via RT-qPCR using the Bio-Rad CFX Manager Software Version 1.5.534.0511 (Bio Rad laboratories, Hercules, California, USA). A dilution series (1:5, 1:10, 1:50, 1:100, 1:500 and 1:1000) of cDNA (containing small amounts of various cDNA samples from this study) was constructed to evaluate reference gene primer efficiency using the standard curve method. An additional dilution series (1:2, 1:5, 1:25, 1:50, 1:100 and 1:500) of DNA was used to determine the primer efficiency of primers directed to the target genes, as the amount of cDNA available was limited. RT-qPCR reactions were performed on the C1000 cycler CFX96 Real-Time System (Bio Rad laboratories). Each 20 µl reaction contained 10 µl 2x SensiMix SYBR No-ROX Master mix (Bioline, London, UK), 2 µl diluted cDNA (dilutions as described above), 1 µl of each forward and reverse gene specific primer (10 µM) and Sabax water. The reactions were performed in triplicate under the following conditions: 95 °C for 10 min, 42 cycles of 95 °C for 15 sec, Ta for 15 sec and 72 °C for 15 sec. The slope of the fitted regression line was used to determine the efficiency of each primer set.

Gene expression profiling using RT-qPCR

The expression pattern of seven pathogenicity genes (indicated with * in Table 3) was assessed across the *in vitro* life stages of *P. cinnamomi*. All reactions were performed in triplicate for four biological replicate samples of each life stage (mycelia, sporulating mycelia, zoospores, cysts and germinating cysts). Cycling conditions and reaction constitution were the same as described above, using 2 μ l of cDNA (1:5) as template in each reaction. The expression stability of potential endogenous control genes was calculated with the Bio-Rad CFX Manager Software Version 1.5.534.0511 (Bio Rad laboratories), employing the geNorm method (Vandesompele et al. 2002). Gene expression levels of each target gene were

calculated by the same software, taking the determined primer efficiency into account and using three endogenous control genes (WS041, Ubc, β -tubulin) to normalize the data.

Statistical analysis

Significant differences in gene expression levels between life stages were determined with analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by a Least Square Means Differences Student's t-test using the JMP '9 software (p>0.05) (SAS Institute, Cary, North Carolina).

RESULTS

RNA extraction and cDNA synthesis

Phytophthora cinnamomi (isolate CNVDB29) grew profusely in V8 broth producing mycelia, sporulating mycelia, zoospores, cysts and germinating cysts (Figure 1). On average, zoospore concentrations of 4x10⁴ spores/ml were obtained. Total RNA was successfully extracted from all developmental stages (Figure 2) and of sufficient quality to enable cDNA synthesis (Table 2). Conventional PCR (with a DNA dependent polymerase, lacking reverse transcriptase activity) confirmed the absence of residual DNA in all RNA samples (Figure 3).

Real-time RT-qPCR primer efficiency and specificity

Selection of candidate pathogenicity genes

Fourteen unigenes representing 11 pathogenicity gene groups (as described in Chapter 2 of this thesis) were selected for expression analysis (Table 3). These included two RXLR effector genes, one necrosis-inducing *Phytophthora* protein, one protease inhibitor, one elicitin, one small cysteine rich protein, four genes involved in pathogen adhesion and four cell wall degrading enzymes. All the selected unigenes showed significant homology to proteins predicted in the genome of *P. cinnamomi* (blastx analysis) (Table 4). The quality of the protein alignment, between the translated unigene and the protein sequence used for annotation, supported the functional annotation assigned to each unigene (requirements stipulated in the materials and methods section) (Table 5 and Figure 4). Of the 14 selected unigenes, nine contained conserved domains that are also present in the homologous

protein sequence. The five remaining unigenes shared at least 70 % similar amino acids with the homologous protein sequence over an alignment length of at least 75 amino acids.

Primer efficiency and specificity

The efficiency of each primer set (including primer pairs directed against five candidate endogenous control genes and 14 target genes) was evaluated using the standard curve method. A primer pair with 100 % efficiency will produce a slope of -3.32 during standard curve analysis. Thirteen primer pairs produced standard curves with slopes between -3.6 and -3.1 corresponding to primer efficiencies between 90 – 110 % (Figures 5 and 6). This included primer pairs amplifying reference genes Ubc, GAPDH, β -tubulin and WS041 and nine primer pairs directed to unigenes U8949, U15350, C31843, U6659, U2360, U6179, C83210, U4987 and U6809. The slopes of the standard curves generated for primer pairs amplifying the EF-1 α gene and unigenes U17693, U6180, U8663, U9332 and U3104 were not within the accepted parameters (between -3.6 and -3.1). Accordingly the six above mentioned primer pairs and their corresponding genes were eliminated from further analysis.

The remaining 13 primer pairs were assessed with respect to primer specificity. Primer pair C31843 produced multiple peaks during melting curve analysis, suggesting that more than one product is amplified from cDNA by this primer pair (Figure 10B discussed later). Accordingly primer pair C31843 could not be used in expression analysis. The primer pairs amplifying endogenous control genes Ubc, GAPDH, β -tubulin and WS041 and eight primer pairs directed to unigenes U8949, U15350, U6659, U6179, C83210, U4987, U6809 and U2360 produced single PCR products as illustrated by gel electrophoresis analysis (Figure 7) and single trace signal during melting curve analysis (Figure 8). These 12 primer pairs were used in gene expression analysis as they were efficient and target specific.

Normalized expression analysis

Assessing the expression stability of candidate endogenous control genes

Real time RT-qPCR was used to determine the relative quantity of each transcript (WS041, Ubc, β -tubulin and GAPDH) across the *in vitro* life stages of *P. cinnamomi*. The M-value (gene stability value) for each candidate endogenous control gene was less than 0.5 (Table 6). The lower the M-value assigned to a gene, the more stable the expression is across the experimental conditions tested (Vandesompele et al. 2002), making it more suitable to act as

an endogenous control gene in a relative expression study. Genes WS041, Ubc and β -tubulin were selected to normalize the expression level of the target genes.

Gene expression profiling of target pathogenicity genes

Quantitative RT-PCR was used to assess the expression pattern of eight selected pathogenicity genes of *P. cinnamomi*. Great variation in cycle threshold values (Ct values differ >0.5) were repeatedly detected between technical replicates using primer pair U2360 during RT-qPCR analysis. Accordingly, the expression pattern of unigene U2630 could not be evaluated. Expression analysis was performed for the remaining seven unigenes (C83210, U15350, U4987, U6659, U6179, U8949 and U6809) across the *in vitro* life stages of *P. cinnamomi* (Figure 9).

Six of the seven genes assessed were significantly upregulated in the zoospore developmental stage in comparison to the mycelial phase. This included the effector genes (RXLR, NPP1 and elicitin genes), the polygalactorunase enzyme, CBEL and a mucin-like protein. The RXLR gene, the elicitin gene and the adhesion-like gene remained significantly induced in the cyst and germinating cyst phase relative to mycelia, although their expression levels were significantly lower than that in the zoospore developmental stage (Figure 9).

Transcript abundance of C83210 (RXLR-motif containing unigene) was 7.32 and 6.46 times higher in zoospores and cysts and germinating cysts respectively, relative to mycelial transcript levels (Table 7), while expression was significantly lower in sporulating mycelia (Figure 9). The NPP1 transcript accumulated to similar levels in mycelia, sporulating mycelia and cysts and germinating cysts, with a highly significant 5.79 fold induction in expression level (relative to mycelia) in the zoospore developmental stage. U4987 (elicitin gene) was significantly induced in the zoospore and cysts and germinating cyst phase (with respective 7.87 and 3.84 fold increase relative to the mycelia phase), with no noteworthy difference between mycelial and sporulating mycelial expression levels. The relative expression of the cell wall degrading enzyme, polygalacturonase (U6659) did not vary significantly between the developmental stages, except for a significant 1.63 fold induction observed in the zoospore phase, relative to mycelia. The CBEL transcript was significantly upregulated (8.81 fold) in zoospores relative to mycelia, with cysts and germinating cysts having similar expression levels than observed in mycelia. The mucin-like transcript (U8949) was significantly less abundant in zoospores and cyst and geminating cyst phases relative to mycelia. Lastly, an 18.69 fold increase was seen in the relative expression level of U6809 (the adhesin-like gene) in zoospores and a 6.63 fold increase in sporulating mycelia, relative

to mycelial levels. U6809 transcript abundance was significantly higher in germinating cysts (3.93 fold induction) than in mycelia.

Putative alternative splicing

Multiple peaks were detected during melting curve analysis of PCR products produced by the primer pair amplifying contig C31843 (RXLR-motif containing transcript) from *P. cinnamomi* cDNA (Figure 10B). Melting curve analysis of the PCR product produced from DNA by this primer pair indicated a single trace signal (at a melting temperature of 82 °C) (Figure 10A). In contrast, two melting peaks (at 82 °C and 85 °C) were detected when analysing the products amplified from cDNA of mycelia and sporulating mycelia by the same primer pair (Figure 10C and D), while melting curve analysis of the products from cDNA of zoospores and germinating cysts pointed to a single product similar to that produced from DNA (Figure 10E and F). Gel electrophoresis analysis suggests the presence of three products amplified from cDNA samples of the mycelial and sporulating mycelial phases from the same *P. cinnamomi* isolate (estimated sizes of 89 bp, 200 bp and 230 bp). The intensity of the larger sized bands was very low in comparison to the band of the primary product of 89 bp (Figure 11).

DISCUSSION

As a wide host range pathogen against which effective control strategies are lacking, investigation into the molecular basis of *P. cinnamomi* pathogenicity is critical. In this chapter, the expression pattern of seven putative pathogenicity genes was assessed across the *in vitro* developmental stages of *P. cinnamomi* (mycelia, sporulating mycelia, zoospores and cysts and germinating cysts) with the aim of gaining a better understanding of the infection strategy. This included expression profiling of three effector genes (RXLR-, NPP1- and elicitin genes), one cell wall degrading enzyme gene and three genes involved in pathogen adhesion.

The RXLR-, elicitin and adhesion-like genes showed elevated expression in *P. cinnamomi* cysts and germinating cysts, relative to the mycelial phase. The majority of the genes evaluated (six), however were most abundant in the zoospore stage. Microarray analysis of *Phytophthora infestans* (Mont.) de Bary during the same *in vitro* life stages suggested that genes involved in a specific developmental phase (e.g. haustoria formation) are already

induced in the stage preceding it (i.e. germinating cysts stage) (Judelson et al. 2008). Effector genes are accordingly expected to be induced in germinating cysts, pathogen adhesion molecules to be upregulated in zoospores and the necrosis-inducing protein to be expressed directly prior to the necrotrophic phase (during *in planta* infection). Based on this assumption, elevated expression in zoospores could indicate that the products of these genes are functionally important in the cysts and germinating cysts phase.

An alternative explanation involves the normalization factor (based on relative quantity of three endogenous control genes) used to normalize the expression level of each gene at each developmental stage. Suitable endogenous control genes are selected based on a high gene expression stability value, indicating that they are constitutively expressed at a constant level, independent of the treatment (or developmental stage). The geNorm algorithm, used to determine the endogenous control gene expression stability, calculates the gene stability value based on the principle that the expression ratio between various stable expressed genes would remain constant across different treatment groups. A situation may arise in which the expression ratio between endogenous control genes remains constant between different treatment groups (developmental stages) (resulting in a high gene stability value), but the relative quantity of all the endogenous control genes differ between treatments (resulting in different normalization factors for each treatment group). This may be possible in samples that are transcriptionally incomparable, as indicated by the large transcriptional shifts that occur between the various in vitro developmental stages of Phytophthora (Ye et al. 2011; Chen et al. 2013). If this is the case it may explain the unexpected high expression levels indicated in zoospores of most pathogenicity genes investigated in this study. RNA-seg analysis, where individual transcripts are counted as opposed to the measure of cycle threshold values, may verify the above mentioned hypothesis.

We amplified an RXLR-motif containing unigene (U31843) from DNA and cDNA of *P. cinnamomi* using a gene specific primer pair. Single trace signal indicated the amplification of a single product from DNA by this primer pair, while multiple products were detected in cDNA templates after melting curve analysis (two peaks) and gel electrophoresis (three bands). Different sized products with the same GC content will dissociate at the same temperature during melting curve analysis. This may explain the observation of only two melting peaks, while three bands were visible in gel electrophoresis analysis. The single product produced from DNA indicates that the primer pair is gene specific. The different sized transcripts present in cDNA may be explained by alternative splicing of mRNA transcripts. Alternative splicing has been reported in *Pseudoperonospora cubensis* (Berk. &

M.A. Curtis) Rostovzev and *P. sojae* (Shen et al. 2011; Savory et al. 2012). It is interesting that alternative splicing of transcript U31843 seemed to be restricted to the mycelial and sporulating mycelial phases as it was not detected in the zoospore and cysts and germinating cysts phases of *P. cinnamomi*. Evidence of stage dependent alternative splicing was found in at least 20 % of genes expressed in sporangia of *Ps. cubensis* and during early and late infection of *Cucumis sativus* (Cumbie 2013). The same may be true for transcript U31843 of *P. cinnamomi*. Alternative splicing may act as a mechanism to increase functional variation within the rapidly adapting effector repertoire of pathogens. The different products produced from cDNA need to be sequenced to confirm that they result from alternative splicing and not from non-specific amplification from cDNA by this primer pair.

The expression patterns of three effector genes were assessed including one RXLR (Argany amino acid-Leu-Arg) motif containing gene, one elicitin gene and one gene showing homology to the necrosis-inducing *Phytophthora* protein 1 (NPP1). Transcript levels of C83210, homologous to P. sojae Avh448 (RXLR protein), accumulated to higher levels in zoospores and germinating cysts than in *P. cinnamomi* mycelia. This is consistent with the expression pattern observed for most RXLR genes from oomycete species, where RXLR genes are more induced in the germinating cysts and/or appresorial developmental stages in comparison to mycelia (Judelson et al. 2008; Kebdani et al. 2010; Chen et al. 2011; Ye et al. 2011). The bulk of *P. infestans* RXLR gene expression is restricted to the biotrophic phase, coinciding with the presence of haustoria (Whisson et al. 2007). The upregulation of this P. cinnamomi RXLR gene in the germinating cyst phase suggests that it might function during early infection. Individual RXLR gene expression patterns show various temporal profiles. Some RXLR transcripts are present in pre-infection structures, others are restricted to plant infection, few are induced in the necrotrophic phase, while others are expressed during all the mentioned stages with higher induction at some points (Whisson et al. 2007; Wang et al. 2011; Chen et al. 2013). This differential regulation of RXLR family members implies that RXLR proteins function at different times during the infection process. Functional characterization of numerous RXLR proteins has illustrated their diverse functions in manipulating host physiology. The Avr3a effector from P. infestans, for example, stabilizes host E3 ligase CMPG1 (Bos et al. 2010) to suppress CMPG1-dependent cell death triggered by recognition of various pathogen elicitors (Bos et al. 2006; Gilroy et al. 2011). Phytophthora sojae effector Avr3b has ADP-ribose/NADH pyrophosphorylase activity and may act as a negative regulator of host plant immunity (Dong et al. 2011). Much research is required to speculate about the function of the product produced from transcript C83210, but its elevated expression in the germinating cysts phase suggest a role during early infection.

U4987, an elicitin-like gene, shows homology to the same gene from clade 3a (INL3a-like) of P. infestans. This gene family is divided into 17 clades containing elicitins and elicitin-like (ELL) genes based on the positions of the conserved cysteine residues within the elicitin domain (Jiang et al. 2006). Recognition of elicitin proteins induces a hypersensitive response (HR) in some plant species (Kamoun et al. 1993a; Kamoun et al. 1993b; Bonnet et al. 1996), associating this family with pathogenesis. This protein family is suggested to function in sterol acquisition in *Phytophthora* species (Vauthrin et al. 1999; Jiang et al. 2006; Yousef et al. 2011), but their role in pathogenisis remains unclear. Elicitins from the same clade show similar expression patterns. Clade 3 elicitins from P. infestans, P. sojae and P. capsici Leonian were more abundant in zoospore and germinating cysts phases than in mycelia (Qutob et al. 2003; Jiang et al. 2006; Chen et al. 2013). The data generated in this study supported these previous findings, indicating increased U4987 transcript accumulation in the zoospore and cysts and germinating cysts phases of P. cinnamomi. RNA-seq analysis of 46 *P. sojae* elicitin genes indicated high transcript abundance during pre-infection as well as during infection, with elevated expression levels in mycelia and zoospores (Ye et al. 2011). The precise role of elicitins in *Phytophthora* biology is unknown, but their expression pattern and elicitor activity suggest that they function in germinating cysts and during early infection.

Necrosis inducing proteins (NIPs) induce cell death in the host as part of the infection strategy (Bae et al. 2006), and is thought to facilitate the switch between trophic phases in hemi-biotrophic pathogens. It is therefore interesting that the NPP1-like (U15350) unigene in this study is upregulated during the zoospore phase of *P. cinnamomi*. Similar to this, necrosis-like proteins (NLP) of P. sojae showed two main induction points, one in germinating cysts and a second one at 12 -24 hpi of soya bean (start of necrotrophy) (Ye et al. 2011; Dong et al. 2012). Therefore the same proteins are expressed in *P. sojae* and *P. cinnamomi* pre-infection, but the time of expression varies. It is possible that the NIPs are suppressed by other effector proteins expressed in pre-infection- and infection structures (Dong et al. 2012), until the pathogen is ready to live off dead plant material. Kelley et al. (2010) showed that *P. infestans* suppressor of necrosis protein 1 (SNE1) is co-ordinately expressed with other necrosis inducing proteins (NIPs and Avr proteins) and is able to suppress their necrotic effect within Solanum lycopersicum. The authors suggest this antagonistic action as a regulatory mechanism to control the switch between biotrophy and necrotrohpy (Kelley et al. 2010). The same control mechanism may function within P. cinnamomi in the zoospore phase to suppress necrosis, although this remains to be determined. In contrast to the NIP expression observed in pre-infection structures of P. cinnamomi, other investigations did not detect NIP induction in germinating cysts, but only

during plant infection (and in mycelia in the case of *P. sojae* and *Phytophthora megakarya*) (Qutob et al. 2002; Bae et al. 2005; Haas et al. 2009). A study by Dong et al. (2012), detected varied expression patterns of 13 NIPs of *P. sojae* via RT-PCR, where some NIPs had two induction points, while others were only induced in germinating cysts or during late *in planta* infection of soya bean. Together, the data suggest differential regulation of NIP genes.

Plant pathogens secrete hydrolytic enzymes that degrade the plant cell wall (Have et al. 2002), a physical barrier in plant defence. Polygalacturonase (an enzyme which degrades pectin) is one of the first hydrolytic enzymes secreted by many plant pathogens during infection (Jones et al. 1972), exposing other components of the cell wall to different CWDE. The P. cinnamomi polygalacturonase (U6659) expression profile showed a significant increase in transcript abundance in zoospores relative to mycelia, while the expression in the other in vitro stages remained constant and at lower levels. The expression level of transcript U6659 in the cysts and germinating cysts phase did not differ significantly from the transcript abundance in zoospores, although it was not significantly higher than in mycelia. This profile suggests that the product of transcript U6659 may be functionally active in the cysts and germinating cysts phase of P. cinnamomi, aiding in plant cell wall hydrolysis once the pathogen is in contact with the host surface. In contrast to the detected regulation of the polygalacturonase of P. cinnamomi in this study, the mean transcript abundance of 24 polygalacturonase genes of *P. sojae* revealed a different expression profile (Ye et al. 2011). The *P. sojae* polygalacturonase family had a higher transcript abundance in mycelia, germinating cysts and during the biotrophic phase of soya bean infection, with decreased expression in zoospores (Ye et al. 2011). The average expression level of this group of genes was lower than that of other CWDE (serine protease, cysteine protease and glucanase enzyme genes) of *P. sojae* (Ye et al. 2011). Polycalacturonase genes exist as large families in *Phytophthora* species (with 3 to 19 members as listed in FungiDB database version 2.3) and P. cinnamomi has at least 17 members (Götesson et al. 2002). A cumulative effect may be achieved if all members are expressed at low levels simultaneously. Alternatively individual members of the gene family may be induced during different developmental stages, explaining the varied expression patterns observed between the single polygalacturonase of *P. cinnamomi* and the gene family of *P. sojae*.

CBEL proteins are family 1 carbohydrate binding molecules (CBM1) that are specific to the oomycete lineage (Larroque et al. 2012). It is functionally implicated in cell wall deposition and adhesion to cellulose substrates (Gaulin et al. 2002). The cellulose binding domain of the protein is a pathogen-associated molecular pattern (PAMP), eliciting host defence

responses (Gaulin et al. 2006). The CBEL protein transcript (U6179) from P. cinnamomi accumulated to highest levels in the zoospore phase and was not significantly induced in cysts and germinating cysts relative to mycelial levels (0.23 fold). This is similar to the expression pattern observed for the P. infestans CBEL transcript (Grenville-Briggs et al. 2010). CBEL was also highly expressed in sporulating mycelia of *P. infestans* relative to mycelia, while transcript abundance was even lower in sporulating mycelia in this study of P. cinnamomi. Since P. infestans sporangia detach and disperse (Gerrettson-Cornell 1989), it is not unexpected to observe adhesion related transcripts expressed in this developmental structure. Phytophthora cinnamomi sporangia are non-papillate and thus the pathogen relies on zoospores to locate the host surface. Accordingly, the expression of CBEL in P. cinnamomi zoospores, the stage preceding the cyst developmental phase where cysts attach to host surfaces, support the role of CBEL proteins in recognizing and binding to cellulose in plant cell walls (Gaulin et al. 2002). The opposite expression pattern was observed in *P. sojae* (non-papillate sporangia), where the average transcripts level of five CBEL genes decreased in zoospores and germinating cysts and were highly induced in mycelia, sporulating mycelia and in planta (Ye et al. 2011). It may be possible that different CBEL genes are expressed during different pre-infection phases.

Other genes involved in pathogen adhesion include adhesion-like genes (Robold and Hardham 2005) and mucin-like genes. The adhesion-like gene investigated (U6809) in this study was expressed during all in vitro growth stages of P. cinnamomi, but was highly induced in zoospores. It is interesting that this adhesin-like transcript is more abundant in sporulating mycelia than in germinating cysts. None the less, increased expression in zoospores and germinating cyst relative to mycelia suggest that this protein might function during early infection. In contrast to this, the relative expression level of transcript U8949 (mucin-like protein) was higher in mycelia and sporulating mycelia of *P. cinnamomi* than in zoospores and germinating cysts. This reflects the same expression pattern as observed from the average expression analysis of seven mucin-like genes from P. sojae, also indicating high transcript accumulation during soya bean infection (Ye et al. 2011). In contrast to this, the expression of three mucin-like proteins from P. infestans was restricted to germinating cysts as determined by Northern blot analysis (Görnhardt et al. 2000). Mucins are large, threonine, cysteine and serine rich glycoproteins that are either secreted or associated with the cell membrane (Perez-Vilar and Hill 1999; Hicks et al. 2000). They act as lubricants, signal molecules and protectants by covering surfaces and preventing dehydration (Perez-Vilar and Hill 1999). The expression pattern observed for the mucin-like transcript in this study suggests that oomycete mucins rather act as protective agents than in facilitating pathogen adhesion.

CONCLUSION

This is the first study to investigate pathogenicity related gene expression in *P. cinnamomi*. The expression patterns of seven pathogenicity related genes, identified from an RNA-seq library of the cyst and germinating cyst phase of *P. cinnamomi*, were evaluated across four *in vitro* developmental stages. The majority of the genes assessed were highly induced in the zoospore developmental stage, indicating that they are functionally important in the subsequent phase, namely germinating cysts and may be involved in the infection process. Analysis of individual gene expression profiles revealed similar expression patterns as indicated for other oomycete species. Even though the *in vitro* expression pattern of genes provide insight into their potential function, expression analysis within a specific *in planta* interaction is necessary to obtain a more complete understanding of infection. Putative alternative splicing was observed in a RXLR-containing gene. Alternative splicing may serve as a mechanism to increase variation among the effector repertoire with regard to function and the ability to evade host detection, and will be interesting to investigate further among other effector genes.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by funding from the National Research Foundation THRIP Grant TP 2011060300010, The Hans Merensky Foundation and Westfalia.

TABLES

Table 1. Sequences of primers to be used in RT-qPCR analysis, targeting pathogenicity related genes of *Phytophthora cinnamomi*. The annealing temperature (Ta) used in reactions and the expected product size are indicated for each primer pair.

C31843GATGACAAGAAGCCCAAGTTGTCTCCGTCCTTCTTC8958C83210TACCGAGGCTGAAAATCCCTTCTTGTCGTCGTTCAC8858U15350GTTCCAAGACCTCATCACTCTGTATCCTTCCTCC10258U17693TCTGACGGGATGACATACTCGTGTGCTTTGGTAATAG8358U2360TTCCATCAAGAACACGTTCTCCTTGGACAGCGTAATG7558U3104GGTGGTGTCGGCTGTATCGACGAAGGCTTTGGACTGAG7561U4987ACAACGGGCATATTCAAGGTTAGTAGCTCCCATCAG7558U6179TGGTACTCGTTGAAGAAAGAAGACTGTGTACGGTTTG9258U6180CACGATACCAGTGACGACCGACCAAAACGAGAAGAG8058U6659GTCACCATCACAGGAAACTGCTGAAGACCGTGTTAG7958U8809TCATCCAAGAAGTCATCGTTCCAGTTCAGTCAGTC7858U8949GCTCCAGTCTTGATCTCCCACGAACCTGTCTAG8458U8663CAAGTGCGTGCTGATCTCCTCGGCATCTTGATCTTCT7558U9332GATCAATTCCACACTATGAACTCTGTGTACTTACTG8658
C83210TACCGAGGCTGAAAATCCCTTCTTGTCGTCGTTCAC8858U15350GTTCCAAGACCTCATCACTCTGTATCCTTCCTCC10258U17693TCTGACGGGATGACATACTCGTGTGCTTTGGTAATAG8358U2360TTCCATCAAGAACACGTTCTCCTTGGACAGCGTAATG7558U3104GGTGGTGTCGGCTGTATCGACGAAGGCTTTGGACTGAG7561U4987ACAACGGGCATATTCAAGGTTAGTAGCTCCCATCAG7558U6179TGGTACTCGTTGAAGAAAGAAGACTGTGTACGGTTTG9258U6180CACGATACCAGTGACGACCGACCAAAACGAGAAGAG8058U6659GTCACCATCACAGGAAACTGCTGAAGACCGTGTTAG7958U8809TCATCCAAGAAGTCATCGTTCCAGTTCAGTCAGTTC7858U8949GCTCCAGTCTTGATCTCCCACGAGAACCTGTCTAG8458U8663CAAGTGCGTGCTGATCTCCTCGGCATCTTGATCTTCT7558U9332GATCAATTCCAACTATGAACTCTGTGTACTTACTG8658
U15350GTTCCAAGACCTCATCACTCTGTATCCTTCCTCC10258U17693TCTGACGGGATGACATACTCGTGTGCTTTGGTAATAG8358U2360TTCCATCAAGAACACGTTCTCCTTGGACAGCGTAATG7558U3104GGTGGTGTCGGCTGTATCGACGAAGGCTTTGGACTGAG7561U4987ACAACGGGCATATTCAAGGTTAGTAGCTCCCATCAG7558U6179TGGTACTCGTTGAAGAAAGAAGACTGTGTACGGTTTG9258U6180CACGATACCAGTGACGACCGACCAAAACGAGAAGAG8058U6659GTCACCATCACAGGAAACTGCTGAAGACCGTGTTAG7958U8949GCTCCAGTCTTGATCTCCCACGAGAACCTGTCTAG8458U8663CAAGTGCGTGCTGATCCCTCCGGCATCTTGATCTTC7558U9332GATCAATTCCACACTATGAACTCTGTGTACTACTG8658
U17693TCTGACGGGATGACATACTCGTGTGCTTTGGTAATAG8358U2360TTCCATCAAGAACACGTTCTCCTTGGACAGCGTAATG7558U3104GGTGGTGTCGGCTGTATCGACGAAGGCTTTGGACTGAG7561U4987ACAACGGGCATATTCAAGGTTAGTAGCTCCCATCAG7558U6179TGGTACTCGTTGAAGAAAGAAGACTGTGTACGGTTTG9258U6180CACGATACCAGTGACGACCGACCAAAACGAGAAGAG8058U6659GTCACCATCACAGGAAACTGCTGAAGACCGTGTTAG7958U8809TCATCCAAGAAGTCATCGTTCCAGTTCAGTCAGTTC7858U8949GCTCCAGTCTTGATCTTCCCACGAGAACCTGTCTAG8458U8663CAAGTGCGTGCTGATCTCCTCGGCATCTTGATCTTCTC7558U9332GATCAATTCCACACTATGAACTCTGTGTACTTACTG8658
U2360TTCCATCAAGAACACGTTCTCCTTGGACAGCGTAATG7558U3104GGTGGTGTCGGCTGTATCGACGAAGGCTTTGGACTGAG7561U4987ACAACGGGCATATTCAAGGTTAGTAGCTCCCATCAG7558U6179TGGTACTCGTTGAAGAAAGAAGACTGTGTACGGTTTG9258U6180CACGATACCAGTGACGACCGACCAAAACGAGAAGAG8058U6659GTCACCATCACAGGAAACTGCTGAAGACCGTGTTAG7958U6809TCATCCAAGAAGTCATCGTTCCAGTTCAGTCAGTTC7858U8949GCTCCAGTCTTGATCTTCCCACGAGAACCTGTCTAG8458U8663CAAGTGCGTGCTGATCTCCTCGGCATCTTGATCTTCTC7558U9332GATCAATTCCACACTATGAACTCTGTGTACTTACTG8658
U3104GGTGGTGTCGGCTGTATCGACGAAGGCTTTGGACTGAG7561U4987ACAACGGGCATATTCAAGGTTAGTAGCTCCCATCAG7558U6179TGGTACTCGTTGAAGAAAGAAGACTGTGTACGGTTTG9258U6180CACGATACCAGTGACGACCGACCAAAACGAGAAGAG8058U6659GTCACCATCACAGGAAACTGCTGAAGACCGTGTTAG7958U6809TCATCCAAGAAGTCATCGTTCCAGTTCAGTCAGTTC7858U8949GCTCCAGTCTTGATCTTCCCACGAGAACCTGTCTAG8458U8663CAAGTGCGTGCTGATCTCCTCGGCATCTTGATCTTCTC7558U9332GATCAATTCCACACTATGAACTCTGTGTACTTACTG8658
U4987ACAACGGGCATATTCAAGGTTAGTAGCTCCCATCAG7558U6179TGGTACTCGTTGAAGAAAGAAGACTGTGTACGGTTTG9258U6180CACGATACCAGTGACGACCGACCAAAACGAGAAGAG8058U6659GTCACCATCACAGGAAACTGCTGAAGACCGTGTTAG7958U6809TCATCCAAGAAGTCATCGTTCCAGTTCAGTCAGTTC7858U8949GCTCCAGTCTTGATCTTCCCACGAGAACCTGTCTAG8458U8663CAAGTGCGTGCTGATCTCCTCGGCATCTTGATCTTCT7558U9332GATCAATTCCACACTATGAACTCTGTGTACTTACTG8658
U6179TGGTACTCGTTGAAGAAAGAAGACTGTGTACGGTTTG9258U6180CACGATACCAGTGACGACCGACCAAAACGAGAAGAG8058U6659GTCACCATCACAGGAAACTGCTGAAGACCGTGTTAG7958U6809TCATCCAAGAAGTCATCGTTCCAGTTCAGTCAGTTC7858U8949GCTCCAGTCTTGATCTTCCCACGAGAACCTGTCTAG8458U8663CAAGTGCGTGCTGATCTCCTCGGCATCTTGATCTTCTC7558U9332GATCAATTCCACACTATGAACTCTGTGTACTTACTG8658
U6180CACGATACCAGTGACGACCGACCAAAACGAGAAGAG8058U6659GTCACCATCACAGGAAACTGCTGAAGACCGTGTTAG7958U6809TCATCCAAGAAGTCATCGTTCCAGTTCAGTCAGTTC7858U8949GCTCCAGTCTTGATCTTCCCACGAGAACCTGTCTAG8458U8663CAAGTGCGTGCTGATCTCCTCGGCATCTTGATCTTCTC7558U9332GATCAATTCCACACTATGAACTCTGTGTACTTACTG8658
U6659GTCACCATCACAGGAAACTGCTGAAGACCGTGTTAG7958U6809TCATCCAAGAAGTCATCGTTCCAGTTCAGTCAGTTC7858U8949GCTCCAGTCTTGATCTTCCCACGAGAACCTGTCTAG8458U8663CAAGTGCGTGCTGATCTCCTCGGCATCTTGATCTTCTC7558U9332GATCAATTCCACACTATGAACTCTGTGTACTTACTG8658
U6809TCATCCAAGAAGTCATCGTTCCAGTTCAGTCAGTTC7858U8949GCTCCAGTCTTGATCTTCCCACGAGAACCTGTCTAG8458U8663CAAGTGCGTGCTGATCTCCTCGGCATCTTGATCTTCTC7558U9332GATCAATTCCACACTATGAACTCTGTGTACTTACTG8658
U8949GCTCCAGTCTTGATCTTCCCACGAGAACCTGTCTAG8458U8663CAAGTGCGTGCTGATCTCCTCGGCATCTTGATCTTCTC7558U9332GATCAATTCCACACTATGAACTCTGTGTACTTACTG8658
U8663CAAGTGCGTGCTGATCTCCTCGGCATCTTGATCTTCC7558U9332GATCAATTCCACACTATGAACTCTGTGTACTTACTG8658
U9332 GATCAATTCCACACTATG AACTCTGTGTACTTACTG 86 58
Primers directed to candidate reference genes from the literature:
Ubc ^a CTGAACATCTACTTCCCGGCC CGTTGGCATTGATGTTGCAG 70-150 61
β-tubulin ^a TGACCCAGCAGCAGTTCG CATCGACCTCCTTCGTGCTC 117 61
GAPDH ^a CCATCCGTGTGTTCAACGAG GTGAAGGCACCCGTGGAC 70-150 61
EF-1 α ^a CGAGAAGTCGGGCAACATGC TTGTCAACCGGGCGC 90 61
WS041 ^b GCTGACCAACAACGGCACG GATCACCTCCGTACCTGCG 178 61

^a King et al. (2010)

^b Narayan et al. (2010)

Life stage	Biological	RNA concentration	OD	OD
	replicate	(ng/µl)	260/280	260/230
Mycelia	1	741.47	2.18	2.18
	2	424.53	2.15	2.26
	3	660.8	2.16	2.1
	4	402	2.15	1.96
Sporulating mycelia	1	391.67	2.14	2.17
	2	781.43	2.2	2.35
	3	532.97	2.2	2.25
	4	707.9	2.17	1.38
Zoospores	1	1540.4	2.2	2.2
	2	2214.37	2.08	2.02
	3	1352.87	2.15	2.28
	4	459.867	2.13	2.13
Cysts and germinating	1	199.27	2.15	1.95
cysts	2	7444.87	2.18	2.44
	3	914.43	2.18	2.31
	4	4225.73	2.08	2.03

Table 2.	Quality and	concentration	of purified	total RNA	from	Phytophthora	cinnamomi	in vitro
life stage	s.							

Table 3. Unigenes from the *Phytophthora cinnamomi* cyst and germinating cyst cDNA library selected for expression analysis. The best *Phytophthora* protein match during blastx analysis and its functional description is indicated for each unigene.

Unigene ID	Protein ID of best blast hit	Species	Putative function	Bit Score	E-value
C31843	Physo_298800 ª	P. sojae	SNEL2	55.84	2.40E-13
C83210*	Phyra_97565 ^a	P. ramorum	Pr_Avh387	32.73	1.42E-06
U15350*	PITG_19936	P. infestans	NPP1-like protein	111.69	5.04E-26
U17693	PITG_07096	P. infestans	protease inhibitor Epi11	66.24	3.00E-12
U2360	EGZ23444.1 ^b	P. sojae	cellulase-1	165.24	6.39E-45
U3104	PITG_15968	P. infestans	mucin-like protein	114.78	5.80E-27
U4987*	PITG_06370	P. infestans	elicitin INL3a-like protein	55.84	3.23E-09
U6179*	PITG_03640	P. infestans	CBEL putative	167.16	5.69E-47
U6180	PITG_12361	P. infestans	cutinase, putative	338.96	3.39E-100
U6659*	AAN05466.1 ^b	P. cinnamomi	polygalacturonase	192.2	1.14E-57
U6809*	PITG_16183	P. infestans	adhesin-like protein	200.29	3.25E-52
U8663	PITG_16145	P. infestans	small cysteine rich protein SCR108-like protein	194.13	1.10E-50
U8949*	PITG_09760	P. infestans	mucin-like protein	157.15	8.95E-39
U9332	PITG_17947	P. infestans	chitinase, putative	196.82	4.68E-51

SNEL2 - suppressor of necrosis 1-like protein 2, avh – avirulence homologue, NPP1 – necrosis-inducing Phytophthora protein 1, CBEL – cellulose binding elicitor lectin

* Unigenes for which the expression pattern was determined

^a Protein ID numbers from FungiDB database version 2.2

^b Protein ID numbers from NCBI database

PITG ID numbers are from the Phytophthora infestans Sequencing Project, Broad Institute of Harvard and MIT (http://www.broadinstitute.org/)

Table 4.	Unigenes from	the Phytophthora	cinnamomi	cyst and	l germinating	cyst c	DNA library,	with the	best prot	ein match	from th	ne <i>Phytoph</i>	nthora
cinnamor	<i>ni</i> genome indica	ated as determined	l through bla	stx analy	/sis.								

Unigene ID	Protein ID of best blast hit	E-value	Bit Score	% Identity	% Similarity	% Gaps	Alignment length (aa)
C31843	jgi-Phyci1-16230	1.00E-14	65.47	100	100	0	95
C83210*	jgi-Phyci1-246465	3.09E-35	133.26	100	100	0	82
U15350*	jgi-Phyci1-501748	8.28E-64	228.79	98	99	0	109
U17693	jgi-Phyci1-107067	8.44E-15	160	40	52	23	115
U2360	jgi-Phyci1-227507	1.14E-48	178.33	100	100	0	100
U3104	jgi-Phyci1-324897	1.52E-23	94.36	39	52	28	54
U4987*	jgi-Phyci1-96866	6.11E-35	132.11	86	86	13	66
U6179*	jgi-Phyci1-89138	2.57E-51	186.81	100	100	0	86
U6180	jgi-Phyci1-6902	8.44E-115	399.82	83	83	16	217
U6659*	jgi-Phyci1-98110	7.95E-56	192.2	6	11	57	91
U6809*	jgi-Phyci1-98652	6.63E-76	270.01	100	100	0	187
U8663	jgi-Phyci1-96960	4.28E-65	233.42	96	96	3	126
U8949*	jgi-Phyci1-103247	1.25E-45	170.63	35	35	62	144
U9332	jgi-Phyci1-280221	3.90E-54	197.98	52	60	27	159

* Unigenes for which the expression pattern was successfully determined

Table 5. Amino acid identity scores of the protein alignment between selected unigenes from the cyst and germinating cyst cDNA library of *Phytophthora cinnamomi* and the most homologous protein from other *Phytophthora* species. The presence and name of conserved domains predicted in the unigene sequences are indicated.

Unigene	Annotation protein ID	% Identity	% Similarity	% Gaps	Alignment length (U to blast hit)	Shared domain	Domain description
C31843	Physo_298800	68	72	17	115	Yes	RXLR**
C83210*	Phyra_97565	43	53	16	83	Yes	RXLR**
U15350*	PITG_19936	50	69	1	109	Yes	NPP1 ⁺
U17693	PITG_07096	28	37	43	147	Yes	KAZAL FS [‡]
U2360	EGZ23444.1	92	95	0	100	No	NA
U3104	PITG_15968	69	76	0	76	No	NA
U4987*	PITG_06370	40	57	14	65	Yes	Elicitin
U6179*	PITG_03640	87	94	0	86	Yes	APPLE Factor XI like
U6180	PITG_12361	70	75	17	215	Yes	Cutinase
U6659*	AAN05466.1	35	39	47	289	Yes	Glyco-hydro 28
U6809*	PITG_16183	65	78	3	184	No	NA
U8663	PITG_16145	80	87	5	125	No	NA
U8949*	PITG_09760	69	76	9	394	No	NA
U9332	PITG_17947	45	53	39	131	Yes	Hydrolase

* Unigenes for which the expression pattern was successfully determined

** RXLR – Arg-any amino acid-Leu-Arg motif, **T** NPP1 – necrosis inducing *Phytophthora* protein 1 motif, **‡** Kazal FS - Kazal type serine protease inhibitors and follistatin-like domains

Table 6. Analysis of uniform expression of candidate reference genes (WS041, Ubc, β -tubulin and GAPDH) across the various *in vitro* life stages of *Phytophthora cinnamomi*. The gene stability (M-value) and coefficient of variance is indicated for each gene.

Target	Coefficient Variance	M-Value
Ubc	1.6204	0.1420
B-tub	1.6761	0.0805
GAPDH	1.8466	0.1860
WS041	1.9400	0.0029

Table 7. Expression fold change of pathogenicity genes in sporulating mycelia, zoospores and cyst and germinating cyst developmental stages of *Phytophthora cinnamomi* relative to mycelial expression levels, as determined with RT-qPCR.

		Expression fold ch	nange relative to	o mycelia expression level
Unigene ID	Function	Sporulating mycelia	Zoospores	Cysts and germinating cysts
C83210	RXLR	0.33	7.32	6.46
U15350	NPP1	0.26	5.79	0.40
U4987	Elicitin	0.78	7.87	3.84
U6659	Polygalacturonase	1.40	1.63	1.21
U6179	CBEL	0.09	8.81	2.11
U8949	Mucin-like protein	1.27	0.02	0.12
U6809	Adhesin-like proteir	n 6.63	18.69	3.93

FIGURES



Figure 1. Stereo microscopy images of the *in vitro* life stages of *Phytophthora cinnamomi*. A) Mycelia in 5% V8 broth B and C) Sporulating mycelia D) A single zoospore E) Cysts F) Germinating cysts. sp – sporangium, *sp – sporangium that released zoospores, z – zoospores, gt – germ tube emerging from a cyst. Scale bars in A to C = 200 μ m, in D and E = 10 μ m, in F = 20 μ m







Figure 3. Conventional PCR, with the LPV3 primer pair, to confirm the absence of residual DNA in *Phytophthora cinnamomi* RNA samples. As the DNA-dependent polymerase used in the PCR reaction lacks reverse transcriptase activity, no amplification occurs in the absence of a DNA template. Lane 4-6 contained purified total RNA as template in the PCR reaction originating from sporulating mycelia (lane 4) and cysts and germinating cysts (lane 5 to 8). Lane 1) O'GeneRuler 100 bp DNA ladder 2) Positive control (DNA from a *P. cinnamomi* isolate CMW33388 as template) 3) Negative control.

		SP: Sprob = 0.999 * 40 RXLR 60 *	
Pc16230 C31843 Ps_SNEL2	: : :	MKLSYLIAFAAVVVASTAVPASASTGLTTNNLAEDFQVAPELAALRSLRGANQDSSKGDDKKPKGEHGDKKKGG : MKLSYLIAFAAVVVASTAVPASASTGLTTNNLAEDFQVAPELAALRSLRGANQDSSKGDDKKPKGEHGDKKKGG : MKLSYLIAFAAVVVASTAAPASASTGLTTNNLAEDFQGAPELGALRSLRGASQDGSKGDEKKPKTEHGDKKKDD : MKLSYLIAFAAVVVASTAVPASASTGLTTNNLAEDFQ6APELGALRSLRGANDDSSKGDdKKPKGEHGDKKKGD	74 74 74
Pc16230 C31843 Ps_SNEL2	::	80 * 100 * 120 * 140 DKKKDGDKKKDGDKK	124 95 148
Pc16230 C31843 Ps_SNEL2	::	* 160 * 180 KKHGKKDGEKKHGDKKHEQKDGKKDHKKTDGSKK 	

В

Α

		SP, D = 0.840	2.0	+	10	RXLR	60	+	
Pc246465 C83210 Pr_Avh387	::	MRFGYVLLVVAATVFA MRFGYVLLVVAATVFA MRLSYILLVAVATLFA MRfgY6LLVvaAT6FA	FSCDVTSAAT FSCDVTSAAT -SVDAAV fScDvtsAAt	ESSH ESSH ESKQVQLSQN ESsh	40 TLRSADDV TLRSADDV TT <mark>ANRIESE</mark> Tlrsaddv	PSSRLLRTTI PSSRLLRTTI PDSRLLR PsSRLLRtte	60 AENPAQ- AENPAQ- -AEVDGQE AEnpaQ	RRLVKKLPLT RRLVKKLPLT RRLQSKYSLT RRLVKKlpLT	: 64 : 64 : 65
Pc246465 C83210 Pr_Avh387	::	80 YIQELVNDDKKLVAAL YIQELVNDDKKLVAAL YIKQLVNDKQFRNNNF YIq2LVNDdkklvaal	* 1 TSWQEGKVTV TS QSWKDLSVSD tSw v	00 YKGLAKSLDLS DIT <mark>LAKSLSLK</mark> laksl l	* 5 <mark>TNRFK</mark> CTGPY <mark>TDRFK</mark> t rfk	120 WFRNIRNRG WIEKIMNLN W in]	* VDQATVL ADRLKLL C d l	140 EKFRAHMGQS EDYRAFIKPN e ra	: 132 : 82 : 137
Pc246465 C83210 Pr_Avh387	::	* 160 AARAVSLLRAIACLLL 	* ALLSLDRQCV 	180 GAASLADDWY) /SPTRCNEKS 	* 20 STSACRSYEI	00 RCKATHRC 	* ARGDEDYEIK 	: 204 : : 139

С





Ε



F

				*		20)		*		40)		*		6	0		*			
Pc324897	:			SS	GDA/	AVGI AA	VTD	D <mark>SC</mark> L	YGGLO	GCFNE	HCRE	CKL	ΓΤΤΖ	QSI	AYLDC		T	QST	SAPV-		:	54
U3104	:	DQÇ	TCGI	EAAA	GDI	AVGVH I	TTD	LTCS	IGGV	GCINE	LCRF	CKV	KTTE	PQSK	AFVDC	NSLG	GAT	SG <mark>S</mark> Z	AAPVD	TTTTP	:	75
Pi_mucin	:	SQI	TCGI	TAAE	GDI	/VGIHI	ATD	TTCS.	AGGIC	GCINE	LCRE	CKV	ΩNŢ	ſQSA	EFVDC	SSLV	GFS	SD <mark>S</mark> Z	aapvd	VVTTL	:	75
		q	tcgi	aa	GDia	aVG6hi	. TD	3Cs	GG60	GCINE	lCRE	CK6	tΤ	QS	a56DC	sl	g 3.	s 3a	aAPVd	tt		
D-22/007																						
PC324097	:		76																			
03104	:	Р:	10																			
Pi_mucin	:	Р:	76																			
		р																				

G

Pc96866 U4987 Pi_elicitin_INL3a-like	::	 AQFPTTG M	* IFKMP MP MP	PVNV PVNV PSLT Pvnv	2 AFVV AFVV S <mark>FVI</mark> aFV6	20 VVS VVS JIG	LALI LALI LALZ LALI	MGAI MGAI A <mark>G</mark> SN mGat	× NAN NAN /SAE nAr	ofam00 NDECS NDECS ED-CS NDECS	964: TSQI TSQI TEAI TEAI	elicit 40 LMGI LMGI LMGI	in JAGNI JAGNI JASS JAgni	KNVA KNVA I <mark>NL</mark> A KN6A	* AGCSK AGCSK AGCTA AGC3k	AAG AAG DTG aaG	6(FSGI FSGI VS-V fSg8		50 60 49
Pc96866 U4987 Pi_elicitin_INL3a-like	::	STIADLS STIADLS STISTLT STIADL3	* PEQLE PEQLE MDQV PEQ6}	KAVC KAVC MAVC KAVC	GSSA G QSSS gss	30 CV CM C	ALMI GLMI lm	XDMA DDVA da	* AMI SAI	DLGNC NLGDC lg c	1(RIPI TIP(ip	DO ESK GSN S	[HLQ /SVQ q	IDII SDII di	* DAFN DQVG d	EKC SMC	120 SARO SGSO S	1 - : - :	110 76 109
Pc96866 U4987 Pi_elicitin_INL3a-like	::	SMDSSS TMGSMAA(m s	* SSST(SSSS SSS SS	GSVS SSNG S	14 SSNI GTNV n	0 RE /GD	SSAZ ESG: s	ASSZ ISSS SS	* ASS- SSSI ss	DKATG	10 GSSS	60 STS(GAGN	-ATI IAGI a t	* VVIG VTIG V ig	YAW FAS a	18(AITI AV a) - : - :	152
Pc96866 U4987 Pi_elicitin_INL3a-like	::	AI <mark>VAMLL</mark> VAVAMIL vam l	- : : - : 4 : :	159 _ 175															

Н

Pc89138 U6179 Pi_CBEL	::	* MR <mark>T</mark> LTVAATAI MR <mark>V</mark> LTVAATAI mr ltvaatai	IAV <mark>FAVL</mark> S IAVVVGKS IAV S	20 DAGCPNTS DAACPNTN da cpnt	* F <u>GKCGD</u> VN L <mark>GRCGD</mark> AS g cgd	40 ISPECCTI SNPECCPH pecc	GNYCMPWT GNYCMPWA gnycmpw	* cd01 SSYYQCLPL ANNYQCLPA yqclp	100: APPLE fac 60 PSQCARQFTG FTG PAQCSRQFTG p qc rqFTG	tor VI-like YDFYGGD YDFYGGD YDFYGGD YDFYGGD	::	75 10 75
Pc89138 U6179 Pi_CBEL	::	80 IKTVYGLQPG IKTVYGLQPG IKTVYGLQPGG IKTVYGLQPGG	* CCATCLS CCATCLS CCATCLA CCATCLS	100 TSGCLAYT TSGCLAYT TSGCLAYT TSGCLAYT	FFNEYQGS FFNEYQGS F <mark>INEN</mark> QGI FfNEyQG3	* TACFLKA TACFLKA TACFLKA	120 AGMGQPRKV AGMGQPRKV AGMGQPRKV AGMGQPRKV	* AGAISAVVD AGAISAVVD VGAMSAVLD aGA6SAV6D	140 CYTSDQDHTP GYTSDQDHTP SYTSDQDHTP GYTSDQDHTP	* KRRLQGN KRRLQGD KRRLQG1	::	150 85 150
Pc89138 U6179 Pi_CBEL	::	160 EPRFEIPELS E SPRVELPGL- epr e p l	: 160 : 86 : 159									

L



J

Pc172110	:	*	2	0	* .	10	*	60	:	_
U6659 Pc_polygalacturonase	:	MKFFTTALAV	FALIATTAN	GSPMLRMEAI	EGKKGKSKTE	APVVEADDDY'	IQQQDPTQQ	QDPTQ	:	62
			pfam0	0295: glycosy	yl hydrolases fa	mily 28 include	s polygalactı	ironase		
Pc172110 U6659 Pc_polygalacturonase	::	* NGADDE PP QQDQSQQQDP dp	80 ERAW SSSWAPR TQQQSPTTK W P	* TSSGCHLTG	100	* CSSIVIDSLT	12 GLKTLL g l	0 SLVKT SLAKT sl kt	::	21 9 124
Pc172110 U6659 Pc_polygalacturonase	::	* PKPNDE GATIEEVGTT f	140 GSAHWSG TF <mark>GT</mark> QKWEG g w g	* AKVDLDR RVRERRGRDG PLVRVSGTS V g	160 MLVDGVFK SQGLRPESGV LTVKGSGV V gsgv]	* SEMFERWNKY: GGQDSWYWEJ GGQGSWYWK(G gq sWyw	180 STEKIL KGOSIARLV 2GOSITRPV g2sI r v	FFKL <mark>K</mark> FFKLQ ffkl	::	58 59 184
Pc172110 U6659 Pc_polygalacturonase	::	* ATLDLS NVISPTVSGF NVIS <mark>STV</mark> SGF nvis T6sgf	200 KR <mark>KNIPYGS</mark> IIKKMSFRT TIKNMPFRT iKn6p5r3	* ILQEFLNTYI SSIVTSKDMI FSIVTSKDT sivtskd	220 RLRQGAANLR MLRGLTIDNR ILRGLTIDNR LRGLTIDNR	* IGNGISKNTD AGNGIAKNTD GNgi kntd	240 SFDLTKN <mark>A</mark> H GFDLTKN <mark>D</mark> H fdltkn h	VTITG ITITG titg	::	95 121 246
Pc172110 U6659 Pc_polygalacturonase	::	* 2 NKIYNQDDYL NKIYNQDDCL nkiynqdd 1	60 AMQSS <mark>A</mark> NTV AMQSS <mark>T</mark> NTV amqss ntv	* FSN <mark>SYCCV</mark> G FSN <mark>NYCCG</mark> G fsn ycc g	280 	* NAVDQSTTVQ	300 GLTVQGNTI	* VDSDN	:	_ 149 308



L

Pc96960 U8663 Pi_SCR108-like	::	* SSVAMKLSVFV- MKLLVLI# MKLsVf6	20 AALLGVAA AALLGVAA AALLSLAA AALLS6AA	LPAADASL LPAADASL APVADASL LPAADASL	* HLRVHILTE HLRVHILTE HLRVHILTE HLRVHILTE	40 EKAGLYQQCE EKAGLYQQCE EKAGLYQQCE	* EWEDKAVKCDT EWEDKAVKCDT EWENKAVKCEA EWE1KAVKCdt	60 GMFCQMKEKHFG GMFCQMKEKHFG GMFCQMKEKHFG	::	63 67 64
Pc96960 U8663 Pi_SCR108-like	::	* 80 WCQKQKPGLNDQ WCQKQKPGLNDQ WCMKKSPGLNDQ WCqKqkPGLNDQ) 2CGGKGVDG 2CGGKGVDG 2CGGKSTDG 2CGGKgvDG	* FWAVPCS FWAVPCS FWAVPCS FWAVPCS	100 GTNLKCVL GTNLKCVL DSNLKCVL g3NLKCVL	* SDQYSKCQC SDQYSKCQF SDQYSKCQF	120 KTDREKIKMP KTDREKIKMP KTDREK6KMP KTDREK6KMP	* SNHHKGADGAQQ SNHHKGA-GVEE SNHHKGA g	::	131 130 129
Pc96960 U8663 Pi_SCR108-like	::	140 EKVPLNGRCKFF EKVALNERCKFF ekv ln rckfe	* LDGRKSCAS 	160 GLQCIEDS GLQCVEDS glqc eds	* EWSGNCMKE DWTGMCMKE Wgcmke	180 KEA <mark>G</mark> LYDQCA KEA <mark>N</mark> VYDQCA Kea ydqca	* AGQELRGLWKA AGQEIRGLWKA Agqe rglwka	200 SCPKGALCRESD MCPKGAL cpkgal	::	199 _ 192
Pc96960 U8663 Pi_SCR108-like	::	* TFYSQCLPEAVS	220 SLAMDA : :	216 						

Μ



Ν



Figure 4. Protein sequence alignment of unigenes from the cyst and germinating cyst cDNA library of Phytophthora cinnamomi selected for expression profile analysis, to the best blastx hit in the genome of P. cinnamomi (top sequence) and the Phytophthora protein sequence used to annotate the selected unigene. Conserved domain names are shown above the relevant domain sequence (blocks). Shaded amino acids indicate amino acids that are similar between all three aligned sequences (black) or only between two of the sequences (grey). The consensus sequence is indicated underneath each alignment. Note only the complete unigene sequence is shown in the figure but not the whole protein sequence of the protein it is aligned to. A) C31843 aligned to jgi-Phyci1-16230 and Physo_298800 B) C83210 aligned to jgi-Phyci1-246465 and Phyra_97565 C) U15350 aligned to jgi-Phyci1-501748 and PITG_19936 D) U17693 aligned to jgi-Phyci1-107067 and PITG 07096 E) U2360 aligned to jgi-Phyci1-227507 and EGZ23444.1 F) U3104 aligned to jgi-Phyci1-324897 and PITG_15968 G) U4987 aligned to jgi-Phyci1-96866 and PITG_06370 H) U6179 aligned to jgi-Phyci1-89138 and PITG_03640 I) U6180 aligned to jgi-Phyci1-6902 and PITG_12361 J) U6659 aligned to jgi-Phyci1-98110 and AAN05466.1 K) U6809 aligned to jgi-Phyci1-98652 and PITG_16183 L) U8863 aligned to jgi-Phyci1-96960 and PITG_16145 M) U8949 aligned to jgi-Phyci1-103247 and PITG_09760 N) U9332 aligned to jgi-Phyci1-280221 and PITG_17947.



Figure 5. Standard regression curves for primers directed to four candidate endogenous control genes to be used in a relative transcript expression study in *Phytophthora cinnamomi*. This included analysis of primer pairs ubiquitin-conjugated enzyme (Ubc), beta-tubulin (β -tubulin), glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) and WS041. A dilution series of a mixture of cDNA (1:5, 1:10, 1:50, 1:100, 1:500 and 1:1000) was used to construct standard curves. The mean Ct (threshold cycle for each trace) value of 3 technical repetitions was plotted against the log [10] function of the concentration of input template for each primer pair. A linear trend-line was fitted to the data. The equation for each fitted regression line, as well as the R² value (as an indicator of the ability of the model to predict a trend) for each gene is indicated. An R² value of more than 0.98 and a slope between -3.6 and -3.1 are considered acceptable for efficient primers.



Figure 6. Standard regression curves for primers directed to nine target genes to be used in a relative expression study in *Phytophthora cinnamomi*. This included analysis of primer pairs U8949, U15350, C31843, U6659, U2360, U6179, C83210, U4987 and U6809. A dilution series of DNA (1:2, 1:5, 1:25, 1:50, 1:100 and 1:500) was used to construct standard curves. The mean Ct (threshold cycle for each trace) value of 3 technical repetitions was plotted against the log [10] function of the concentration of input template for each primer pair. A linear trend-line was fitted to the data. The equation for each fitted regression line, as well as the R² value (as an indicator of the ability of the model to predict a trend) for each gene is indicated. An R² value of more than 0.98 and a slope between -3.6 and -3.1 are considered acceptable for efficient primers.






Figure 8. Melting curve analysis of the products produced by primer pairs to be used in expression analysis in *Phytophthora cinnamomi*. A) Melting curves produced from PCR products produced by primer pairs targeting four candidate endogenous control genes namely ubiquitin-conjugated enzyme (Ubc), Beta-tubulin (β -tubulin), glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) and WS041 B) Melting curves produced from PCR products produced by primer pairs directed to eight target genes including C83210, U15350, U4987, U6179, U6659, U6809, U8949 and U2360.



Figure 9. Expression profiles of seven target pathogenicity genes across the *in vitro* developmental stages of *Phytophthora cinnamomi*. The unigene number and putative function of each target gene are indicated at the bottom of each profile. Gene expression levels of each target gene were calculated considering determined primer efficiencies and using three endogenous control genes (WS041, Ubc, β -tubulin) to normalize the data. Error bars represent standard deviation and are indicated for each data point. Analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by a Least Square Means Differences Student's t-test (p>0.05) was performed considering each target gene individually. Accordingly, this analysis does not allow comparison of gene expression levels between genes. For each individual target gene, bars containing the same letters do not differ significantly (P = 0.05). m – mycelia, sm – sporulating mycelia, z – zoospore, g – cysts and germinating cyst, NPP1 – necrosis-inducing *Phytophthora* protein 1, CBEL – cellulose binding elicitor lectin



Figure 10. Melting curve analysis of PCR products produced by the primer pair directed to contig **C31843** of *Phytophthora cinnamomi*. Each graph shows the negative rate of change in relative fluorescence units (RFU) as the temperature changes. The products produced from the following templates were assessed: A) *Phytophthora cinnamomi* DNA B) cDNA from all four *in vitro* life stages C) cDNA from mycelia D) cDNA from sporulating mycelia (the different biological replicates are indicated) E) cDNA from zoospores D) cDNA from germinating cysts. Two melting peaks at 82 °C and 85 °C are visible in C and D.



Figure 11. Agarose gel electrophoresis image showing the products produced from *Phytophthora cinnamomi* cDNA by the primer pair directed to contig C31843. A single high intensity band of 89 bp in size is observed in each sample. Multiple low intensity bands of bigger sized products are visible in myceliaand sporulating mycelia samples. The image is over exposed to enable visualization of low intensity bands. L - O'GeneRuler 100 bp DNA ladder, m – mycelia, sm – sporulating mycelia, z – zoospore, g – germinating cysts. The number following each stage indicates the biological replicate from which the template cDNA originated.

References

- Allen RN, Pegg KG, Forsberg LI & Firth DJ (1980) Fungicidal control in pineapple and avocado of diseases caused by *Phytophthora cinnamomi*. *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture and Animal Husbandry* **20**:119-124.
- Aveling TAS & Rijkenberg FHJ (1986) Infection of susceptible avocado by *Phytophthora cinnamomi. South African Avocado Growers' Association Yearbook* **9**:55-56.
- Bae H, Bowers JH, Tooley PW & Bailey BA (2005) NEP1 orthologs encoding necrosis and ethylene inducing proteins exist as a multigene family in *Phytophthora megakarya*, causal agent of black pod disease on cacao. *Mycological Research* **109**:1373-1385.
- Bae H, Kim MS, Sicher RC, Bae HJ & Bailey BA (2006) Necrosis- and ethylene-inducing peptide from *Fusarium oxysporum* induces a complex cascade of transcripts associated with signal transduction and cell death in *Arabidopsis*. *Plant Physiology* **141**:1056-1067.
- Benhamou N & Nicole M (1999) Cell biology of plant immunization against microbial infection: The potential of induced resistance in controlling plant diseases. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry* **37**:703-719.
- Birch PR, Boevink PC, Gilroy EM, Hein I, Pritchard L & Whisson SC (2008) Oomycete RXLR effectors: delivery, functional redundancy and durable disease resistance. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* **11**:373-379.
- Bonnet P, Bourdon E, Ponchet M, Blein J & Ricci P (1996) Acquired resistance triggered by elicitins in tobacco and other plants. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* **102**:181-192.
- Bos JIB, Armstrong MR, Gilroy EM, Boevink PC, Hein I, Taylor RM, Zhendong T, Engelhardt S, Vetukuri RR, Harrower B, Dixelius C, Bryan G, Sadanandom A, Whisson SC, Kamoun S & Birch PRJ (2010) *Phytophthora infestans* effector AVR3a is essential for virulence and manipulates plant immunity by stabilizing host E3 ligase CMPG1. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **107**:9909-9914.
- Bos JIB, Kanneganti TD, Young C, Cakir C, Huitema E, Win J, Armstrong MR, Birch PRJ & Kamoun S (2006) The C-terminal half of *Phytophthora infestans* RXLR effector AVR3a is sufficient to trigger R3a-mediated hypersensitivity and suppress INF1-induced cell death in *Nicotiana benthamiana*. *Plant Journal* **48**:165-176.
- Chang S, Puryear J & Cairney J (1993) A simple and efficient method for isolating RNA from pine trees. *Plant Molecular Biology Reporter* **11**:113-116.
- Chen D & Zentmyer GA (1970) Production of sporangia by *Phytophthora cinnamomi* in axenic culture. *Mycologia* **62**:397-402.
- Chen X, Klemsdal SS & Brurberg MB (2011) Identification and analysis of *Phytophthora cactorum* genes up-regulated during cyst germination and strawberry infection. *Current Genetics* **57**: 297-315.
- Chen XR, Xing YP, Li YP, Tong YH & Xu JY (2013) RNA-Seq reveals infection-related gene expression changes in *Phytophthora capsici*. *PLoS ONE* **8**:e74588.
- Cheng B, Yu X, Ma Z, Dong S, Dou D, Wang Y & Zheng X (2012) *Phytophthora sojae* effector Avh331 suppresses the plant defence response by disturbing the MAPK signalling pathway. *Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology* **77:**1-9.
- Cumbie JS. (2013) Alternative splicing in the obligate biotrophic oomycete pathogen, *Pseudoperonospora cubensis*. Corvallis, Oregon, USA, Oregon State University, PhD Thesis.
- Dong S, Kong G, Qutob D, Yu X, Tang J, Kang J, Dai T, Wang H, Gijzen M & Wang Y (2012) The NLP toxin family in *Phytophthora sojae* includes rapidly evolving groups that lack necrosis-inducing activity. *Mol Plant Microbe Interact* **7**:896-909.

CHAPTER 3: Expression analysis of selected pathogenicity genes across the *in vitro* life stages of *Phytophthora cinnamomi*

- Dong S, Yin W, Kong G, Yang X, Qutob D, Chen Q, Kale SD, Sui Y, Zhang Z, Dou D, Zheng X, Gijzen M, Tyler B & Wang Y (2011) *Phytophthora sojae* avirulence effector Avr3b is a secreted NADH and ADP-ribose pyrophosphorylase that modulates plant immunity. *PLoS Pathogens* 7:e1002353.
- Gaulin E, Dramé N, Lafitte C, Torto-Alalibo T, Martinez Y, Ameline-Torregrosa C, Khatib M, Mazarguil H, Villalba-Mateos F, Kamoun S, Mazars C, Dumas B, Bottin A, Esquerré-Tugayé MT & Rickauer M (2006) Cellulose binding domains of a *Phytophthora* cell wall protein are novel pathogen-associated molecular patterns. *Plant Cell* **18**:1766-1777.
- Gaulin E, Jauneau A, Villalba F, Rickauer M, Esquerré-Tugayé M-T & Bottin A (2002) The CBEL glycoprotein of *Phytophthora parasitica* var. *nicotianae* is involved in cell wall deposition and adhesion to cellulosic substrates. *Journal of Cell Science* **115**:4565-4575.
- Gerrettson-Cornell L. (1989) A compendium and classification of the species of the genus *Phytophthora* de Bary by the canons of the traditional taxonomy. Sydney, Australia, Research Division, State Forests of New South Wales.
- Gilroy EM, Taylor RM, Hein I, Boevink P, Sadanandom A & Birch PRJ (2011) CMPG1-dependent cell death follows perception of diverse pathogen elicitors at the host plasma membrane and is suppressed by *Phytophthora infestans* RXLR effector AVR3a. *New Phytologist* **190**:653-666.
- Görnhardt B, Rouhara I & Schmelzer E (2000) Cyst germination proteins of the potato pathogen *Phytophthora infestans* share homology with human mucins. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* **13**:32-42.
- Götesson A, Marshall JS, Jones DA & Hardham AR (2002) Characterization and evolutionary analysis of a large polygalacturonase gene family in the oomycete plant pathogen *Phytophthora cinnamomi. Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* **15**:907-921.
- Grenville-Briggs LJ, Avrova AO, Hay RJ, Bruce CR, Whisson SC & van West P (2010) Identification of appressorial and mycelial cell wall proteins and a survey of the membrane proteome of *Phytophthora infestans*. *Fungal Biology* **114**:702-723.
- Gubler F, Hardham AR & Duniec J (1989) Characterising adhesiveness of *Phytophthora cinnamomi* zoospores during encystment. *Protoplasma* **149**:24-30.
- Haas BJ, Kamoun S, Zody MC, Jiang RHY, Handsaker RE, Cano LM, Grabherr M, Kodira CD, Raffaele S, Torto-Alalibo T, Bozkurt TO, Ah-Fong AMV, Alvarado L, Anderson VL, Armstrong MR, Avrova A, Baxter L, Beynon J, Boevink PC, Bollmann SR, Bos JIB, Bulone V, Cai G, Cakir C, Carrington JC, Chawner M, Conti L, Costanzo S, Ewan R, Fahlgren N, Fischbach MA, Fugelstad J, Gilroy EM, Gnerre S, Green PJ, Grenville-Briggs LJ, Griffith J, Grünwald NJ, Horn K, Horner NR, Hu C-H, Huitema E, Jeong D-H, Jones AME, Jones JDG, Jones RW, Karlsson EK, Kunjeti SG, Lamour K, Liu Z, Ma L, MacLean D, Chibucos MC, McDonald H, McWalters J, Meijer HJG, Morgan W, Morris PF, Munro CA, O'Neill K, Ospina-Giraldo M, Pinzón A, Pritchard L, Ramsahoye B, Ren Q, Restrepo S, Roy S, Sadanandom A, Savidor A, Schornack S, Schwartz DC, Schumann UD, Schwessinger B, Seyer L, Sharpe T, Silvar C, Song J, Studholme DJ, Sykes S, Thines M, van de Vondervoort PJI, Phuntumart V, Wawra S, Weide R, Win J, Young C, Zhou S, Fry W, Meyers BC, van West P, Ristaino J, Govers F, Birch PRJ, Whisson SC, Judelson HS & Nusbaum C (2009) Genome sequence and analysis of the Irish potato famine pathogen *Phytophthora infestans. Nature* 461:393-398.
- Hardham A & Gubler F (1990) Polarity of attachment of zoospores of a root pathogen and prealignment of the emerging germ tube. *Cell Biology International Reports* **14**:947-956.
- Hardham AR (2001) The cell biology behind *Phytophthora* pathogenicity. *Australasian Plant Pathology* **30:**91-98.
- Hardham AR (2005) Phytophthora cinnamomi. Molecular Plant Pathology 6:589-604.

- Have A, Tenberge K, Benen JE, Tudzynski P, Visser J & Kan JL. (2002) The contribution of cell wall degrading enzymes to pathogenesis of fungal plant pathogens. In: Kempken, F. (ed) Agricultural Applications. Berlin Heidelberg, Germany, Springer-verlag, pp 341-358.
- Hicks SJ, Theodoropoulos G, Carrington SD & Corfield AP (2000) The role of mucins in host– parasite Interactions. Part I – Protozoan Parasites. *Parasitology Today* **16**:476-481.
- Hogenhout SA, Van der Hoorn RAL, Terauchi R & Kamoun S (2009) Emerging concepts in effector biology of plant-associated organisms. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* **22:**115-122.
- Jiang RHY, Tyler BM, Whisson SC, Hardham AR & Govers F (2006) Ancient origin of elicitin gene clusters in *Phytophthora* genomes. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* **23**:338-351.
- Jones TM, Anderson AJ & Albersheim P (1972) Host-pathogen interactions IV. Studies on the polysaccharide-degrading enzymes secreted by *Fusarium oxysporum* f. sp. *lycopersici*. *Physiological Plant Pathology* **2**:153-166.
- Judelson HS, Ah-Fong AMV, Aux G, Avrova AO, Bruce C, Cakir C, Da Cunha L, Grenville-Briggs L, Latijnhouwers M, Ligterink W, Meijer HJG, Roberts S, Thurber CS, Whisson SC, Birch PRJ, Govers F, Kamoun S, Van West P & Windass J (2008) Gene expression profiling during asexual development of the late blight pathogen *Phytophthora infestans* reveals a highly dynamic transcriptome. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* 21:433-447.
- Kamoun S, Klucher KM, Coffey MD & Tyler BM (1993a) A gene encoding a host-specific elicitor protein of *Phytophthora parasitica*. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* **6**:573-581.
- Kamoun S, Young M, Glascock C & Tyler BM (1993b) Extracellular protein elicitors from *Phytophthora*: Host-specificity and induction of resistance to fungal and bacterial phytopathogens. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* **6**:15-25.
- Katoh K & Standley DM (2013) MAFFT Multiple sequence alignment software version 7: Improvements in performance and usability. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* **30**:772-780.
- Kebdani N, Pieuchot L, Deleury E, Panabières F, Le Berre JY & Gourgues M (2010) Cellular and molecular characterization of *Phytophthora parasitica* appressorium-mediated penetration. *New Phytologist* **185**:248-257.
- Kelley BS, Lee SJ, Damasceno CMB, Chakravarthy S, Kim BD, Martin GB & Rose JKC (2010) A secreted effector protein (SNE1) from *Phytophthora infestans* is a broadly acting suppressor of programmed cell death. *Plant Journal* **62**:357-366.
- King M, Reeve W, Van der Hoek MB, Williams N, McComb J, O'Brien PA & Hardy GESJ (2010) Defining the phosphite-regulated transcriptome of the plant pathogen *Phytophthora cinnamomi. Molecular Genetics and Genomics* **284:**425-435.
- Kong P, Hong CX & Richardson PA (2003) Rapid detection of *Phytophthora cinnamomi* using PCR with primers derived from the *Lpv* putative storage protein genes. *Plant Pathology* **52**:681.
- Kunjeti SG, Evans TA, Marsh AG, Gregory NF, Kunjeti S, Meyers BC, Kalavacharla VS & Donofrio NM (2011) RNA-Seq reveals infection-related global gene changes in *Phytophthora phaseoli*, the causal agent of lima bean downy mildew. *Molecular Plant Pathology* **13**:454-466.
- Larroque M, Barriot R, Bottin A, Barre A, Rouge P, Dumas B & Gaulin E (2012) The unique architecture and function of cellulose-interacting proteins in oomycetes revealed by genomic and structural analyses. *BMC Genomics* **13**:605.
- Latijnhouwers M, de Wit PJGM & Govers F (2003) Oomycetes and fungi: similar weaponry to attack plants. *Trends in Microbiology* **11**:462-469.
- Liu T, Ye W, Ru Y, Yang X, Gu B, Tao K, Lu S, Dong S, Zheng X, Shan W, Wang Y & Dou D (2010) Two host cytoplasmic effectors are required for pathogenesis of *Phytophthora sojae* by suppression of host defenses. *Plant Physiology* **155**:490-501.
- Marchler-Bauer A, Lu S, Anderson JB, Chitsaz F, Derbyshire MK, DeWeese-Scott C, Fong JH, Geer LY, Geer RC, Gonzales NR, Gwadz M, Hurwitz DI, Jackson JD, Ke Z, Lanczycki CJ, 140

Lu F, Marchler GH, Mullokandov M, Omelchenko MV, Robertson CL, Song JS, Thanki N, Yamashita RA, Zhang D, Zhang N, Zheng C & Bryant SH (2011) CDD: a Conserved Domain Database for the functional annotation of proteins. *Nucleic Acids Research* **39**:D225-D229.

- Misas-Villamil JC & van der Hoorn RAL (2008) Enzyme–inhibitor interactions at the plant– pathogen interface. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* **11**:380-388.
- Narayan RD, Blackman LM, Shan W & Hardham AR (2010) *Phytophthora nicotianae* transformants lacking dynein light chain 1 produce non-flagellate zoospores. *Fungal Genetics and Biology* **47**:663-671.
- Nicholas KB, Jr. NHB & Deerfield DWI (1997) GeneDoc: Analysis and visualization of genetic variation. *EMBNEW.NEWS* **4**:14.
- Perez-Vilar J & Hill RL (1999) The structure and assembly of secreted mucins. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **274:**31751-31754.
- Qutob D, Huitema E, Gijzen M & Kamoun S (2003) Variation in structure and activity among elicitins from *Phytophthora sojae*. *Molecular Plant Pathology* **4**:119-124.
- Qutob D, Kamoun S & Gijzen M (2002) Expression of a *Phytophthora sojae* necrosis-inducing protein occurs during transition from biotrophy to necrotrophy. *The Plant Journal* **32:**361-373.
- Robold A & Hardham A (2005) During attachment *Phytophthora* spores secrete proteins containing thrombospondin type 1 repeats. *Current Genetics* **47**:307-315.
- Savory EA, Zou C, Adhikari BN, Hamilton JP, Buell CR, Shiu S-H & Day B (2012) Alternative splicing of a multi-drug transporter from *Pseudoperonospora cubensis* generates an RXLR effector protein that elicits a rapid cell death. *PLoS ONE* **7**:e34701.
- Sepúlveda-Chavera G, Salvatierra-Martínez R, Bilbao-Apata C, Sepúlveda-Ramírez P, Allende-Castro M & Alache-González J (2013) Presence of *Phytophthora cinnamomi* Rands in avocado orchards in Azapa and Codpa valleys, Chile. *Pakistan Journal of Biological Sciences* **31**:41-47.
- Shen D, Ye W, Dong S, Wang Y & Dou D (2011) Characterization of intronic structures and alternative splicing in *Phytophthora sojae* by comparative analysis of expressed sequence tags and genomic sequences. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology* **57**:84-90.
- Stajich J, Harris T, Brunk B, Brestelli J, Fischer S, Harb O, Kissinger J, Li W, VNayak, Pinney D, Stoeckert CJ & Roos D (2012) FungiDB: an integrated functional genomics database for fungi. *Nucleic Acids Research* 1:D675-D681.
- Tamura K, Dudley J, Nei M & Kumar S (2007) MEGA4: Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis (MEGA) software version 4.0. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* **24**:1596-1599.
- Torto TA, Li S, Styer A, Huitema E, Testa A, Gow NAR, van West P & Kamoun S (2003) EST mining and functional expression assays identify extracellular effector proteins from the plant pathogen *Phytophthora*. *Genome Research* **13**:1675-1685.
- Untergasser A, Cutcutache I, Koressaar T, Ye J, Faircloth BC, Remm M & Rozen SG (2012) Primer3 - new capabilities and interfaces. *Nucleic Acids Research* **40**:e115.
- Vandesompele J, De Preter K, Pattyn F, Poppe B, Van Roy N, De Paepe A & Frank S (2002) Accurate normalization of real-time quantitative RT-PCR data by geometric averaging of multiple internal control genes. *Genome Biology* **3**:1-11.
- Vauthrin S, Mikes V, Milat ML, Ponchet M, Maume B, Osman H & Blein JP (1999) Elicitins trap and transfer sterols from micelles, liposomes and plant plasma membranes. *Biochimica et biophysica acta Biomembranes* **1419**:335-342.
- Wager VA (1942) *Phytophthora cinnamomi* and wet soil in relation to the dying-back of avocado trees. *Hilgardia* **14:**517-532.

- Wang Q, Han C, Ferreira AO, Yu X, Ye W, Tripathy S, Kale SD, Gu B, Sheng Y, Sui Y, Wang X, Zhang Z, Cheng B, Dong S, Shan W, Zheng X, Dou D, Tyler BM & Wang Y (2011) Transcriptional programming and functional interactions within the *Phytophthora sojae* RXLR effector repertoire. *Plant Cell* **23**:2064-2086.
- Whisson SC, Boevink PC, Moleleki L, Avrova AO, Morales JG, Gilroy EM, Armstrong MR, Grouffaud S, Van West P, Chapman S, Hein I, Toth IK, Pritchard L & Birch PRJ (2007) A translocation signal for delivery of oomycete effector proteins into host plant cells. *Nature* **450**:115-118.
- Xu J-R (2000) MAP kinases in fungal pathogens. *Fungal Genetics and Biology* **31:**137-152.
- Ye W, Wang X, Tao K, Lu Y, Dai T, Dong S, Dou D, Gijzen M & Wang Y (2011) Digital gene expression profiling of the *Phytophthora sojae* transcriptome. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* **24:**1530-1539.
- Yousef LF, Dick WA & Dick RP (2011) Use of a ¹⁵N-tracer method as a tool to indicate the assimilation of elicitin-sterol complexes by *Phytophthora sojae*. *International Journal of Biology* **3**:119-027.
- Zentmyer GA. (1980) *Phytophthora cinnamomi* and the diseases it causes. St Paul, MN, USA, American Phytopathological Society.
- Zentmyer GA (1985) Origin and distribution of *Phytophthora cinnamomi*. *California Avocado Society Yearbook* **69**:89-94.

CHAPTER 4

General discussion

DISCUSSION

Phytophthora cinnamomi Rands is a devastating pathogen responsible for great economic losses in many crop and forest industries. Except for the application of phosphite that has proved helpful in combating *P. cinnamomi* in some plant species (Darvas et al. 1984; Shearer and Fairman 2007; Eshraghi et al. 2011; Akinsanmi and Drenth 2013), there is no effective control measure for this pathogen. Many industries are moving to organic farming practises to limit the negative effects of pesticides on the environment. This involves the use of resistant crop cultivars, biological control agents, crop rotation, green manure and compost (Li et al. 2013). As crop rotation is not feasible for a wide host range pathogen such as *P. cinnamomi* (Mbaka 2011) and mulching alone does not effectively control disease, resistant crop cultivars seem the only durable solution to *P. cinnamomi* disease. As the public become more accepting of genetically modified plants, molecular knowledge of a specific plant-pathogen interaction will be invaluable in speeding the process towards disease resistant crop- and forest trees.

This study aimed to identify pathogenicity genes of P. cinnamomi in order to gain a better understanding of the infection process of this pathogen. The application of next generation sequencing allowed the identification of more than 2 000 unigenes with a role in infection, from cysts and germinating cysts of *P. cinnamomi*. Three different approaches were used to identify pathogenicity genes. The first approach was based on significant protein sequence homology to proteins that were previously implicated in pathogenicity in the literature. Unigenes annotated to the protein models from the genome of Phytophthora infestans (Montagne) de Bary was used to achieve this. As only previously characterized proteins were considered, it did not allow identification of novel pathogenicity factors. This approach is valid for proteins that are subject to selective pressure to maintain conserved functional motifs, with little amino acid variation expected between homologous genes. Polygalactorunases, for example, do not show signs of diversifying selection, with the ratio between non-synonymous and synonymous mutations being one or less within conserved regions between homologous genes (Götesson et al. 2002). The majority of the pathogenicity genes identified in this study was successfully obtained with the homology based method.

Protein families that are subject to diversifying selection, like RXLR effector genes, are more difficult to identify with homology based approaches as sequence conservation is less apparent among orthologs and paralogs (Win et al. 2007; Jiang et al. 2008). Effector genes

are under selective pressure to evolve protein variants that are able to evade detection by the host surveillance system (Birch et al. 2006). The second approach, therefore, relied on the identification of conserved functional protein motifs within RXLR effector genes. We employed Hidden Markov Models (HMM) to identify unigenes containing the conserved RXLR-motif (Arg-any amino acid-Leu-Arg). In this way previous unidentified RXLR-effector transcripts and RXLR transcripts specific to *P. cinnamomi* could be discovered. Functional characterization of RXLR proteins from other oomycete species has illustrated, through gene silencing, that specific RXLR proteins are essential for virulence (Bos et al. 2010). Their direct interaction with host resistance proteins (Bos et al. 2006; Dou et al. 2008) and the observation of allelic variants able to evade host recognition (Armstrong et al. 2005) makes them interesting candidates for further investigation. It will be interesting to compare the RXLR proteins identified in *P. cinnamomi* to RXLR proteins in other pathogenic oomycetes.

Putative alternative splicing was detected in an RXLR-motif containing transcript (C31843) that showed homology to *Phytophthora sojae* suppressor of necrosis 1-like protein 2 (SNEL2). Alternative splicing may serve as a mechanism to increase functional variation in effector proteins at the protein level. Melting curve analysis suggested that the splicing is stage dependent. This implies that transcript C31843 produces functionally different products in the mycelial and sporulating mycelial phases than in zoospores and germinating cysts of *P. cinnamomi*. Confirmation of the splicing event and the implication thereof will be an interesting topic to investigate in the future.

Other effector families also require a motif-based approach for proper identification. This includes the Crinkling- and necrosis inducing (CRN) protein family that was annotated based on sequence homology to *P. infestans* CRN proteins in this study. Stam et al. (2013) designed a bioinformatic pipeline for the identification of the CRN protein family in *Phytophthora capsici* (Leonian), utilizing the HMM for the LFLAK-motif used by Haas et al. (2009). This pipeline can be applied to the *P. cinnamomi* dataset to investigate CRN proteins in the future. Functional annotation of other pathogenicity proteins can also be verified by the presence of conserved functional motifs. The identity of protease inhibitor proteins can be confirmed by the presence of Kazal domains (Laskowski and Kato 1980) and necrosis inducing *Phytophthora* proteins (NPP1) by the presence of a NPP1 motif (Gijzen and Nürnberger 2006).

Expression analysis of the NPP1 family of *P. cinnamomi* within a specific pathosystem may clarify the confusion regarding the trophic classification of *P. cinnamomi*. If *P. cinnamomi* does indeed behave like a hemi-biotroph, phenotypic data together with the temporal

regulation of NPP1 transcripts may provide the time frame in which the switch to necrotrophy occurs and whether the phases alternate as suggested by Shearer and Crane (2012).

Another motif based method (the third approach applied in this study to identify pathogenicity genes) was employed to define the secretome of the *P. cinnamomi* cyst and germinating cyst dataset (110 unigenes). Many pathogenicity proteins are secreted and have specific targets in the apoplast or inside host cells during infection. Accordingly, any secreted protein has the potential to act as a virulence factor. Characterization of secreted proteins with unknown function (as in the case of the 9 unigenes identified in this study) can potentially reveal novel pathogenicity factors. The amount of secreted proteins identified in the *P. cinnamomi* dataset is likely an underestimation as many unigenes did not represent the N-terminal region of proteins and could not be assessed for the presence of a signal peptide.

The expression pattern of seven pathogenicity genes was evaluated across the *in vitro* developmental stages of *P. cinnamomi*. In theory genes are upregulated directly prior to the stage where their functional products are required (Judelson et al. 2008). This implies a functional role for the RXLR-, elicit and adhesion-like proteins (upregulated in cysts and germinating cysts) in early infection and the necrosis-inducing *Phytophthora* protein 1 (NPP1), polygalactorunase and cellulose binding elicitin lectin (CBEL) protein in cysts and germinating cysts (induced in zoospores). The expression patterns observed were consistent with previous reports in the literature for each transcript. Although, much can be inferred from the biological processes active in a sample by expression analysis, all transcripts are subject to post-transcriptional regulation (e.g. miRNA, siRNA). Therefore, transcriptional data should be interpreted with caution.

The ability of RNA-seq analysis to accurately quantify transcript level enables the identification of differentially expressed transcripts between biological samples (Strickler et al. 2012). Novel pathogenicity factors can be identified based on significantly higher transcript abundance in infection structures in relation to non-infection structures. Not only does this approach allow novel transcript identification (Strickler et al. 2012), it also enables the study of large scale transcriptional changes between pathogen life stages and during *in planta* infection (Ye et al. 2011; Chen et al. 2013). The cyst and germinating cyst library of *P. cinnamomi* generated in this study was successfully utilized for pathogenicity gene identification, but did not provide quantitative data to prioritize pathogenicity transcripts, nor did the design include a reference library to compare to. This dataset can be utilized for novel transcript identification and the investigation of alternative spliced transcripts in the future. Ultimately, expression analysis of pathogen genes during host infection provides the

most relevant information as the pathogen responds to the host environment and defence system. The success of *in planta* expression analysis of pathogen genes relies on the sequencing depth (allowing detection of low abundance transcripts) and the ability to differentiate between pathogen- and host derived transcripts. The recent release of the *P. cinnamomi* genome will enable transcriptional analysis of specific *P. cinnamomi*-host interactions in the future.

This project generated the first transcriptomic data available for cysts and germinating cysts of *P. cinnamomi*. The identification of various pathogenicity genes, including 46 RXLR motif containing unigenes is a significant contribution to our current knowledge of *P. cinnamomi* pathogenicity. Functional characterization of candidate pathogenicity genes proposed in this study will help to gain a better understanding of the mechanisms employed by *P. cinnamomi* to manipulate host physiology and will aid in identifying pathogen molecules that can serve as targets for disease control. The available sequence data can further be exploited to predict the likely effectiveness of certain pesticides on *P. cinnamomi*, based on the presence or absence of genes involved in specific metabolic pathways, as well as indicate the mode of action of chemicals on *P. cinnamomi* in subsequent transcription experiments. Ultimately, scientists want to exploit knowledge of plant-pathogen interaction to develop more effective and novel control strategies to combat pathogens.

References

- Akinsanmi OA & Drenth A (2013) Phosphite and metalaxyl rejuvenate macadamia trees in decline caused by *Phytophthora cinnamomi*. *Crop Protection* **53**:29-36.
- Armstrong MR, Whisson SC, Pritchard L, Bos JIB, Venter E, Avrova AO, Rehmany AP, Böhme U, Brooks K, Cherevach I, Hamlin N, White B, Fraser A, Lord A, Quail MA, Churcher C, Hall N, Berriman M, Huang S, Kamoun S, Beynon JL & Birch PRJ (2005) An ancestral oomycete locus contains late blight avirulence gene *Avr3a*, encoding a protein that is recognized in the host cytoplasm. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **102**:7766-7771.
- Birch PRJ, Rehmany AP, Pritchard L, Kamoun S & Beynon JL (2006) Trafficking arms: Oomycete effectors enter host plant cells. *Trends in Microbiology* **14:**8-11.
- Bos JIB, Armstrong MR, Gilroy EM, Boevink PC, Hein I, Taylor RM, Zhendong T, Engelhardt S, Vetukuri RR, Harrower B, Dixelius C, Bryan G, Sadanandom A, Whisson SC, Kamoun S & Birch PRJ (2010) *Phytophthora infestans* effector AVR3a is essential for virulence and manipulates plant immunity by stabilizing host E3 ligase CMPG1. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **107**:9909-9914.
- Bos JIB, Kanneganti TD, Young C, Cakir C, Huitema E, Win J, Armstrong MR, Birch PRJ & Kamoun S (2006) The C-terminal half of *Phytophthora infestans* RXLR effector AVR3a is sufficient to trigger R3a-mediated hypersensitivity and suppress INF1-induced cell death in *Nicotiana benthamiana*. *Plant Journal* **48**:165-176.
- Chen XR, Xing YP, Li YP, Tong YH & Xu JY (2013) RNA-Seq reveals infection-related gene expression changes in *Phytophthora capsici*. *PLoS ONE* **8**:e74588.
- Darvas J, Toerien J & Milne D (1984) Control of avocado root rot by trunk injection with fosetyl-Al. *Plant Disease* **68**:691-693.
- Dou D, Kale SD, Wang X, Jiang RHY, Bruce NA, Arredondo FD, Zhang X & Tyler BM (2008) RXLR-mediated entry of *Phytophthora sojae* effector Avr1b into soybean cells does not require pathogen-encoded machinery. *The Plant Cell* **20**:1930-1947.
- Eshraghi L, Anderson J, Aryamanesh N, Shearer B, McComb J, Hardy GES & O'Brien PA (2011) Phosphite primed defence responses and enhanced expression of defence genes in *Arabidopsis thaliana* infected with *Phytophthora cinnamomi*. *Plant Pathology* **60**:1086–1095.
- Gijzen M & Nürnberger T (2006) Nep1-like proteins from plant pathogens: Recruitment and diversification of the NPP1 domain across taxa. *Phytochemistry* **67**:1800-1807.
- Götesson A, Marshall JS, Jones DA & Hardham AR (2002) Characterization and evolutionary analysis of a large polygalacturonase gene family in the oomycete plant pathogen *Phytophthora cinnamomi*. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* **15**:907-921.
- Haas BJ, Kamoun S, Zody MC, Jiang RHY, Handsaker RE, Cano LM, Grabherr M, Kodira CD, Raffaele S, Torto-Alalibo T, Bozkurt TO, Ah-Fong AMV, Alvarado L, Anderson VL, Armstrong MR, Avrova A, Baxter L, Beynon J, Boevink PC, Bollmann SR, Bos JIB, Bulone V, Cai G, Cakir C, Carrington JC, Chawner M, Conti L, Costanzo S, Ewan R, Fahlgren N, Fischbach MA, Fugelstad J, Gilroy EM, Gnerre S, Green PJ, Grenville-Briggs LJ, Griffith J, Grünwald NJ, Horn K, Horner NR, Hu C-H, Huitema E, Jeong D-H, Jones AME, Jones JDG, Jones RW, Karlsson EK, Kunjeti SG, Lamour K, Liu Z, Ma L, MacLean D, Chibucos MC, McDonald H, McWalters J, Meijer HJG, Morgan W, Morris PF, Munro CA, O'Neill K, Ospina-Giraldo M, Pinzón A, Pritchard L,

Ramsahoye B, Ren Q, Restrepo S, Roy S, Sadanandom A, Savidor A, Schornack S, Schwartz DC, Schumann UD, Schwessinger B, Seyer L, Sharpe T, Silvar C, Song J, Studholme DJ, Sykes S, Thines M, van de Vondervoort PJI, Phuntumart V, Wawra S, Weide R, Win J, Young C, Zhou S, Fry W, Meyers BC, van West P, Ristaino J, Govers F, Birch PRJ, Whisson SC, Judelson HS & Nusbaum C (2009) Genome sequence and analysis of the Irish potato famine pathogen *Phytophthora infestans*. *Nature* **461**:393-398.

- Jiang RHY, Tripathy S, Govers F & Tyler BM (2008) RXLR effector reservoir in two *Phytophthora* species is dominated by a single rapidly evolving superfamily with more than 700 members. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **105:**4874-4879.
- Judelson HS, Ah-Fong AMV, Aux G, Avrova AO, Bruce C, Cakir C, Da Cunha L, Grenville-Briggs L, Latijnhouwers M, Ligterink W, Meijer HJG, Roberts S, Thurber CS, Whisson SC, Birch PRJ, Govers F, Kamoun S, Van West P & Windass J (2008) Gene expression profiling during asexual development of the late blight pathogen *Phytophthora infestans* reveals a highly dynamic transcriptome. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* **21**:433-447.
- Laskowski M & Kato I (1980) Protein inhibitors of proteinases. *Annual Review of Biochemistry* **49:**593-626.
- Li Y, Huang F, Lu Y, Shi Y, Zhang M, Fan J & Wang W (2013) Mechanism of plant-microbe interaction and its utilization in disease-resistance breeding for modern agriculture. *Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology* **83**:51-58.
- Mbaka JN. (2011) The ecology, distribution and population structure of *Phytophthora cinnamomi* associated with root rots and trunk cankers of macadamia in Kenya. Juja, Kenya, Jomo Kenyatta University of Agriculture and Technology, PhD Thesis.
- Shearer BL & Crane CE (2012) *Phytophthora cinnamomi* visible necrotic lesion-colonisation relationships in native flora. *Australasian Plant Pathology* **41**:633-644.
- Shearer BL & Fairman RG (2007) A stem injection of phosphite protects *Banksia* species and *Eucalyptus marginata* from *Phytophthora cinnamomi* for at least four years. *Australasian Plant Pathology* **36**:78–86.
- Stam R, Jupe J, Howden AJM, Morris JA, Boevink PC, Hedley PE & Huitema E (2013) Identification and characterisation CRN effectors in *Phytophthora capsici* shows modularity and functional diversity. *PLoS ONE* **8**:e59517.
- Strickler SR, Bombarely A & Mueller LA (2012) Designing a transcriptome next-generation sequencing project for a nonmodel plant species. *American Journal of Botany* **99:**257-266.
- Win J, Morgan W, Bos J, Krasileva KV, Cano LM, Chaparro-Garcia A, Ammar R, Staskawicz BJ & Kamoun S (2007) Adaptive evolution has targeted the C-terminal domain of the RXLR effectors of plant pathogenic oomycetes. *Plant Signaling & Behavior* 3:251-253.
- Ye W, Wang X, Tao K, Lu Y, Dai T, Dong S, Dou D, Gijzen M & Wang Y (2011) Digital gene expression profiling of the *Phytophthora sojae* transcriptome. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* **24:**1530-1539.